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consolidated financial statements

COMPANY DEFINITION
Throughout the annual report, Canadian Natural Resources
Limited is referred to as “us”, “we”, “our”, “Canadian Natural”,
or the “Company”.

CURRENCY
All amounts are reported in Canadian currency unless otherwise stated.

ABBREVIATIONS

AECO ... Albertanatural gas reference location .
LA ... Annualinformation Form e
API Specific gravity measured in degrees on the

..American Petroleum Institute scale

" billion cubic feet
billion cubic feet per day
uivalent

" barrels of oil equivalent per day v
Extra heavy crude oil, generally more dense
_than 14° AP

"~ Compound Annual Growth Rate
_Capitalexpense
M

“Floating Production, St
__Greenhouse Gas

Horizon Oil Sands Project
i

':'WHorlzon Project

~thousand barrels
~thousand barrels per day
thousand barrels

" synthetic light crude oil
US Securities and Exchange

. Toronto Stock Exchange ...
. UnitedKingdom o
__United States

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS
Certain information regarding the Company contained herein may
constitute forward-looking statements under applicable securities
laws. Such statements are subject to known or unknown risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from
those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.
Please refer to page 40 for the complete special note regarding
forward-looking statements.

All production and sales statistics represent Canadian Natural’s
working interest amounts before deduction of royalties unless
stated otherwise. Where volumes are reported in barrels of oil
equivalent (“boe”), natural gas is converted to oil at six thousand
cubic feet per barrel. This conversion may be misleading, particularly
when used in isolation, since the 6 mcf:1 bbl ratio is based on an
energy equivalency at the burner tip and does not represent the
value equivalency at the well head. Methodologies for determining
annual reserves are described on pages 34 to 39. This report also
includes references to financial measures commonly used in the
oil and gas industry that are not defined by Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (" GAAP”). The Company uses these measures
to evaluate its performance, however they should not be considered
an alternative to or more meaningful than net earnings.

Canadian Natural may disclose contingent resources as additional
information. These are internal estimates that utilize the definition
within section 5 of the Canadian Oil & Gas Evaluation Handbook
as prescribed under NI 51-101. Contingent resources are defined
as those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date,
to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations using
established technology or technology under development, but
which are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable
due to one or more contingencies. Additionally engineering and
geotechnical appraisal through drilling, testing and/or production
is required before the contingent resources can be classified as
reserves. There is no certainty that any portion of the resources will
be commercially viable to produce.

METRIC CONVERSION CHART

To convert To Multiply by
. barrels _..Cubicmetres 0159
._”_‘thousand cublc feet ~ cubicmetres 28
feet o metres
miles v,k"OmeUes e OYF
tonnes tons
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Our objective and strategy have remained consistent over the last

twenty years and are as relevant today as they were in the past.

”?%w breadth of our asset base provides the Company with the
bility to effectively allocate capital to maximize returns.

ot
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The Company’s value creation over the last twenty years
was achieved by following some basic principles as

articulated below. Maintaining discipline is difficult

but

Canadian Natural has proven that it is possible.

—

v

o

Drive to be the low cost producer - this is an important element to the strategy. We strive to
be the lowest cost producer in every product and basin in which we operate. Over the long run we
believe that only the lowest cost producers will continue to generate economic returns throughout
the rest will be forced to divest their assets to the stronger competitors. We are a very
strong competitor.

the cycle -

Focus on exploitation ~ we view this as a low-risk approach to value creation as emphasis is
placed on maximizing the value of already discovered resource versus trying to find the next major
pool. We use proven new technologies, our own discoveries, and new industry findings to effectively
“lead the followers”. This ever-increasing industry knowledge is maximized across our large developed
and undeveloped land holdings, creating even more upside potential.

Augment exploitation with strategic acquisitions - the combination of our lower cost
profile and our extensive exploitation-based focused on the basins we operate, make us a natural
consolidator of properties throughout our core regions. Often counter-cyclical, our major acquisitions
have made us a stronger and more diverse company. Most of these major acquisitions were comprised

of a strong footing in our core regions but also provided entry into a new strategic basin

Maintain flexibility and control allocation of capital ~ we strive to operate and own
100% of our assets. This allows us to start up or shut down drilling programs on very short notice —
facifitating an ever-vigilant weekly allocation of capital by the Management Committee. Simutftaneously,
when practical we avoid committir g ourselves into long term drilling or supply contracts.

Strive for balance - we believe that balance between natural gas, heavy crude oil and light crude
oil provide some diversification from commodity price risk while also faci ilitating more options with
which to aflocate capital to the highest return projects. Balance between short, medium and long

term projects also provides more visibility to future growth initiatives.

Maintain financial strength - maintaining a strong balance sheet and access to caprital markets

is integral to delivering our plan. We target strong investment grade debt ratings and manage our
liquidity as a core asset - particularly important in these current times. We augment these plans with
a disciplined hedge program which strives to provide cash flow certainty in the short term, such that

the capital plans made by the Company are prudently financeable.
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our metrics

The success of our corporate business strategies
are measured by four metrics that demonstrate

consistent performance.

Daily production per 10,000 shares

{boe/d)

Gross reserves per share -

{boe}

o

v
s

Mining SCO B Crude ¢

98 9% 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08

Conventional pretax
net asset value per share =

GAAP measure th

%8 s 00 01 02 04 05 08 07 08

)
¥
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erformance

2008

FINANCIAL (3 millions, éxcept per share data)

““““““ Revenue;-before royalties o 16,173 |
. Net earnings Sl 8 4.985 |5
.. Percommon share - basicend dilvted 3 922 | %
- Adjusted nef earnings from operations 0§ 3492 | §
. -Per common share — basic and diluted $ 6.46 $
- Cashiflow from operations & o $ 6,963 | §
.. Percommon share —basicand difuted: - o 0 g 12.89 $
- Capitel expenditures, net of dispositions = 3 7,451 | 3§
Long-term debt $ 13,016 |- %
Shareholders’ equity $ 18,374 $

OPERATING

_ Daily production, before royalties

Crude oit and NGLs (mbbi
‘North America

244

,,,,,,,,,,,,, North Sea 45 56

Offshore West:Africa 27 28

- 316 331
Natural gas mcrig) y o
vvvvvvvvvvv ~North America 1,472 1643 S e

 NorthSes o 10 13

Otfshore West Africa = 13 12

o : . 1,495 1,668

Barrels of oil eguivalent (mboerd)

565

609

8

1

A

in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MDRA);

2

e

Includes the current portion of long-term debt. N

Adjusted net earnings from operationsis anon-GAAR meastre that the Company utilizes to evalua

Cash flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure that the Company considers key.as it demonstrates the Companys ability to fu
debt. The derivation of this measure is discussed i the MDRA

teitsperformance. The derivation of this measure i discussed

nd capital teinvestment and repay

Cash flow from operations

Total production, before royalties
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Drilling activity

North America 1,060 1,350
4 8
Offshore West Africa 3 4 4
990 1,068 1,363
Core undeveloped landholdings (thousands of net acres)
North America 11,603 12,160 12,785
North Sea 287 299
Offshore West Africa 192 192 192
12,053 12,639 13,276

Company gross proved reserves @ (vefore royalties)
Conventional crude oil and NGLS (mmbbl)

...... North Sea .
Offshore West Africa 157 148 145
1,470 1,543 1,487
Conventional natural gas (e e
North America e 8077 4,275 4,507
North Sea 81 37
Offshore West Africa 107 79 69
4,251 4,435 4,613
Barrels of oil equivalent (mmboe) 2,178 2,282 2,256
Company net proved reserves  (fter royalties)
Conventional crude oil and NGLs (mmbbl)
North America 920 887
NorthSea 310 299
Offshore West Africa 128 130
1,358 1.316
Conventional NAMUMAL GAS (Bch e e et
North America 3527 3705
North Sea 81 37
Offshore West Africa 94 64 56
3,684 3,666 3,798
Barrels of oil equivalent (mmboe) 1,960 1,969 1,949
Net oil sands proved mineable reserves ? (fter royalties)
Synthetic crude oil @ mmbbl) 1,946 1,761 1,596

(1) Excludes net stratigraphic test and service wells.
(2) Based on constant prices and costs.
(3) SCO reserves are based upon upgrading of the bitumen volumes using technologies implemented at the Horizon Project.

Company gross conventional proved reserves Closing TSX share price
(before royalties ™, mmboe) (CY/share, adjusted for 2004 and 2005 share splits)
08 R 2,178 08 . 48.75
07 R 0,232 07 TR 72 58
06 R, 0,056 06 I 62 15
05 R 1,304 05 R 57 63
04 I 1,674 04 TR 05 .63

CANADIAN NATURAL 5



“Our team continually targets cost effective alternatives to develop

our portfolio of projects and to celiver our defined growth plan,

; y Allan P. Markin
thereby creating value for sharehoiders. CHARMAN

OF THE BOARD

CANADIAN NATURAL 2008 ANNUAL REPORT

letter to shareholders

Canadian Natural’s goal is to run our business and run it well, executing on our projects and
creating value for our shareholders. That is what we have focused on for the past 20 years, and it
is what we continue to focus on.

Our world-class asset base is strong and balanced. We have crude oil and natural gas conventional
operations in domestic and international basins, along with North America’s most recent oil sands
mining operation. We have the depth of knowledge and experience, with the right people in the
right place at the right time. Our defined growth plan allows us to create value for our shareholders,
even in uncertain economic times.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
2008 was a year characterized by commodity price volatility and uncertainty within the capital markets. During the first half of 2008,
crude oil prices reached record levels. By the second half of the year, crude oil pricing faced a massive correction as demand
declined worldwide due to the global recession. The year saw a historically narrower heavy crude oil differential, which led to
record high netbacks in heavy crude oil - an area where we hold a substantial position in.

Natural gas prices remained relatively weak much of the year, reflecting increased production from the US, along with very high
storage levels in both the US and Canada. These volumes were offset slightly by a decline in Canadian natural gas production.

Drilling and service cost pressure did not respond in kind with the weaker relative natural gas pricing and we continued to
experience price inflation in the natural gas drilling services sector essentially facing a low price, high cost environment. We also
experienced inflationary pressures in the crude oil drilling services sector but these were partially offset — at least for awhile — by
strong crude oil pricing.

STRATEGY - OUR APPROACH TO THE BUSINESS
Each phase of the business cycle presents its own unique challenges and rewards. The Company strives to capture opportunity
from each one and has been able to grow into a stronger, more robust company as a result. Canadian Natural has a history of value
creation as seen through our commitment to growing the four metrics to which we steward — production per share, conventional
reserves per share, cash flow per share and conventional pre-tax net asset value per share.

Our approach to our business does not change based on commaodity prices or business cycle. It is proven and effective, and serves as
a testament to the strength and depth of the Company. Our fundamental approach to business is to maximize value through efficient
capital allocation. This is key to our success. Further, we remain balanced in all facets of our business. We balance our product mix
with projects in both natural gas and crude oil while balancing project time horizons with near, mid and long-term projects. We
achieve production growth through our defined growth strategy, incorporating exploitation and exploration, along with strategic
acquisitions. We dominate our core areas through area knowledge, infrastructure and land base, ultimately assisting in cost control.
For the vast majority of our assets we own and operate nearly 100% and as such have control over capital allocation.

This year more than ever, our strategy was put to the test and in a challenging and uncertain business environment, it has served
us well. This tells us we are taking the right approach.

6 CANADIAN NATURAL



“The economic environment for our Company has changed,
however, our flexible approach to capital allocation allows us to
N.Murray Edwards take advantage of opportunities that arise, regardless of the

VICE-CHAIRMAN : "
OF THE BOARD business cycle.

CANADIAN NATURAL 2008 ANNUAL REPORT

NORTH AMERICA CRUDE OIL
Throughout the year we saw great success in North America crude oil, particularly in our heavy crude oil assets. We remain a
leading producer of crude oil and NGLs with extensive positions in primary heavy and thermal crude oil production in western
Canada and are an industry leader in maximizing netbacks in these areas. We are a low cost producer and are in an enviable
position to continue to grow production through our thermal heavy crude oil development plan. We take a measured and
methodical approach in the development of these assets and in doing so, we are able to remain cost focused and disciplined in our
execution. The economics of this play type remain one of the most attractive in the Company even at lower commodity prices.

As part of our heavy crude oil development plan, the Primrose East expansion was completed in 2008, ahead of schedule and on
budget. This 100% owned project added an incremental 40,000 bbl/d of thermal crude oil production capacity to the Company.
The robust economics for heavy crude oil carries over into our Pelican Lake assets. The conversion from water flood to polymer flood
continued throughout the year as we see enhanced crude oil recovery as the optimal solution for the majority of the reservoir.

Our heavy crude oil production in Western Canada is balanced with light crude oil. We have that expertise and focus on optimizing
our light crude oil field operations and water flood technigues. We look to other enhanced oil recovery processes for light crude
oil, including CO, flooding, polymer flooding and alkaline surfactant flooding. All of these technologies look promising and, we
will continue to work to develop these commercial operations.

NORTH AMERICA NATURAL GAS
Canadian Natural holds the largest undeveloped land base in Western Canada with exposure to conventional, unconventional,
resource and exploration play types. We are Canada’s second largest producer of natural gas with a vast and strategic infrastructure
that we leverage to achieve cost control.

Our natural gas strategy is based on allocating capital between low-risk conventional assets and development of new natural gas
resources. Conventional exploitation provides low-risk, solid returns and reliable cash flow, and continues to be an important part
of our balanced portfolio. However, a large portion of our future resource additions will be sourced from key unconventional
projects in our Deep Basin area, along with the Montney and Muskwa shale plays. We are well positioned for short, mid and long-
term value growth.

The economics of natural gas continued to be challenging throughout the year, and as near term returns for heavy crude oil
projects remain more attractive than natural gas, we will continue to decrease our natural gas drilling program going forward. We
will increase production in natural gas when we see economic returns. Our strategy for 2009 is to set ourselves up for the future,
countering land expiries and competitive drainage issues with strategic drilling and a focus on reducing costs within the Western
Canadian Sedimentary Basin. We have the flexibility to allocate capital and the assets to either slow down or accelerate development,
depending on commodity pricing and cost structure.

CANADIAN NATURAL 7



“Our financial discipline, commitment to a strong balance sheet,

and high capacity to internally generate cash flows provide us the

. " John G. Langille
means to grow our company in the long term. VICE-CHARMAN

OF THE BOARD

CANADIAN NATURAL 2008 ANNUAL REPORT

INTERNATIONAL

Our international assets provide a reliable, low-risk source for continued light crude oil production. We continue to capitalize on
our core competency of mature basin exploitation in the North Sea and Offshore West Africa provides development opportunities
with significant exploration upside. We capitalize on our relationships that we have developed with stakeholders over the past few
years and leverage our technical and operational expertise from the North Sea to our basins in Offshore Cote d’lvoire and
Offshore Gabon.

In the North Sea, we operate 90% of our assets with an average working interest of over 80%. We have expertise in managing
aging infrastructure and mature basin exploitation necessary to maximize long-term value creation. We leverage our technical
teams in Offshore West Africa where we operate 100% of our assets and have a number of projects under development. In
Offshore Cote d’Ivoire at Baobab, we have returned to the field for a one year drilling window to boost production following well
failures in 2006. We now have three wells re-drilled with a fourth well underway. At Espoir, we are currently upgrading our FPSO
and will continue with an infill drilling program. In Offshore Gabon at Olowi, we are targeting to deliver first crude oil in early 2009
and will continue to drill the remaining wells to reach targeted production.

HORIZON PROJECT - OIL SANDS MINING

8

The Horizon Project is a world-class asset providing cash flow for years to come. Phase 1 of the Horizon Project includes bitumen
mining and an integrated upgrader. Construction on Phase 1 was completed in early 2009 with first production of synthetic crude
oil achieved on February 28, 2009 - a historic milestone for Canadian Natural. We faced numerous challenges and inflationary
pressures during the planning, construction and commissioning stages of this project. The total construction costs for Phase 1 were
approximately $9.7 billion, or $88,182 per flowing barrel of capacity which comes in well below the industry average for current and
future projects with similar facilities. First synthetic crude oil was achieved approximately five months beyond the initial target we set
upon project sanctioning in 2005. Although the cost and schedule experienced some over run, the first phase of the Horizon Project
was built in an extremely volatile and inflationary business environment and in that respect, it is a job well done.

As first crude oil has been achieved, our focus now is on delivering full production capacity for Phase 1 and leveraging our expertise
and infrastructure to future expansions. These expansions have been broken out into four tranches or smaller projects that will
ultimately lead to enhanced project and cost control. Tranche 1 of the expansion was completed during 2007. Future tranches of
the expansion are currently being re-profiled, taking project control to the next level. We will not build future expansions in a high
cost environment for a moderate price world.

CANADIAN NATURAL



“The cornerstone of Canadian Natural's successful strategy is
ensuring we are a low-cost producer. This cost advantage, coupled
Steve W. Laut with our diverse portfolio of assets and talented workforce,

PRESIDENT & ” . .,
cHiEr operaTING OFricR  faCilitates strong economic returns for shareholders.

L CANADIAN NATURAL 2008 ANNUAL REPORT

FINANCIAL STRENGTH
As with the rest of our operations, our financial objectives remain the same regardless of business environment — to maintain a
strong balance sheet, maintain strong credit ratings, finance operations with a flexible capital structure, and create value. We
remain committed to financial discipline and a flexible capital allocation process, developing only those projects with the highest
returns. This process leads to a large inventory of high quality opportunities.

Commodity price volatility is a part of the resource industry and as such we protect our cash flow from operations with a risk
management program that includes proactively managed commodity price hedging. As a result, we remain flexible regardless of
the business cycle and do not compromise our business strategies. Our approach allows us to manage the conditions inherent to
the exploration and production business — volatility of commaodity prices, demands of the capital markets, ability to capitalize on
our asset base and acquisition opportunities.

We are able to generate free cash flow from every one of our business segments and manage our cash flow in a number of ways. A
certain amount is required to maintain property and production growth. We focus on managing debt levels to our targets and returns
to our shareholders. And lastly, we continue to develop our significant and diverse asset base providing for long-term growth.

We increased our dividend in 2008, the ninth consecutive year. This recognizes the stability of our cash flow and ensures a cash return to
our shareholders.

THE CANADIAN NATURAL ADVANTAGE
We control the allocation of our capital and remain disciplined. Our management philosophy is strong and balanced, just as the
rest of our business. Going forward, we will capture opportunities and create value through this challenging part of the business
cycle. We have done it in the past and we will do it again.

We are in a position that allows us to be flexible due to our extensive land base and inventory of prospects in both crude oil and
natural gas. Our strategy allows us to prepare for the future. As we have said time and again, all assets end up in the hands of the
low-cost producer and in tough economic times, the low-cost producer has the advantage. It is no coincidence that Canadian
Natural is a low-cost producer. We have that advantage.

s 2= G

Allan P. Markin N. Murray Edwards John G. Langille Steve W. Laut

CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN PRESIDENT &
OF THE BOARD OF THE BOARD OF THE BOARD CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

CANADIAN NATURAL 9
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our team advantage

Lonnie Abadier, Walday Abeda, Darren Acheson, Belinda Adams, Janine Adams, Mike Adams, Debra Addinall, Adetokunbo Adebayo, Yemisi Adeba?lo, Richald Adzabe Ella, James Agate, Gerardo Aguirre, Miguel Aguirre, Sarshar Ahmad, Nadia Ahmed, Pervez Ahmed,
Salman Ahmed, Sarah Aho, Dong Ai, Garrisen Ailsby, Travis Ailsby, Kristy Aitken, Sina Akinsanﬁa, Mounir Al Halabi, Joseph Albano, Suhaib AlDhabbi, Bruce der, Gregory Alexand Joseﬂh Alexander, Vincent Alexander, Daniel Alfred, Elena Algazina,
Mohieddin Alghazali, Arshad Ali, Catriona Alfan, David Allan, John Allan, Geoff Allen, Jill Allen, John Allen, Trent Allen, Simon Allerton, Simon Allerton, Devin 5llibnne, Karen Almadi, Jocetyn Alonso, Khaled Alsougi, Arturo Alvarez, Diane Amalaman, Gregovy Amalia,

Joann Aman, Traore Amara, Jonah Amedu, Sharareh Ameripour, Donald Ames, Sylvia Anaka, Jan Andersen, Troy And , Allan And , Jeremy And , Kelvin And , Kristin And . Leonard And , Linsey A , Perri
Anderson, Richard Anderson, Sarah And Steve Anderson, Peter Andrekson, Janet Andrew, Bob Andrews, Todd Andrews, Evan Angel, Carlo Angeﬁes, Caralyn Angus, Shehzad Anjum, Jarid Annis, Stuart Annis, Greg Anstey, Helen Antle, Kathy Antonishyn, Shelley
Rob A g, Colin Amold, Keith Amold, Monique Arsenaut, Pauf Arsenault, Bala

Antanuk, Brandon April, Richard April, Luc Arbour, John Argan, Humberto Arias, Juan Arizaleta, James Arkley, Anthony g, Darryl g, Randall , Rab

Arunachalam, Arthur Ashley, Randy Aslin, Jim Asmus, Steven Aspden, Jacqueline Asso, Victoire Assohou-Ooattara, Francknn Assoko-Mve, Andrew Astalos, Magu Atheba, Iohn Atkinson, Edwin Au, Gordon Au, Jason Auch, Bernard Auger, Richard Augustyn, Carlos
Aular, Reinalda Aular, Ryan Austin, Maria F Avila, Farooq Azam, Krishnaswamy Babu, Kevin Babuik, Adrian Baciulica, Michael Baddeley, Mary Ann Baes, Bal a‘{( Baghban, Alex Bagnall, Brian Bahlieda, Dave Baier, Janice Baik, Michael Baik, Dwayne Bailer, Rod
Bailer Brandon Bailey, Christopher Bailey, Judy Bailey, Kimberley Bailey, Robert Bain, Leon Bakaas, Shane Baker, Sharon Bakes, Thomas Balakas, Reginald Baldock, Charity Baldwin, Christopher Baldwin, Mark Baldwin, Robert Baldwin, Vaughn Baldwin, Irineo
Balicanta, Joel Batkam, Darin Balkwill, Michael Ball, Gary Ballas, Ronnie Ballas, Sheldon Ballas, Brenda Balog, Corrie Balogh, Ladji Bamba, Mamadou Bamba, Mike Bamber, Neville Banak, Saiyed Banamia, Darwin Banash, Junet Banawa, Mark Bancroft, Bob
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Krankowsky, Trevor Kratz, Bryan Krause, Gary Krause, Trevor Krause, Jessica Krawetz, Justin Krebs, Todd M Kreics, Dee Jay Krein, Jeffrey Kreiser, Murray Kreiser, Kari Kremer, Daniel Krentz, Blayne Kress, Ken Krewulak, Connie Kriaski, Anand Krishnamoorthy, Heather
Krislock, Linda Kroeker, Ryan Kroeker, Peter Krol, Vanja Krtolica, George Kucy, Warren Kuefler, Randall Kuka, Chad Kully, Bharat Kumar, Sudip Kumar, Vikas Kumar, Jeff Kuntz, Tanya Kuntz, Barry Kunza, Gregory Kurek, Mahendi-Ali Kureshi, Kelly Kursteiner, Frank
Kurucz, Brian Kutash, Steve Kuzmak, Corinne Kwan, Keith Kwan, Russ Kwan, Kelly Kwiatkowski, Roger Kwiatkowski, Angele Kwon, John Kwon, Karen Kyffin, Bob Kyllo, Philippa LaBossiere, Robert Laboucane, Stacey LaBoucane, Stanley LaBrash, Gernot Lackner,
Liberty Lacuna, Jocelan Ladner, Phillip Laflair, Levi Lafrance, Ronald Lafrance, Leon Lafreniere, Ashok Babu Laguduva, Dilip Laha, Cassandra Lai, Philip Lai, Theresa Lai, Ronald Laing, David Lainof, Munira Lalji, Elaine Lam, Raymon Lam, Sam Lam, Kurtis Lamb,
Terrj Lamb, Dee Lambert, Dino Lambert, Richard Lameman, Sharon Lamontagne, David Landers, Celeste Landry, Marcel Landry, John Lane, Stephen Lane, Raul Lanfranchi, Renato Lanfranchi, Marc Langford, John Langille, Carolyn Langpap, Tammy Lanktree, Sandra
Lanz, Pamela Lapp, Melvin Lapratt, Gianni Larice, Corey Laracque, Leon LaRose, Justin Larsen, Dave Larsh, Rob Larson, Bengt Larsson, Ronald Lasek, Reno Laseur, Jane LaSha, John Lasocki, William Latchuk, Krista Latunski, Peter Latus, Ira Lau, Michael Laudel,
David Laurenson, Karen Laurin, Steve Laut, Roy Lavallee, Patricia Lavery, Michal Lavi, Bernard Lavaie, Iris Law, loanne Law;, Pearle Law, Darron D Lawrence, Ewen J Lawrence, Fred Lawrence, Lindsey Lawrence, Shareen Lawrence, Gordon Lawson, Martin Lawson,
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world-class assets

Canadian Natural's strong, low-risk asset base includes
natural gas and crude oil properties, highlighted by world-
class oil sands in-situ and mining developments

CREATING VALUE:
Canadian Natu 2l tegy is based on allocating capital to maximize
returns. This ‘hibved through effective execution by being proactive

andrecogniz ﬂq and capturing opportunities. The Company dominates its
care areas and mal mams high levels of ownership and operatorship for all
of its properties. This allows for cost control, flexibility and efficient
cf{?(f;s:or; making.-We are the drivers of our own destiny

1) HATEGY

Balance is a key part of our approach to business. The Company maintains
balance in its prodict mix, producing both natural gas and crude ofl.
We balance our groject time horizons between near, mid and long-term
: e balance organic growth with growth through

We tocus on longterm value creation through our defined plan for
profitable growth. We have extensive know edgs&: and experience in
mature basin expioitation, utilizing our expertise in all of the basins in
which we op o whether it be the Western Canadian Sedimentary
Basin ("“WCSB"), 1he North Sea or Offshore West Africa.

North America

NORTH AMERICA
2008 net, after royalties i

Production  Proved reserves

{mboe/d} (mmboe)
Crude off and NGLs 208 948
Natural gas 204 587
Boe 412 1,535
Y% of total 85 78

INTERNATIONAL
2008 net, after royalties

Production  Proved reserves 'V

{mboe/d) {mmboe)
Crude oil and NGLs 68 398
Natural gas 4 27
Boe 72 425
% of total 15 22

HORIZON PROJECT MINING
2008 net, after royalties

Proved reserves 'V

{rampbl

Synthetic crude oil @ 1,946

d on constant prices and costs

volumes

Canadian Natural’s North American operations serve as
the foundation fm‘ the Company, with a balanced portfolio
of assets, providing low-risk, sustainable and economic
production.

Canadian Natural has the largest undeveloped land base in the WCSB
large infrastructure position.

and a

B We have e ;:

o&u,e 1o major natura\ qas resource p:&y; inthe WCSB and
balance the |

m We are one of the largest producers of conventional crude oil and NGLs
in Western Canigda, and have 285,000 bbl/d of incremental crude oil
projects to develog from our thermal heavy crude oil asset base.

£

The Horizon Project includes a surface oil sands mining and bituren
extraction plant, complimented by on-site bitumen upgrading and
associated. infrastiicture. The Horizon Project produces high quality
synthetic crude ol
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Allan M. Knight

SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
INTERNATIONAL & CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

Production by region,
net of royalties

@ NORTH AMERICA 85%
@ NORTH SEA 10%
b OFFSHORE WEST AFRICA 5%

North Sea

Canadian Natural’s core competency in the UK

portion of the North Sea is managing existing
infrastructure and extending field life in a

mature basin. A4

i A source of high value, light crude oil with long-term m Generates significant free cash flow providing light crude
developments. oil growth.

m Capitalize on core competency of mature basin exploitation. @ Provides some of the highest returning projects in the

Company.

G




PRODUCTION

As commodity and market prices fluctuate, Canadian Natural's approach to business remains consistent. The strength of our strategy
was demonstrated throughout 2008, as a volatile and uncertain business environment put the industry to the test. We continue to
maintain balance within our portfolio of assets, project time horizons and production growth. We take a cautious approach in
developing our assets and maintain large project inventories in both natural gas and crude oil. As a result, we have the ability to high
grade projects, to develop and produce those assets that yield the highest returns. Canadian Natural allocates capital to maximize
returns amongst the commodities we produce (i.e. natural gas, light crude oil, Pelican Lake crude oil, primary heavy crude oil,
thermal crude oil, and synthetic crude oil ("SCO") from oif sands mining). Time and resources are allocated towards those projects
that give the greatest economic return. Canadian Natural has a proven track record based on low-risk, exploitation based productior:.
Most importantly, we control our costs through area knowledge and domination of our core areas.

During 2008, production before royalties was 565 mboe/d, a slight decline from 2007 levels of 609 mboe/d. The decline in
production resulted from Canadian Natural’s strategic decision to reduce spending on natural gas drilling. Natural gas productior,
before royalties, for the year averaged 1,495 mmcf/d, down 10% from 2007. Crude oil volumes for 2008 were down averaging
315,667 bbi/d for the year, a decrease of 5%. The decrease in crude oil was a result of natural declines in primary crude oil drilling,
strategically reduced activity in the North Sea, and the nature of the steaming cycle in thermal crude oil operations.

STRATEGIC LAND BASE

Canadian Natural has the largest conventional undeveloped land base in the WCSB, with undeveloped net acreage of 11.5 million
acres. The strength and depth of Canadian Natural’s land base is a result of continued land purchases and utilizes strategic
acquisitions. Our land base affords significant opportunities to control operating costs, along with finding and on-stream costs. The
majority of the Compary's land base is positioned to utilize existing owned and operated infrastructure and also strategically
positions Canadian Natural to maximize the benefit of new play types developed by ourselves and industry.

The infrastructure associated with our land base also provides a competitive advantage in terms of lowering marginal operating
and development cosis for newly drilled or acquired properties. This dominance can create acquisition opportunities as we control
access to strategic infrastructure and maintain a low-cost regime.,

2008 2007

Production Mix Production Mix
(before ties) mboe/d Y% mboe/d o
Natural gas 278 45
North America light/mediurn crude oil and NGLs. 57 9
Pelican Lake crude oil 34 6
Primé;’y heavy <::ruvdve oil 92 15
Thermal heavy crude oil 64 11
North Sea light/medium crude oil 56 )
Offshore West Africa iight/medium crude ol : 28 5
Total 565 100 609 100

Daily natural gas production, before royalties Daily crude oit and NGLs production, before royalties

1,668 07

1,492 06
SRR 1 439 05
s 1,388 04
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Mary-Jo E. Case

VICE-PRESIDENT,
LAND

CORE LANDHOLDINGS

2008 2007
{thousands of acres) Gross Net Net % Gross Net Net %
North America Es s f - o L8E 0 ,

Developed .~ 8524 6640 78 8,255 6424 /8
Undeveloped 14,033 11,603 83 14,782 12,160 82
22,557 18,243 81 23,037 18,584 81
Developed , e t08 o 1A 89 122 .. 88 /2
Undeveloped 314 258 82 356 287 31
422 332 79 178 375 78

Offshore West Africa ‘
Developed i A 57
Undeveloped 247 192 78
254 196 77

Total e R L o .
Developed o B39 BB I8 8,384 6,516 /8
Undeveloped 14,594 12,053 &3 15,385 12,639 82
23,233 18,771 81 23,769 19,155 81

GEO-SCIENCE STRATEGY

The integration of seismic interpretation, geology, and innovative engineering drives our successful annual drilling program and our
ongoing addition of new high quality locations to our conventional and unconventional inventory. We believe that a multi-
disciplined focus on geology, geophysics and reservoir engineering reduces exploration risk while enhancing capital efficiency,
ultimately leading to improved full cycle economics. In total, we invested $55 million during 2008 to acquire new seismic and to
purchase and reprocess existing seismic data. In total, 1,113 kilometers of conventional 2D seismic data and 200 square kilometers
of 3D seismic data were acquired. Additionally, 4,970 kilometers of conventional 2D seismic data and 1,027 square kilometers
of 3D seismic data were purchased. We continue to acquire this data under stringent environmental controls and in a cost
effective manner.

ACTIVITY BY CORE REGION

’ Net Ut‘\de\/elorﬁ@d Land Drilling Activity
- lthousands of niet scres) (net wells)
2008 2007 2008 2007
North America conventional b .
Northeast British Columbia . e, 27 61
Northwest Alberta ; oo otss2 82 126
Northern Plains ... 8452 643 636
southern Plains . 8 o 12 169
Southeast Saskatchewan . w0 2t 58 :
Thermal in-situ oil sands 498 483 99 152
11,488 12,045 | 1,021 1,212
Horizon Oil Sands Project s = @ % %
Northsea I 4 7
Offshore West Africa 192 192 4 5
12,053 12639 1,121 1,322
AN 15




Douglas A. Prol
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER &
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
FINANCE

Randall S. Davis
VICE-PRESIDENT,
FINANCE & ACCOUNTING

DRILLING ACTIVITY AND STRATEGY

WELLS DRILLED

During 2008, Canadian Natural successfully drilled 682 net crude oil wells and 269 net natural gas wells. [t was an uncertain and
volatile year for commodities with the price of crude ail steadily escalating, reaching record highs by mid year, followed by dramatic
weakening concurrent with the global economic downturn and uncertainty surrounding worldwide demand for crude oil. For the
year, natural gas prices remained weaker relative to crude ol prices, As such, capital continued to be allocated towards higher
return crude oil projects, in particular, heavy crude oil. The crude oil focus of Canadian Natural's drilling activity for 2008 was a
reflection of historically narrow heavy crude oil differentials. For the bulk of the year, returns in heavy crude oil exceeded returns
elsewhere in the Company. Counter to the strong heavy crude oil differential, the weaker natural gas price throughout much of
the year led to declines in natural gas production and a decrease in overall natural gas wells drilled.

In 2008, we saw stabilization and in some cases a reduction of industry and service costs within the WCSB. Small decreases in cost
were seen in natural gas drilling in certain geographic areas. The stabilization was in response to industry-wide pressure placed on
the services through several scaled-back drilling programs, weaker commodity prices and uncertainty surrounding Alberta’s new
royalty framework. Looking specifically to natural gas, efficiencies were gained and our natural gas drilling program, although
scaled back, returned results that exceeded expectations — a result of better crews, better equipment and a deep, high quality
prospect inventory. Costs in crude oil related services stabilized but continue to be high.

Going forward, 2009 will be a year where Canadian Natural will benefit from its capital allocation flexibility. Natural gas drilling will
focus on the development of strategic projects and land expiries. The level of crude oil drilling will be reduced but closer to 2008
levels as strong returns are achievable, largely driven by strong heavy crude oil differentials. We will be prudent in our approach to
developing our assets. Flexibility is the key and we are able to ramp up or scale back our programs quickly and efficiently.

08
07
06
05
04

Year ended] December 31 2008 8 2007
Giross Met Success Net Success
Crude oil - North America 5. .
Light crude ol ooms e ey | 63 94%
Pefican Lake crudeoil im0 100% 126 9%
Primary heavy crude oil .. %2 3% 9% 340 94%
Thevrmalv heavy crude oll ' 55 100%
North Sea light crude oil LA 100%
Offshore West Africa light crude oil 2 4 100%
. e82 9 592 96%
Natural gas ~ North America o B
Northeast British Columbia 42 74%
Nor}thvvvvésvt A!berta‘ ‘ 98 88%
Norther:ﬁ Pians o 9% 72%
Southern Plains 147 99%
383 85%
Dry : - 93
Subtotal I 1183 990  98% 1,068 L 91%
S"tfat"igré‘phic test / service wells : 133 131 - 254
Total 1,318 1,121 o 1,322
?

Total North America landholdings Total wells drilled
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2008 proved to be another challenging year for natural gas with relatively flat pricing
while industry costs continued to rise. With higher returns found in crude oll, capital
was allocated away from natural gas towards the crude oil projects. This resulted in
a decline in production volumes of 10% from entry to exit for the year. In light of a
reduced natural gas drilling program, we were able to focus on only the most
economic natural gas wells and as such, executed a high-graded drilling program.
This allows us to control our costs while exceeding performance targets for the year,
Although the year was not easy for natural gas, we made steady, significant progress
in the development of our key growth projects, namely the Deep Basin and shale
plays. We have exposure to several major resource plays in the WCSB and are
delivering our future resource potential in a cost effective manner.

The approach to developing our natural gas assets will continue to be based on
efficient capital allocation in 2009. We will balance the need for capital between
low-risk conventional assets which provide a source of low-risk and reliable cash
flow, with the development of new natural gas resources. As netbacks increase in
natural gas, so too will our drilling activity. The priorities for the year are to advance
our resource projects, to grow our focation inventory and to effectively execute on
our drilling program. Our program includes drilling strategic wells to offset expiries
on lands located in our growth areas.

Our natural gas production is concentrated in five North American core regions: Northwest Alberta, Northeast British Columbia,
the Foothills, the Northern Plains and the Southern Plains. These areas are anchored by our large strategic infrastructure ensuring
cost-effective development of all our key projects. This infrastructure is throughout our land base of over 11 million net acres of
undeveloped land.

NORTHWEST ALBERTA

Canadian Natural has transformed the potential of the deep multi-zone plays of Northwest Alberta into a widespread, repeatable
production project. Again, we enjoy a large undeveloped land base of 1.4 million net acres in conjunction with 26 operated
facilities and an extensive pipeline network that provides significant competitive advantage. We have leveraged our existing land
and infrastructure to expand the initial Cardium play into our current multi-zone play. In Wild River, we have achieved sustainable
cost control by reducing the number of drilling days per well and now routinely commingle up to 12 geological zones, decreasing
the average cost of completion per zone by as much as 50% through limited entry fracs. Most notably, we have increased the
reserves per well while reducing the cost to drill new wells.

{vrere

North America successful natural gas wells drilled North America natural gas production, before royalties
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NORTHEAST BRITISH COLUMBIA

Jeff W. Wilson
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
EXPLORATION

In the Deep Basin our Lower Doig/Montney resource project is similar in many ways to the Wild River area. Again, we are using our
land and infrastructure to reduce the cost of entry into this emerging resource play. Our initial position in the Montney was greatly
enhanced by the timely acquisition of Anadarko Canada in late 2006. We capitalized on our existing land position at that time, giving
us early exposure to the play. This allowed us to acquire strategic sections of prime Montney land at a fraction of today’s cost.

Canadian Natural is the second largest holder of
undeveloped land in British Columbia. Along with lowering
and controlling our costs, this land position combined with
our extensive infrastructure allows for low cost entry into
the overheated market for natural gas resources, most
notably in the Montney shales.

The progress we have made in the Deep Basin Lower Doig/
Montney play continues into our Northeast British Columbia
Montney project at Septimus, which is currently in the pilot
phase. We have gathered geo-data and production test
data and have wells planned for 2009 setting up our
commercial development phase, targeted for 2010. Going
forward, we will maximize our cost effective position by
integrating the data with the right technology, and acquire
new land and assets that fit our existing infrastructure.

The Helmet area of Northeast British Columbia has a play that contains significant thicknesses of natural gas pay in the Muskwa
shale. Based on existing data, our strategic land position and our Jean-Marie infrastructure, we have allocated long-term capital to
the experimental stage of this project. We will further evaluate the Muskwa potential by drilling more wells on our existing land
and production testing through existing facilities to determine if a viable development exists.

FOOTHILLS

The Foothills area has a large inventory of development and exploration ready to drill prospects. We also have the land, infrastructure
and expertise to exploit the large undiscovered remaining resources. We will continue to build our drilling location inventory that
has resulted in 14% average annual growth since 2004.

NORTHERN / SOUTHERN PLAINS

18

In the Plains natural gas area, shallow gas and Horseshoe Canyon coal bed methane (“CBM") provide large, downspaced drilling
progrars that result in low-risk, long life reserves. In addition, ongoing focused exploitation continues to find excellent multizone,
conventional prospects for development drilling and secondary zone recompletions. Overall, natural gas production from CBM and
shallow gas has not been as severely impacted by Alberta’s new royalty structure and will provide opportunities for timely drilling
programs as prices improve,

Canadian Natural continues to access and develop new natural gas opportunities, focus on growing our location inventory and
optimizing all our natural gas production assets throughout 2009.

CARADIAN NA
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north america crude oil and NGLs

in 2008, we saw significant progress in the development of our North American crude oil assets. The completion of the Primrose
East expansion project was a highlight, adding an incremental 40,000 barrels per day of capacity to our thermal operations. We
also saw the continuation of the Pelican Lake enhanced crude oil recovery program. Primary heavy crude oil production, which
serves as the backbone for all our crude oil assets, continued to deliver fow-risk, reliable production.

Going forward we will achieve production growth from crude oil through our defined growth strategy incorporating low-risk
development projects. We target secondary and tertiary recovery of light crude oil, primary, secondary and tertiary recovery of heavy
crude oil and thermal recovery of bitumen. Our crude oil development strategy is based on low-risk exploitation anchored by our
expertise in improved recovery technigues. This allows us to maximize crude oil recovery and value from both mature and new crude
oil pools.

LIGHT CRUDE OIL AND NGLS
We produce light crude oil and NGLs in all of our western Canadian core regions.
The majority of these pools are mature but recovery factors are still modest. The
majority of Canadian Natural's light crude oil pools are produced under waterflood
which provide relatively high ultimate recovery factors with low production
decline rates. All of these projects are low risk but do require rigorous geclogical
and engineering analysis in order to be successful.

Although the basin is mature, new pool development remains part of our light
crude oil strategy. Our extensive undeveloped land base continues to deliver new
pool discoveries through detailed geophysical and geological analysis.

Our light crude oil pools have recovered approximately 30% of the original oil in
place ("OOIP"), leaving a significant resource target. The availability and
development of new technology leads to improving recovery factors, adding
significant leverage to Canadian Natural. We are currently testing various EOR
processes that include water flooding, CO, flooding, polymer flooding and
alkaline surfactant polymer flooding. All of these technologies show promise.

In 2008, Canadian Natural’s light crude oil drilling and development programs
continued to pursue several initiatives within Western Canada. We efficiently
executed on low-risk, infill and step-out drilling in crude oil pools located in the
core regions of Northern and Southern Plains, Northwest Alberta, Northeast
British Columbia and Southeast Saskatchewan. Our strong technical teams
continued with waterflood optimization programs through detailed reservoir
characterization and analysis. EOR made progress with continued testing and
evaluation with the promise of commercial projects in the near future.

Canadian Natural drilled 105 wells in our light crude oil program during 2008.
For 2009, we are planning to drill 20 wells in our light crude oil program across
western Canada.

AR NATURAL 19
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Tim S. McKay

SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
OPERATIONS

PELICAN LAKE CRUDE OIL

Pelican Lake is a premiurm asset within Canadian Natural's portfolio, producing approximately 37,000 barrels per day in 2008. We
have had great success with EOR in this pool, first with waterfloods and now with polymer floods.

Pelican Lake is a large, shallow crude oil pool in our Northern Plains core region estimated to contain 4.5 billion barrels of QOIP on
Canadian Natural land. Although initially developed for primary production, we started converting portions of the field to water
flood in 2004, resulting in a significant production increase which reversed the previous three years of production decline. Building
on that success, we began testing polymer flooding in 2005. This EOR technique has proven to be much more effective than
waterflooding and as such, we are in the midst of converting more of the field to polymer flood.

Polymer is a chemical compound that we mix with water to create an injection that has a viscosity similar to olive oil. The application
of the polymer flood increases oil recovery since the thicker polymer solution reduces fingering or break-through in the reservoir.
Polymer flooding has the potential to increase ultimate recovery to 20% of the OOIP at a relatively low cost; approximately an
incremental $0.40 to $0.60 per barrel in operating cost plus an incremental $6 to $8 per barrel of reserves in capital cost.

During 2008, Canadian Natural drilled 110 wells as part of our Pelican Lake program.
Since converting from primary production to the polymer flood requires us to
re-pressurize the reservoir with the polymer solution, the full response from the
polymer flood is not expected until 2010. Production is expected to peak in 2011 and
plateau for several years at over 50,000 barrels per day.

As in any waterflood, optimizing water handling is key to the process — polymer flooding
is no different. We recycle more than 90% of our produced water, and we have initiated
brackish water usage to mix with the polymer. We have been operating in the area for
more than 10 years and our staff has done a tremendous job adapting to new technology
while minimizing our operating and capital costs.

For 2009, we continue to work on enhancements to the process to optimize our field
operations. We are testing the polymer flood in regions with poor crude oil quality
and continue to optimize the quantity and type of polymer we use. Improvements to
our facilities design have been made and we are now building larger mixing units and
are enhancing our polymer distribution system.

PRIMARY HEAVY CRUDE OIL

Canadian Natural's primary heavy crude oil operations are centered on the Alberta - Saskatchewan border, near the city of
Lioydminster. In 2008 we produced approximately 90,000 barrels per day of heavy crude oil from our extensive and dominant land
base. This dominance allows us to conduct large scale drilling and development programs while minimizing our capital cost
requirements. Costs are further managed through owning and operating centralized treating and sand handling facilities,
maximizing their utilization and using our size to achieve economies of scale. Our infrastructure includes five crude oil processing
facilities and four salt caverns for solids disposal. Ownership of the ECHO sales pipeline allows us to be the only producer capable
of delivering undiluted heavy crude oil into our blending facilities at Hardisty, Alberta. Our infrastructure and size gives us e
significant competitive advantage in this area and our large inventory of drilling prospects leads to greater flexibility enabling us to
react very quickly to changes in commodity prices or changes in capital allocation.

Primary production typically produces between 5% and 15% of the OOIP, leaving a vast unrecovered resource that we feel will

ultimately be exploited. Improving recovery by drilling infill wells in some pools, testing waterfloods in others, and using horizontal
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North America successful crude oil wells drilled North America crude oil and NGLs production,
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wells in specific applications, are a few of the ways we are working towards improving recovery factors. We are also evaluating
several other technologies, such as polymer flooding and solvent injection.

During 2008 we drilled 415 low-risk heavy crude oil wells and recompleted approximately 490 wells to secondary zones. For 2009,
317 heavy crude oil locations are forecast to be drilled and a further 380 wells are targeted to be recompleted.

THERMAL (IN-SITU) HEAVY CRUDE OiL

Canadian Natural believes it holds some of the best oil sands assets in Canada,
providing tremendous value and growth potential. Our thermal assets are located
in two of the major oil sands deposits in Western Canada ~ the Athabasca and the
Cold Lake deposits. Within the Athabasca deposits, the McMurray reservoir is our
primary target and steam assisted gravity drainage (“SAGD") is the recovery
process of choice. SAGD uses two well bores, one for continuous steaming and
the other for continuous production. Within the Athabasca region, the majority
of our assets are in the planning stages. These include Kirby, Grouse, Birch
Mountain, Ipiatik, Gregoire and Leismer. In the Cold Lake deposits, we have our
Primrose and Primrose East operations where we currently produce from the
Clearwater reservoir using the cyclic stearn stimulation (“C5S”) process. CSS uses
asingle well bore to inject and produce steam. This technology has been historically
applied to reservoirs that have barriers to vertical flow. The production peaks and
troughs at Primrose are a reflection of the cyclic steam process — the peaks are
associated with production cycles from newer, less mature wells and the troughs
are associated with production cycles from the more mature areas in the field. In
2008, production from our thermal operations averaged 65,000 bbl/d.

Canadian Natural’s multi-year thermal development program continued in 2008
with the completion of construction and commencement of production at the
Primrose East expansion. This 40,000 bbl/d project achieved first production in
Q4/08, on budget and ahead of schedule. The major components to the project
included expansion of our central treating facility at Wolf Lake, taking capacity to
120,000 bbl/d, and also a new satellite steam generation facility at the Primrose
East site. We also drilled 80 horizontal wells from four pads for the first stage.
The development, design and construction of Primrose East has proven to be a
SUCCEsS.

Throughout 2008 and into 2009, we will drill additional well pads at Primrose
North which will result in production increases. We will also continue development
of the existing operations at Primrose South and North with the drilling of
70 wells.

The next thermal project that Canadian Natural has under development is Kirby.
ft is the first project that we are undertaking in the Athabasca — McMurray
reservoir and will be using SAGD technology. Regulatory applications were filed
in 2007.

Beyond 2009 we see the potential to add significant incremental thermal in-situ
production from our oil sands leases. By executing our defined plan to develop
these leases and assuming adequate returns are achievable, we target to achieve
15% growth on our thermal production alone. Our thermal operations represent
a tremendous value growth opportunity and are an integral part of Canadian
Natural's defined plan.
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In the North Sea, attention is focused on managing existing infrastructure
in a mature basin which leads to field life extension. With a solid inventory
of drilling prospects, the North Sea provides additional recovery potential
in a low-risk environment. in Offshore West Africa, the Company has
some of its highest returning projects. Offshore West Africa assets
continue to generate significant free cash flow as they provide
considerable light crude oil growth.

In the UK portion of the North Sea, our focus is on managing our
infrastructure, platform maintenance and mature basin exploitation.
This approach ultimately prolongs the life and economic value of our
assets, The North Sea is a low-risk source of high-value, light crude oil.
We maintain a large inventory of drilling locations to maximize our
development projects and infill drilling. We operate 90% of our fields in
the North Sea with an average working interest of over 80%, giving us
control of our assets.

During 2008, we saw high production uptimes with top quartile
performance for our assets. We delivered key production enhancements
and field life extension projects while drilling four net wells, three work-
overs, and increasing water injection at our Columba E North Sea
development. The majarity of our production is achieved by optimizing
water injection and processing as many barrels of crude oil as possible.
We also executed five planned turnarounds as part of our advanced
asset integrity management program aimed to enhance the long-term
viability of our infrastructure.

For 2009, we are consistent with our defined strategies. Very few wells will be drilled during the year as projects have been
deferred, though we maintain a very strong inventory of drilling prospects for resumption of activity when appropriate. Capitaf cost
and operating cost reduction are paramount for 2009. Focus will remain on cost reduction projects and upgrades to facilities to
add long-term value, with three major turnarounds planned. As a result of deferred drilling and turnarounds, production will be
down stightly for the year.

Long term, our objective for the North Sea is to stabilize production and plan for modest growth with long-term developments of
Lyell, Columba and Thelma. Mature field declines will be offset with development projects and infill drilling. We also expect there
may be significant acquisition opportunities within the basin where we could capitalize on our mature basin expertise.
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Terry J. Jocksch

VICE-PRESIDENT, INTERNATIONAL
; & MANAGING DIRECTOR
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OFFSHORE WEST AFRICA
We maintain a high working interest for all of our Offshore West Africa
assets and have 100% operatorship of our assets. This is an area that
once again delivers high-value, light crude oil, providing development
opportunities with significant exploration upside. We capitalize on
strong government relationships and leverage the technical/operational
expertise from the North Sea.

At Baobab in Offshore Céte d'lvoire, the second phase of our program
is on track. We are increasing production following well failures that
occurred in 2006, with three wells already re-drilled and a fourth well
underway. Baobab remains a challenging field and we are proceeding
cautiously. We have implemented a robust gravel pack technology in
the replacement wells and through a measured approach, we anticipate
a larger third phase program in the near future. At Espoir, also in
Offshore Cote d'lvoire, we have been upgrading our FPSO, leading to
greater production from the field. This upgrade is targeted to be
complete in 2009.

At Olowi in Offshore Gabon, development drilling has begun and first
crude oil is targeted for early 2009. Additional wells will be drilled
throughout the year with a production plateau of 20,000 bbl/d targeted
to be reached and maintained in 2010.

Long-term plans for Offshore West Africa include a cautious and cost
conscious approach towards the development of Baobab. At Espoir, we
will continue with infill programs, optimizing our facilities, At Olowi,
we will sustain production with continued platform drilling.

International successful crude oil welis drilled | International total production
frt f {1y ¢l
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il sands project

The Horizon Proje 1 includes a surface oil sands mining and bitumen extraction plant, complimented by on-site bitumen upgrading
with' asseciatedin ucture to produce high quality SCO. Canadian Natural holds extensive leases that are estimated to contain
approximately 16 billion barrels of oil in place and six to eight billion barrels of mineable reserves and contingent resources. The
Harizon Project s located on these leases just north of Fort McMurray, Alberta in the Athabasca region. Due to the massive
resource base, the mire and plant facilities are expected to produce for decades without production declines normally associated
withiconventional trude ol pmdudﬁiom

The total
: i Qrsgmczl estimate of f{m.d b lion ? rstset in 20@4 However, ?he total cost of the Horizon Projezt comes in we %
below the industry average for current and future projects with similar facilities. First synthetic crude oil was achieved approximately
five months nd the initial target we set upon project sanctioning in 2005. Although both the cost and schedule were over
s, the project was built in an extremely volatile and inflationary business environment and in that respect, we consider

gone well since we started producing at the Horizon Project, with no major causes for concern. In a start up year
of targeted full production capacity, ‘{l e nperating cost for 2009 is forecast to be $35 to $40 per barrel of 5CO
e target the operating cost for the life of the mine, at 250,000 bbl/d to be between $25 and $35 per barrel
ost producer within the oll sands industry.

Operations he
withaout the be

A

ity for Phase 1 s targeted to deliver 110,000 bbi/d of fully upgraded, light, sweet, SCO. We are targeting to reach
v by late 2009. The early stages of production were approximately 55,000 bbl/d. Full ramp up to 110,000 bbl/d
hed in 2009 as we continue to fine tune the plant to design rates with a focus on safety and reliability.

(tire of the Horizon Project, Phase 1 is just the first step in value creation from this significant asset. A considerable
for infrastructure was included in Phase 1 in anticipation of future phases. These include but are not limited to,
such as the aerodrome, bui‘qu' shops, warehouses, camps and roads, site preparation, the piperack,
and power distributions, the majority of underground piping and so on. There is also the added benefit that
s work was completed early on in the construction process, a much less inflationary business environment.
he position to leverage the benefits from our existing operation into future expansions.

L,.cnokimg tothe
arapunt-of ca
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Réal J. H. Doucet |
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
OIL SANDS

The expansions to the Horizon Project have been broken into four tranches. Going forward, Canadian Natural wants to avoid the
“mega-project” approach to development and feel that breaking the overall expansion into smaller, more manageable pieces will
lead to enhanced project and cost control. Tranche 1 of the expansion was completed during 2007. This tranche included
engineering and design specifications for greater production capacity, the setting of additional coker foundations, other supporting
infrastructure, and the procurement of long lead equipment such as coke drums, reactors and mobile equipment. Future tranches
of the expansion are currently being re-profiled, taking project control to the next level. We will see incremental production gains
throughout the completion of future tranches, with targeted full facility capacity between 232,000 and 250,000 bbl/d. Further
phases of expansion (Phases 4 and 5) will bring the ultimate capacity to 500,000 bbl/d.

TARGETED ACTIVITIES WITHIN FUTURE EXPANSIONS (PHASE 2/3)
Tranche 1 (completed)
Planned basis for future expansions by:
;m Creating engineering design specification (232,000 bbl/d to 250,000 bbl/d SCO);
Completing front end engineering and design;
m  Building coker foundations and some supporting infrastructure; and
@ Ordering and transporting to site long lead equipment (coke drums, reactors, mobile equipment).

Tranche 2

Facilitates potential production gains by 5% to 15% by:

@ Increasing uptime and reliability (Ore Preparation Plant ("OPP") ~ train 3 and Hydrotransport);
@ Ensuring environmental commitments are met (Gas Recovery Unit, Sulphur Plant — train 3);

@ Increasing reliability ("Flood the Upgrader” and mine equipment); and

g Planning the debottlenecking process.

Tranche 3

Increases production by 10,000 to 20,000 bbl/d $CO by:

m  Reducing energy and operating costs (new tailings technology);
@ Expanding mining capability (mining equipment and shops);

g Increasing plant capacity (coker expansion); and

@ Adding environmental efficiencies (CO, recovery).

m

Tranche 4
Expands to full capacity of 232,000 to 250,000 bbl/d SCO through:
@ OPP(trains 4 and 5);

m  Extraction (retrofit trains 1 and 2);

@ Froth Treatment Plant (train 2);

m Vacuum Recovery Unit and Diluent Recovery Unit;
@ Hydrotreating (2 units);

m  Hydrogen Plant;

m  Sulphur Plant (train 4);

rm Cogeneration and Heat Integration; and

m Tankage.

The timing of construction for future expansions is critical for cost
control and we position the Company to take advantage of the
recent downturn in market activity. However, we are not driven to
increase production at the expense of economic returns. The
barrels are in the ground and will still be there when we are ready
to proceed with our expansions; when the economics are right.
Future phases will go ahead, it is just a matter of when and how.
The Horizon Project asset is substantial and anticipated to provide
significant free cash flow well into the future. The development of
this world-class asset is predicated upon generating the greatest
value for our shareholders.
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NATURAL GAS

CRUDE OIL

ats long-term natural gas marketing objective is to maximize the realized
| portfolio. Canadian Natural's realized wellhead price in 2008 was
her than in 2007, The AECO and NYMEX index both rose respectively
by 23% and 29%. The average Canadian dollar strengthened slightly relative to the US
dollar by 1% in 2008. Mild weather throughout 2008 and lower industrial demand late in
the year caused natural gas prices to decline and resulted in full storage capacity by the
third week of November. In the US, prolific increase from shale gas production and a 6%
incregse in s completed, increased supply by 8.6% to 57.6 bef/d. Domestically, overall
Canadian natural gas production dropped by approximately 3% to 16.2 bef/d over the
vear as completiong were down 2% from the previous year.

Ca i
f)f fce for ©

nual volume of Liquid Natural Gas (“LNG”) imported into the US was lower than the
us year at 0.94 beffd as price differentials were biased in favor of the European and
Asian markets. The current forward strips for worldwide natural gas markets suggest a
wm‘f ved low volarme of ING imports for 2009, The commissioning of several new
j iiities announced for the next two years may change the pricing dynarics in
favor of thase matkets with the capacity to receive and store these incremental volumes.

ere extremely volatile in 2008 with the NYMEX West Texas Intermediate ("WT1”) averaging US$99.65/bbl
@xc edmg *tthe} previous year by 38%. The pricing reached its peak on July 11 at US$147.27/bbl prior to beginning its downward
spiral. This declirie was caused by the loss of demand due to the worldwide financial crisis and bottomed at a low of US$32.40/bbl
on Decernber 19 The international benchmark Dated Brent was 34% higher than in 2007 at US$96.99/bbl.

Cil'zrwmm Naturals realized wellhead price in 2008 was $82.471/bbl, 49% higher than 2007. The price differential for Canadian

heavy ¢ mde oil, as measured by the Western Canadian Select crude oil blend ("WCS”) price at Hardisty, Alberta improved by 12%
710 a nairow differential of 20% of the NYMEX WTI for the yearly average in 2008. WCS heavy crude oil differentials
ved to an attractive 13% of WTI in July and August in response to strong worldwide demand for diesel fuels and low gasoline
eads The continued declines in the volumes from Mexico and Venezuela also contributed to stronger demand for
Reavy crude oil barrels and resulted in excellent realized prices for this important component of our portfolio.

&f

Our goal is to mawmize the value of our crude ofl portfolio m whatever market condition we are faced with. Canadian Naturai’s
strategy consists of three main components: the blending of various crude ol streams a nd diluents to better serve the neet ix o? our
refining customars the supportive participation in the expansion of pipeline export capacity and finally, the support and potential
participation in g ?jéj'ecés adding incremental conversion capacity for bitumen and 5CO

WTI crude oil reterance pricing | NYMEX natural gas reference pricing
‘ |
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Réal M. Cusson
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
MARKETING

The WCS crude oil stream is a blend of several conventional crude oils, bitumen and
diluents from either conventional or synthetic sources. WCS is used as the benchmark for
Canadian heavy crude oil marketed out of the WCSB. Canadian Natural contributes, on
average, approximately 150,000 bbl/d to the WCS blend, which is 55% of the total stream.
The blending of WCS allows the Company to reduce its blending, logistics and storage
thereby increasing the heavy crude oil netback for a significant portion of our heavy crude
oil production.

The second component of our crude oil marketing strategy includes the expansion of
pipeline systems to open up new markets for heavy crude oil and SCO. Canadian Natural
has supported industry export initiatives such as the Spearhead Pipeline to Cushing,
Oklahoma, Southern Access to the upper PADD Il market and Kinder Morgan’s west
coast expansion.

Canadian Natural is also a key supporter of the Keystone crude oil pipeline system that will
provide access to the US Gulf Coast ("USGC") markets by 2012. The first phase of this
project is currently under construction and is targeted to be in service in the first quarter
of 2010 and reach Cushing, Oklahoma one year later. The second phase, Keystone XL, will
provide an average of 910,000 bbl/d but requires regulatory approvals. The target
completion period is the first quarter of 2012 with potential additions of laterals to USGC
terminals by 2013. Canadian Natural has committed 120,000 bbl/d for an initial term of
20 years for firm service on Keystone XL to the USGC.

The third component of our long-term marketing strategy is supported by our commitment
to supply 100,000 bbi/d for an initial term of 20 years to a large USGC refiner. This anchors
an expansion project adding mare coking capacity to this refiner's already complex
configuration. The uncommitted Canadian Natural volumes available in the USGC are
targeted for the general refining spot and term markets of 45,000 bbl/d. All of our sales
in the USGC area will receive the prevailing market price.

These agreements represent a step forward in the implementation of our defined marketing
plan to improve the margins we realize on our heavy crude oil production and to reduce
the volatility historically experienced in the heavy crude oil markets. This strategic
marketing component is part of the Company’s long-term plan to develop its heavy oil
production capacity.

2008 WTI crude oil reference pricing !
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RICE RISK MANAGEMENT

Canadian Natural atilizes hedging techniques to provide some assurance on price
realizations and ’(s orotect cash flow generation capability in order to fund ongoing
developn wr“t programs. Generally, the downside pricing risks associated with various
i are determined and, if deemed appropriate, financial derivatives are
Wit risk Currency exposures are also monitored and may be hedged along
')t“"'xrd‘*ies Starting in January 2009, our hedge policy will allow for the
¢ % of the near 12 momm budgeted production and up to 40%
ot *ﬁ & !ol swing 1o 1o 24 months estimated production. For further information on
the particulars of ihis hedge program please refer 1o the Management's Discussion
sis and the Consolidated Financial Statements,

=

MIDSTREAM

Our midstream @ssets consist of the 100% owned and operated ECHO Pipeline, a
15%% interest in the Cold Lake Pipeline system, a 62% interest in the Company-
operated Pelican L ake Pipeline, and a 50% interest in the 84 megawatt co-generation
unit focated at the Primrose facility. The midstream assets allow us to control and
optimize transportation costs for about 85% of our heavy crude oil production. It also
generates a\m anal revenue from third party volumes, along with the sale of surplus
ECHO Pipeline operated at 92% utilization in 2008 and is the only pipeline
1 Uil Uted raw bitumen to Hardis sty terminals. Crude volumes delivered from
ipeline pszﬁg an important role in our heavy crude oil blending and marketing
for WS anc other diluted bitumen blends.

e

the Corspany committed firm capacity of 42,000 bbl/d for an initial term of

s toanchar anew pipeline from our Nipisi terminal to Edmonton. This project,
it by the Permbina Pipeline Income Fund {"Pembina”), sm% needs to obtain full
regulatory approvals and is targeted for completion in July 2011, This new pipeline
project include i diluent supply pipeline to Nipisi for the bleﬂdmg of our increasing
production volumes from our Pelican Lake area.

The new pipeline, owwned and operated by Pembina, built to ship SCO from our Horizon
Project to refinerigs in Edmonton has been fully operational since November 1, 2008,
We are currently reviewing a detailed forecast for Cold Lake production from the
Primrose area to determine the timing and size of incremental pipeline capacity
required to suppget our expansion plans for 2010 and beyond.

(B An ‘ (et

Company average crude oil and NGLs selling price | Company average natural gas selling price
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

he %%“ﬁ*

Canadian Natural conducts operations in a way that protects the health and
safety of employees, contractors, the public and the environment. We continue
to enhance safety awareness by maintaining a focus on safety programs and
processes. In 2008 our health and safety performance benchmarks surpassed
internal targets and continue to improve. Qver the past six years, the total
recordable injury frequency has decreased across all our operations.

Canadian Natural has a very aggressive audit program with over 500 audit
inspections conducted in 2008. Allinternal audits are performed using a Company-
developed safety and compliance audit protocol. Our ongoing initiatives ensure
that Canadian Natural maintains an Energy Resources Conservation Board
satisfactory inspection rate that is significantly better than the industry average.

In 2008, the Horizon Project underwent the last stage of construction and
transitioned into commissioning and start-up of operations. Despite the busy
year, the Horizon Project achieved 24 million hours Lost Time Injury Free. The Horizon Project Health and Safety Group worked
closely with all the groups involved and implemented safety prequalification programs for all contractors to ensure smocth
transitions and safe commissioning and start-up.

We are also working hard to continue to improve worksite safety behaviours by delivering targeted safety leadership training. In
2008 we implemented an " Operations Readiness” Program which included Oil Sands Safety Association ("OSSA”) approved Safe
Work Permit training. We also successfully embedded new electronic Integrated Safe System of Work (“1SSoW ") on all our North
Sea installations.

INFRASTRUCTURE INTEGRITY

Canadian Natural is committed to managing the integrity of its pipelines and facilities. We've established Asset Integrity Programs
at our operations which develop and implement the pressure equipment guidelines to meet corporate standards and regulatory
requirements. The Integrity Group tracks and coordinates inspections for over 36,000 pieces of pressure equipment. All critical
findings from proactive inspections are resolved via repair or replacement. The Integrity Group also tracks the resolution of findings
from proactive inspections that are not an immediate risk but may pose a problem down the road.

We work diligently to maintain the structural integrity of all our operations, especially our more mature installations and pipelines.
We take a proactive approach to Risk Based inspection ("RBI”). RBIis used to ensure that inspections are carried out at an appropriate
frequency. It also helps us ensure that inspections address potential failure modes for the system. This approach allows us to optimize
nspection intervals and in many cases we're able to extend intervals based upon this analysis. In every project, we strive to ensure
that all assets operate safely and effectively for the life of field of all the assets within Canadian Natural’s portfolio.
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ENVIRONMENT

Lyle G. Stevens
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
EXPLOTATION

ftalstewardship is an essential element of all Canadian Natural's operations.
Management and aperating personnel are committed to ensuring that planning,
aining and due diigence are key elerments in our environmental management

grams. Envirormental str tegiestarget corporate standards, operations compliance,
fuction, air emission management, reduction of fresh water use and
ing owr landscape footprir

Fnvironmental Management System ("EMS”) focuses on ensuring
s meet all corporate standards and regulatory requirements and
> continued the development,

i North Sea operations, two more installations achieved 1SO

14007 ¢e I Canadian Natural’s North Sea operations are now certified. In

2008, ere oy preparedness and response plans were reviewed and enhanced in
rations.

program, which idludes a formal review of environmental compliance and risk

ranagement activities for a site. In addition, many third-party audits were conducted at
‘ tes and key well sites throughout the year, Action items resulting
fracked to ensure approg;
manner.

late corrective and preventive actions

Our industry f:
gases (" GHGS") &
GHG ernission
programs cont
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Year-over-year flaring volumes decreased by 17% due to improved operational practice and due to lower natural gas production
volumes. In 2008, Canadian Natural spent $6.3 million and completed 101 solution gas conservation projects which reduced over
0.84 million tonnes of COe. The focus of the majority of these projects was to increase the efficiency of our operations and
conserve natural gas.

in Alberta, Canadian Natural's solution gas conservation rate was 859% This has improved significantly from a rate of 63% in 2000,

The Horizon Project will incorporate numerous advancements in technology to reduce GHG emissions including continued research,
development and implementation of a process to sequester CO, into tailings. At the completion of Phases 2/3 of the Horizon
Project, we believe this process will sequester approximately 219,000 tonnes of CO, annually. Our “Taking Action on Greenhouse
Gas Emissions” document outlines our strategy to address GHG emissions from our operations in the short and long term and is
available on our web site.

Carbon Capture and Storage ("CCS”) has emerged as the centerpiece of Alberta’s GHG reduction efforts in the medium to long
term. Canadian Natural is currently operating a CO, Enhanced Ol Recovery ("EOR") project in Southern Alberta. We will be
working with the Alberta government in 2009 on opportunities and incentives to further develop CCS within our operations.

In our international operations, we continue to pursue emission reduction opportunities including improvements to flare systems
and natural gas turbines.

Throughout our operations, we consistently strive to reduce our fresh water use. Our ongoing work to meet this goal includes
recycling a high percentage of produced water, increasing the use of brackish/saline water and using produced water in our drilling
and abandonment operations. Increased brackish/saline water use at our Primrose and Wolf Lake operations continues to enable
increased bitumen production without an equivalent increase in fresh water use. In 2008, the relative proportion of fresh water 1o
brackish water use continued to decrease at the Primrose and Wolf Lake operations. Two additional brackish wells were installed
in 2008 increasing brackish production and treatment capacity. This increased supply is helping to meet the needs of the Primrose
East Expansion Project.

in 2008, construction of the Wapan Sakahikan lake was completed at the Horizon Project site and was filled with water. This lake
provides new fish habitat as compensation for habitat lost due to project development. Water quality monitoring at the lake is
ongoing to determine the timing for stocking the lake with fish and will continue to ensure appropriate water quality to sustain
fish populations.

Water management at the Horizon Project continues to be a priority for Canadian Natural. Our water withdrawal from the
Athabasca River began in 2007, and we continue 1o withdraw amounts far below our approval limits. In 2008, we continued to
work with other oil sands operators in the Athabasca Region to ensure that water use is coordinated and does not exceed
requlatory limits.




CANADIAN NATURAL

CGMMUN ITIES AND STAKEHOLDERS

‘ iral Is-committed to operating in a socially responsible way
_a long-term presence in the communities where we
1855 activities contribute to the guality of life and economic
ities where we do business. In 2008, Canadian Natural
- range of community investment programs.

ate. Ourh
health in cormm
ued its

estment projects benefit people living in communities
¢ “ada the JK and West Afum by mmvld'ng financial and

latural’s commumty sponf;ofss‘m and funcmg support’ in
than $4 million.

We strongly believe that education and training are fundamental to
developing pegy "hroughout our operations, Canadian Natural supports
a nurnber-of inftiatives in building labour capacity in communities to meet
t human resource needs in the crude oil and natural gas

e supported programs such as the Petroleum Employment
rograr, the Northeast British Columbia’s Stay-in-School Program

ian Natural Building Futures scholarship program we are
upport students who are p_xm ﬁg efi ucation and trammq r@iaied 10

scholarships to 76 students living in all regions of A!if}érta, British Coiumbia and
Saskatc ar, inctuding many Aboriginal studen r operations.

ued to develop and sustain strong working relationships with our stakeholders. We aim to understand their
1 consider and %rwcarporae their input in our operations. Where possible, we strive to integrate economic,
i social considerations in the decision-making process across all of our business activities,

Iy 2008, we cor
interests so we
environmental
Canaclian N Fworks closely with the more than 55 Aboriginal communities near our operations in Western Canada to
strengthen mutyal understanding and co-operation and enhance the opportunities for economic participation in our crude oil and
natural gas devéloprents.
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ear-end reserves

independent evaluation

mmmmmmm& @i’ RESERVES
;rf { Dacernber “, 2008 Canadian Natural retained a qualified independent reserves evaluator, Sproule Associates
= 100% of the Company's conventional proved, and pmvg\d and probable crude oil and m?’umi <‘;@5

i

Reports on the Company’s total reserves. Canadian Natural has been granted an exemption fror

- Standards of Disclosure for Osl and Gas Activities ("NI 51~ 'M“ "), which

andards for the preparation g r\d disclosure of reserves and related information for companies fisted in Ca»maga This
y to substitute United %ta tes Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™) requirerments for certain

ar N. %"i <101, There are three principal differences between the ‘?\/vn standards. The first is the requirement

vell as the related net present value of future net

rer, as discussed in the Canadian

e in estimated proved reserves

§ am mre;;;;f% Evaluation
ions of National Instrument 51-1(

s

sciose both proved and proved and probable reserves, as
s and costs. The second is in the defi mm of proved 1 ‘@swve
Handbook ("COGEH"), the standards that NI 51-101 empiop he differe
ricing and costs between the two standards is not material. The third is the requirement to disclose a gross
{hefore *% \e consideration of royalties). Canadian Natural discloses its reserve reconciliation net of royalties in

reserve re

adherence to &

ant prices and costs as mandated by the SEC and has also provided proved
vcfsiun‘:ary additional information.

v has disclosed proved re
eseives under the same pararr
s be disclosed separately from conventional oil and gas disclosure. Canadian Natura

eum Consultants Ltd. {"GLI"), to evaluate Phase T o Phase 3 of 1 hu

’sz oil san dx mining reserv
rves evaluator, GLI Pelro
Sulde 7 reguirements.

.

ward of Directors has met with and carried out independent due diligence procedus

P

,.wvy\,,\; “}’

mpany’s re

erves.
and medium, heavy, and thermal crude oil, natur

onal {%’U!?;% oif, N Cw d"‘(} natural gas include all of the Company's ight
i the

hey do not indude the Company’s oil sands mining assets

éﬁ@ﬁ?@ﬁ%’fﬁ QQMVENT!QI\%AL NET RESERVES
gas and NG oved reserves decreased by 0.5% replacin
cost of %2(;.03:5 per barrel of oil equivalent for proved reserves and $14.66 per barrel of oil equivalent for

g 95% of production. This was accomplished at all-in
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of crude oil antd NGLs proved reserves were assigned to the proved undeveloped category, compared

In the Evaluation feports, 53

10 46% in 2007

~

jas proved reserves were assigned to the proved ur ndeveloped category reflecting the
ada.

3% of natural
or natu

1 Reports,
ter tead times reguired

iral gas developments ir

s Revorts, total proved and probable reserves increased by 2%

N%’}Wﬁ% AMER%C& CONVENTIONAL NET RESERVES

d MOLs proved reserves increased by 3% replacing 137% of production. Natural gas proved reserves increased by

1% 3’@;333@%‘@ ?i}{)« of 2008 production.

)

INTERNATIONAL CONVENTIONAL NET RESERVES

JorEh Seapioved reserves decreased by 56 million barrels to ?6/ million barrels of oil equivalent, which represents 14% of the t
cserves. The decrease was primarily due to changes in year over year pricing.

ica proved reserves increased to 158 million barrels in 2008 from 139 million barrels in 2007.
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\ le synthetic crude ol




RESERVES OF CONVENTIONAL CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS, NET OF ROYALTIES
December 31, 2008

Proved
Total?

Proved Proved
Developed? Undeveloped?

Proved and
Probable®

. Crude oil and NGLs (mmbbj)
_..North America
_NorthSea

Offshore West Africa

_Naturalgas ey
North America
North Sea

Offshore West Africa

Total reserves (mmboe)

Reserve replacement ratio® (%)

. Cost to develop®@¢moe)
..10% discount
15% discount

Present value of conventional reserves® (s milions)

0% discount

15% discount 11,253

15,179

December 31, 2007

Proved
Total?

Proved
Undeveloped?

Proved
Developed®

Proved and
Probable'?

_Crude oil and NGLs mmbpy e
70

494

_Nothsea
Offshore West Africa

15

405

736

2,136

....North America .
NorthSea ,
Offshore West Africa

. 4602
BIES

88

2,842

4,803

Total reserves (mmboe) 1,210

2,937

Reserve replacement ratio® (%)

87%

.. Cost to develop™ (s/boe)

1.09_$

" 15% discount

2.99

 Present value of conventional reserves® (s millions)

10% discount
15% discount

21,924 %

44,286

34,604

OIL SANDS MINING RESERVES‘"
The following table sets out Canadian Natural’s reserves of synthetic crude oil from the Horizon Project Oil Sands leases.

December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

Proved
Total

Proved and
Probable

Proved
Total

Proved and
Probable

.. Net reserves, after royalties (mmoo)

omthatc e oif? LA 1'9452,944 R 1,76.1. R
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CONVENTIONAL CRUDE OIL AND NGLs RESERVES RECONCILIATION, NET OF ROYALTIES®"®

North North Offshore
America Sea West Africa Total
Proved reserves (mmbbl)
Reserves, December 31, 2006 887 299 130 1,316
Extensions and discoveries
Infill drilling

Improved recovery
Property purchases
Property disposals

Production R
Revisions of prior estimates

Reserves, December 31, 2007

Extensions and discoveries
_Infili drilling. o
Improved recovery

Property purchases
Property disposals
Production .
~_Economic revisions due to prices

Revisions of prior estimates

Reserves, December 31, 2008

Proved and probable reserves (mmbbl)

Reserves, December 31, 2006 1,502 422

Extensions and discoveries
Infill drilling

Improved recovery
Property purchases
Property disposals
Production o
Revisions of prior estimates

Reserves, December 31, 2007

Extensions and discoveries

infill drilling

Improved recovery

Property purchases

Property disposals

Production e
Economic revisions due to prices

Revisions of prior estimates

Reserves, December 31, 2008 1,599 399
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CONVENTIONAL NATURAL GAS RESERVES RECONCILIATION, NET OF ROYALTIES"®
North North Offshore
America Sea West Africa Total

Proved reserves (bcf)

Reserves, December 31, 2006 3,705 37 56 3,798
__Extensions and discoveries e BB T 138
. Infill driling 124 3 127
. Improved recovery

B = B

603 .

e o i
Reserves, December 31, 2007

__Extensions and discoveries B e e T
_Infill driling
Pty pUIChases
. Property disposals .
. Economic revisions due to prices
Revisions of prior estimates

Reserves, December 31, 2008 3,523 67 94 3,684

Proved and probable reserves (bcf)

Reserves, December 31, 2006 4,857 93 99 5,049

_Infil drilling

. Improved recovery

.. Property purchases

__Property disposals
Revisions of prior estimates

Reserves, December 31, 2007 4,602 113 88 4,803

. Infill griling e
Improved recovery I
. Property purchases .
_ Property disposals
. Production
. Economic revisions due to pric
Revisions of prior estimates

Reserves, December 31, 2008 4,619 94 131 4,844
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CONVENTIONAL FINDING AND ON-STREAM COSTS
Three Year
2008 2007 2006 Total

L.3027 % 8727 % ...15.229

__Net reserve replacement expenditures (s milions)
Net reserve additions (mmboe) ©
Proved and probable
_Finding and on-stream costs 509
Proved .

s
168

$....1428 8 1616 §

$ 18.02 _$

RESERVES CLASSIFICATION BY PRODUCT, NET OF ROYALTIES"
December 31, 2008

Proved Proved Proved Proved and
Developed? Undeveloped? Total? Probable®

_Light crude oil and NGLs
North America
. North Sea .
Offshore West Africa
Total
_Heavy crude oil and NGLs
North America — Primary Heavy ‘
North America — Pelican Lake

North America — Thermal
Total
Total crude oif andNGLs
North America
North Sea
Offshore West Africa

Total

Natural gas -
North America
Offshore West Africa 1% - 1% 1%

Total 25% 7% 32% 28%

Total Boe 57% 43% 100% 100%
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(1) Reserve estimates and present value calculations are based upon year end constant reference price assumptions as detailed below as well as constant year-end costs.

Company WTl @ Hardisty North

Average Cushing Heavy Sea

Price Oklahoma 12° AP\ Brent

Crude oil and NGLs (C$/bbl) (US$/bbl) (C$/bbl) (US$/bbl)
2008 $ 3451 $ 4460 $ 2611 $ 41.76
2007 v » $ 6287 $ 96.00 $ 4170 % 96.02
2006 $ 5111 § 61.05 $ 4194 % 58.93
Company British Columbia

Average Henry Hub Alberta Huntingdon

Price Louisiana AECO C Sumas

Natural gas (C$/mcfy (US$/mmbtu) (C$/mmbtu) (C$/mmbtu)
2008 $ 651 $ 563 $ 634 $ 7.48
2007 ' ' ' $ 6.48 $ 6.80 $ 652 $ 6.96
2006 - $ 6.07 % 552§ 6.13 % 6.52

A foreign exchange rate of US$0.82/C$1.00 was used in the 2008 evaluation; US$1.01/C$1.00 was used in the 2007 evaluation; US$0.86/C$1.00 was used in the
2006 evaluation.

(2) Proved reserve estimates and values were evaluated in accordance with the SEC requirements. The stated reserves have a reasonable certainty of being economically
recoverable using year-end prices and costs held constant throughout the productive life of the properties.

(3) Proved and probable reserve estimates and values were evaluated in accordance with the standards of the COGEH and as mandated by NI 51-101. The stated
reserves have a 50% probability of equaling or exceeding the indicated quantities and were evaluated using year-end costs and prices held constant throughout
the productive life of the properties.

(4) Reserve replacement ratios were calculated using annual net reserve additions comprised of all change categories divided by the net production for that year.

(5) Cost to develop represents total discounted future capital for each reserves category excluding abandonment capital divided by the reserves associated with that category.

(6) Present value of reserves are based upon discounted cash flows associated with prices and operating expenses held constant into the future, before income taxes.

Future development costs and associated material well abandonment costs have been applied against future net revenues.

) Synthetic crude oil reserves are based on upgrading of the bitumen using technologies implemented at the Horizon Project.

) In 2007, revisions of prior estimates includes economic revisions due to prices.

) Reserves additions are comprised of all categories of reserves changes, exclusive of production.

0) Reserves finding and on-stream costs are determined by dividing total capital cash expenditures for each year by net reserves additions for that year. It excludes costs

associated with head office, abandonments, midstream and the Horizon Project.
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management'’s discussion and analysis

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

40

Certainstatementsinthisdocumentordocumentsincorporated
herein by reference constitute forward-looking statements
or information (collectively referred to herein as “forward-
looking statements”) within the meaning of applicable
securities legislation. Forward-looking statements can be
identified by the words “believe”, “anticipate”, "expect”,

“plan”, “estimate”, “target”, “continue”, “could”, “intend”,
“may”, “potential”, “predict”, “should”, “will”, “objective”,
“project”, “forecast”, “goal”, "guidance”, “outlook”,

“effort”, “seeks”, “schedule” or expressions of a similar
nature suggesting future outcome or statements regarding
an outlook. Disclosure related to expected future commodity
pricing, production volumes, royalties, operating costs, capital
expenditures, and other guidance provided throughout this
Management's Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A") including
the information in the “Outlook” section and the sensitivity
analysis constitute forward-looking statements. Disclosure of
plans relating to existing and future developments, including
but not limited to the Horizon Project, Primrose East, Pelican
Lake, Gabon Offshore West Africa, and the Kirby Oil Sands
Project also constitute forward-looking statements. This
forward-looking information is based on annual budgets and
multi-year forecasts, and is reviewed and revised throughout
the year if necessary in the context of targeted financial ratios,
project returns, product pricing expectations and balance
in project risk and time horizons. These statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain
risks and the reader should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements as there can be no assurances
that the plans, initiatives or expectations upon which they are
based will occur.

In addition, statements relating to “reserves” are deemed to
be forward-looking statements as they involve the implied
assessment based on certain estimates and assumptions
that the reserves described can be profitably produced in
the future. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in
estimating quantities of proved crude oil and natural gas
reserves and in projecting future rates of production and the
timing of development expenditures. The total amount or
timing of actual future production may vary significantly from
reserve and production estimates.

The forward-looking statements are based on current
expectations, estimates and projections about Canadian
Natural Resources Limited (the “Company”) and the industry
in which the Company operates, which speak only as of
the date such statements were made or as of the date of
the report or document in which they are contained, and
are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors that could cause the actual results, performance
or achievements of the Company to be materially different
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from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
Such factors include, among others: general economic and
business conditions which will, among other things, impact
demand for and market prices of the Company’s products;
volatility of and assumptions regarding crude oil and natural
gas prices; fluctuations in currency and interest rates;
assumptions on which the Company’s current guidance is
based; economic conditions in the countries and regions in
which the Company conducts business; political uncertainty,
including actions of or against terrorists, insurgent groups
or other conflict including conflict between states; industry
capacity; ability of the Company to implement its business
strategy, including exploration and development activities;
impact of competition; the Company’s defense of lawsuits;
availability and cost of seismic, drilling and other equipment;
ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to complete capital
programs; the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ ability to
secure adequate transportation for its products; unexpected
difficulties in mining, extracting or upgrading the Company’s
bitumen products; potential delays or changes in plans with
respect to exploration or development projects or capital
expenditures; ability of the Company to attract the necessary
labour required to build its thermal and oil sands mining
projects; operating hazards and other difficulties inherent in
the exploration for and production and sale of crude oil and
natural gas; availability and cost of financing; the Company’s
and its subsidiaries’ success of exploration and development
activities and their ability to replace and expand crude oil and
natural gas reserves; timing and success of integrating the
business and operations of acquired companies; production
levels; imprecision of reserve estimates and estimates of
recoverable quantities of crude oil, bitumen, natural gas
and liquids not currently classified as proved; actions by
governmental authorities; government regulations and the
expenditures required to comply with them (especially safety
and environmental laws and regulations and the impact of
climate change initiatives on capital and operating costs);
asset retirement obligations; the adequacy of the Company’s
provision for taxes; and other circumstances affecting revenues
and expenses. The Company’s operations have been, and in
the future may be, affected by political developments and
by federal, provincial and local laws and regulations such as
restrictions on production, changes in taxes, royalties and other
amounts payable to governments or governmental agencies,
price or gathering rate controls and environmental protection
regulations. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should any of the Company's assumptions
prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects
from those projected in the forward-looking statements. The
impact of any one factor on a particular forward-looking
statement is not determinable with certainty as such factors



are dependent upon other factors, and the Company’s course
of action would depend upon its assessment of the future
considering all information then available. For additional
information refer to the “Risks and Uncertainties” section of
this MD&A.

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors is not
exhaustive. Unpredictable or unknown factors not discussed in
this report could also have material adverse effects on forward-
looking statements. Although the Company believes that the
expectations conveyed by the forward-looking statements are
reasonable based on information available to it on the date
such forward-looking statements are made, no assurances
can be given as to future results, levels of activity and
achievements. All subsequent forward-looking statements,
whether written or oral, attributable to the Company or
persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their
entirety by these cautionary statements. Except as required by
law, the Company assumes no obligation to update forward-
looking statements should circumstances or Management’s
estimates or opinions change.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Management’s Discussion and Analysis includes references to
financial measures commonly used in the crude oil and natural
gas industry, such as adjusted net earnings from operations,
cash flow from operations and net asset value. These financial
measures are not defined by generally accepted accounting
principles in Canada ("GAAP") and therefore are referred to
as non-GAAP measures. The non-GAAP measures used by
the Company may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies. The Company uses these
non-GAAP measures to evaluate its performance. The
non-GAAP measures should not be considered an alternative
to or more meaningful than net earnings, as determined in
accordance with Canadian GAAP, as an indication of the
Company’s performance. The non-GAAP measures adjusted
net earnings from operations and cash flow from operations
are reconciled to net earnings, as determined in accordance
with Canadian GAAP, in the “Financial Highlights” section of
this MD&A. The Company also presents certain non-GAAP
financial ratios and their derivation in the “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” section of this MD&A.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management's Discussion and Analysis of the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company should be
read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in Canada (“Canadian GAAP"). A
reconciliation of Canadian GAAP to generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (“US GAAP”) is
included in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
All dollar amounts are referenced in Canadian dollars,
except where otherwise noted. The calculation of barrels
of oil equivalent (“boe”) is based on a conversion ratio of
six thousand cubic feet (“mcf”) of natural gas to one barrel

::Horlzon Prolect
LIBOR

(“bbl") of crude oil to estimate relative energy content. This
conversion may be misleading, particularly when used in
isolation, since the 6 mcf:1 bbl ratio is based on an energy
equivalency at the burner tip and does not represent the
value equivalency at the wellhead. Production volumes are
the Company’s interest before royalties, and realized prices
are net of transportation and blending costs and exclude the
effect of risk management activities. The following discussion
and analysis refers primarily to the Company’s 2008 financial
results compared to 2007 and 2006, unless otherwise
indicated. In addition, this MD&A details the Company’s
capital program and outlook for 2009.

Additional information relating to the Company, including
its quarterly MD&A for the year and three months ended
December 31, 2008 and its Annual Information Form for the
year ended December 31, 2008, is available on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com.

This MD&A is dated March 4, 2009.

ABBREVIATIONS
_..ACC ... . AnadarkoCanada Corporation R
) »_AECO S Alberta natural gas reference Iocatlon »
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y accepted accounting principles
inCanada

“Epeg ”Floatmg Product|on Storage e

.. Offtake Vessel ..
. Greenhouse Gas
_.Yigajoules e
.. 9igajoules per day B
al  Heavy crude oil dlﬁerentlal from WTI -
Horlzon O" Sands ProJECt e

United States Securities and T
__Exchange Commission .
_Toronto Stock Exchange
'Un|ted Klngdom o

_United States -
Generally accepted accountmg pr|nC|p|es
_inthe United States
N Unlted States dollar S
) Westem Canadia elect -

CANADIAN NATURAL 41



OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGY
The Company’s objectives are to increase crude oil and natural gas production, reserves, cash flow and net asset value  on a per
common share basis through the development of its existing crude oil and natural gas properties and through the discovery and/
or acquisition of new reserves. The Company strives to meet these objectives by having a defined growth and value enhancement
plan for each of its products and segments. The Company takes a balanced approach to growth and investments and focuses on
creating long-term shareholder value. The Company allocates its capital by maintaining:
Balance among its products, namely natural gas, light/medium crude oil, Pelican Lake crude oil @, primary heavy crude oil and

thermal heavy crude oil;

Balance among near-, mid- and long-term projects;

Balance among acquisitions, exploitation and exploration; and

Balance between sources and terms of debt financing and maintenance of a strong balance sheet.

B a

(1) Discounted value of conventional crude oil and natural gas reserves plus value of undeveloped land, less net debt.
(2) Pelican Lake crude oil is 14-17° APl oil, which receives medium quality crude netbacks due to lower production costs and lower royalty rates.
The Company’s three-phase crude oil marketing strategy includes:
B Blending various crude oil streams with diluents to create more attractive feedstock;
Supporting and participating in pipeline expansions and/or new additions; and
Supporting and participating in projects that will increase the downstream conversion capacity for heavy crude oil.

Operational discipline and cost control are fundamental to the Company. By consistently controlling costs throughout all cycles of
the industry, the Company believes it will achieve continued growth. Cost control is attained by developing area knowledge, by
dominating core areas and by maintaining high working interests and operator status in its properties.

The Company is committed to maintaining a strong balance sheet and flexible capital structure. The Company believes it has built
the necessary financial capacity to complete all of its growth projects, including the Horizon Project and its conventional crude
oil and natural gas opportunities. Additionally, the Company’s risk management hedge program reduces the risk of volatility in
commodity prices and supports the Company’s cash flow for its capital expenditures programs.

Strategic accretive acquisitions, like the acquisition of ACC in 2006, are a key component of the Company’s strategy. The Company
has used a combination of internally generated cash flows and debt financing to selectively acquire properties generating future
cash flows in its core regions.

Highlights for the year ended December 31, 2008 include the following:

Achieved record levels of net earnings, adjusted net earnings from operations, and cash flow from operations;
B Achieved annual crude oil and natural gas production guidance;

@ Completed the construction of and achieved first production from the Primrose East Expansion;

o Completed drilling and brought three wells back on production at the Baobab Field, Céte d'Ivoire;

o Development continued on the Olowi Field in offshore Gabon with first oil targeted for Spring 2009;
Substantially completed construction of Phase 1 of the Horizon Project; and

@ Increased dividends per common share.

NET EARNINGS AND CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Financial Highlights

(3 millions, except per common share amounts) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue, before royalties $ 16,173 | § 12543 8 ..11643
Netearnings $ 4,985 | $ 2608 § ....2524.
Per common share — basic and diluted 484 § 470
Adjusted net earnings from operations 2406 $ . 1664
_.Per common share —basicand diluted ... .% 6463 446 5 . L300
.Cash flow from operations ® 6,198 5 ... 4932,
_Per common share — basic and diluted 11.49 § 9.18
Dividends declared per common share 034 S 030
Total assets 36114 5 33,160
Total long-term liabilties | 19,230 $ 19399
Capital expenditures, net of dispositions 6,425 $ 12,025

(1) Adjusted net earnings from operations is a non-GAAP measure that represents net earnings adjusted for certain items of a non-operational nature. The Company
evaluates its performance based on adjusted net earnings from operations. The reconciliation “Adjusted Net Earnings from Operations” presented below lists the
after-tax effects of certain items of a non-operational nature that are included in the Company’s financial results. Adjusted net earnings from operations may not
be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.

(2) Cash flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure that represents net earnings adjusted for non-cash items before working capital adjustments. The Company
evaluates its performance based on cash flow from operations. The Company considers cash flow from operations a key measure as it demonstrates the Company's
ability to generate the cash flow necessary to fund future growth through capital investment and to repay debt. The reconciliation “Cash Flow from Operations”
presented below lists the effects of certain non-cash items that are included in the Company’s financial results. Cash flow from operations may not be comparable to
similar measures presented by other companies.
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Adjusted Net Earnings from Operations

($ millions) 2008 2007 2006
_Netearnings asreported $ 4,985 | § 2608 $ ..2524
Stock-based compensation (recovery) expense, net of tax ..(38) L - S -
_Unrealized risk management (gain) loss, net of tax ® 12 977 (674)
_Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain), net of tax 449y 14
Effect of statutory tax rate and other legislative change
on future income tax liabilities @ {(41) (864) (395)
Adjusted net earnings from operations $ 3,492 | $ 2,406 % 1,664

(a) The Company’s employee stock option plan provides for a cash payment option. Accordingly, the intrinsic value of outstanding vested options is recorded as a
liability on the Company’s balance sheet and periodic changes in the intrinsic value are recognized in net earnings or are capitalized as part of the Horizon Project
during the construction period.

(b) Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet, with changes in fair value of non-designated hedges recognized in net earnings. The
amounts ultimately realized may be materially different than reflected in the financial statements due to changes in prices of the underlying items hedged, primarily
crude oil and natural gas.

(&) Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses result primarily from the translation of US dollar denominated long-term debt to period-end exchange rates, offset
by the impact of cross currency swap hedges, and are recognized in net earnings.

(d) Al substantively enacted or enacted adjustments in applicable income tax rates and other legislative changes are applied to underlying assets and liabilities on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet in determining future income tax assets and liabilities. The impact of these tax rate and other legislative changes is recorded in
net earnings during the period the legislation is substantively enacted or enacted. Income tax rate changes during 2008 resulted in a reduction of future income tax
liabilities of approximately $19 million in North America and $22 million in Céte d'Ivoire, Offshore West Africa. Income tax rate and other legislative changes during
2007 resulted in a reduction of future income tax liabilities of approximately $864 million in North America. Income tax rate changes during 2006 resulted in an
increase of future income tax liabilities of approximately $110 million in the North Sea, a reduction of approximately $438 million in North America, and a reduction of
approximately $67 million in Cote d'lvoire, Offshore West Africa.

Cash Flow from Operations

($ millions) 2008
CUNeteamniNgs e B 4,985
_Non-cash items:
. Depletion, deprex nd amortization e 2,683
_ Asset retirement obligation accretion 71
Stock-based compensation (recovery) expense (52)
_Unrealized risk management (gain) loss _.(3,090)
.. Unreali QAN 832 | 24) 134
. Deferred petroleum revenue tax { TECOVEry) XPENSE e (67) ... - L
Future income tax expense (recovery) 1,607 (456) 652
Cash flow from operations $ 6,969 | $ 6,198 §$ 4,932

For 2008, the Company reported net earnings of $4,985 million compared to net earnings of $2,608 million for 2007 (2006 —
$2,524 million). Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2008 included net unrealized after-tax income of $1,493 million
related to the effects of risk management activities, changes in foreign exchange rates, stock-based compensation, and the impact
of statutory tax rate and other legislative changes on future income tax liabilities (2007 - $202 million; 2006 — $860 million).
Excluding these items, adjusted net earnings from operations for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased to $3,492 million
from $2,406 million for 2007 (2006 — $1,664 million) primarily due to the impact of higher realized pricing, lower depletion,
depreciation and amortization expense, and lower interest and administration expense. These factors were partially offset by
higher realized risk management losses, higher royalty and production expense, lower sales volumes, and the impact of the
stronger Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar during the first half of 2008.

The impacts of unrealized risk management activities, stock-based compensation and changes in foreign exchange rates are
expected to continue to contribute to significant volatility in consolidated net earnings and are discussed in detail in the relevant
sections of this MD&A.

Cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased to $6,969 million ($12.89 per common share) from
$6,198 million ($11.49 per common share) for 2007 (2006 — $4,932 million; $9.18 per common share). The increase was primarily
due to the impact of higher realized pricing and lower interest and administration expense, partially offset by higher realized risk
management losses, higher royalty and production expense, higher current income tax expense, lower sales volumes, and the
impact of the stronger Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar during the first half of 2008.

For 2008, the Company’s average sales price per bbl of crude oil and NGLs increased to $82.41 per bbl from $55.45 per bbl in
2007 (2006 — $53.65 per bbl). The Company’s average natural gas price increased to $8.39 per mcf from $6.85 per mcf for 2007
(2006 — $6.72 per mcf).

Total production of crude oil and NGLs before royalties decreased to 315,667 bbl/d from 331,232 bbl/d for 2007 (2006 -
331,998 bbl/d). The decrease in crude oil and NGLs production was primarily due to lower production in the North Sea and
Offshore West Africa due to the timing of field turnarounds, the sale of the Company’s working interest in the B-Block Fields late
in 2007, and the impact of the shut in of a portion of the Baobab Field production, and in North America due to the cyclic nature

of the Company’s thermal production.
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Operating highlights

Total natural gas production before royalties decreased to 1,495 mmcf/d from 1,668 mmcf/d for 2007 (2006 - 1,492 mmcf/d).
The decrease in natural gas production primarily reflected natural production declines due to the Company’s strategic reduction in
natural gas drilling activity in North America.

Total crude oil and NGLs and natural gas production volumes before royalties decreased to 564,845 boe/d from 609,206 boe/d for
2007 (2006 - 580,724 boe/d). Total production for 2008 was within the Company’s previously issued guidance.

2008 2007 2006
Crude oil and NGLS (sb0) Ve S
Sales price & $ 82415 5545 % 5365
Royalties 1048 | 594 ... 448
Production expense 16.26 13.34 12.29
Netback $ 55.67 | 36.17  § 36.88
Natural gas smch) S
Sales price @ 672
Royalties 129
Production expense 0.82
Netback 4.61
.. Barrels of oil equivalent spoe " B
. Sales price @ 4792
. Royalties 589
Production expense 9.14
Netback 32.89
(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.
(2) Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities.
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
The following is a summary of the Company’s quarterly results for the eight most recently completed quarters:
(8 millions, except per common share amounts) e e e e
2008 Total Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31

- basic and diluted $ 922 § 327 $ 525 $ (0.65) $ 1.35
2007 Total Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31
...Revenue, before royalties U S 12543 8 3200 8 30738 3152 8 3118
Net earnings 302608 % 798 $ 700 $ 841§ 269

. Net earnings per common share

 basic and diluted R o as $ R 148$ S g 156$ e
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Net earnings (loss) over the eight most recently completed quarters generally reflected fluctuations in realized crude oil and
natural gas prices, fluctuations in sales volumes, the impact of mark-to-market accounting of derivative financial instruments and
stock-based compensation, fluctuations in depletion, depreciation and amortization charges and foreign exchange rates, and
adjustments to future income tax liabilities due to statutory tax rate and other legislative changes. More specifically, volatility in
quarterly net earnings was primarily due to:

o Crude oil pricing
Crude oil prices reflected fluctuating demand, geopoilitical uncertainties and fluctuations in the Heavy Differential in North America.

Natural gas pricing
Natural gas prices primarily reflected seasonal fluctuations in both the demand for natural gas and inventory storage levels,
fluctuations in liquefied natural gas imports into the US, and increased shale gas production in the US.

@ Crude oil and NGLs sales volumes
Crude oil and NGLs sales volumes primarily reflected increased production from the Company’s Primrose thermal projects, the
results from the Pelican Lake water and polymer flood projects, and development of the Espoir Field. Crude oil and NGLs sales
volumes also reflected fluctuations in production from the North Sea and Offshore West Africa due to timing of liftings and
maintenance activities and the impact of the shut in of a portion of the Baobab Field production.
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o Natural gas sales volumes
Natural gas sales volumes primarily reflected production declines due to the Company’s strategic decision to reduce natural gas
drilling activity in North America due to the allocation of capital to higher return crude oil projects, as well as natural decline rates.

o Foreign exchange rates
Fluctuations in the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar impacted the realized price the Company received for its crude
oil and natural gas sales, as sales prices are based predominately on US dollar denominated benchmarks. Similarly, unrealized
foreign exchange gains and losses were recorded with respect to US dollar denominated debt and the re-measurement of North
Sea future income tax liabilities denominated in UK pounds sterling to US dollars, partially offset by the impact of cross currency
swap hedges.

Risk management
Net earnings (loss) have fluctuated due to the recognition of realized and unrealized gains and losses from the mark-to-market
and subsequent settlement of the Company's risk management activities.

o Changes in income tax expense
Fluctuations in income tax expense {recovery) include statutory tax rate and other legislative changes substantively enacted or
enacted in the various periods.

o Stock-based compensation
Net earnings (loss) have fluctuated due to the mark-to-market movements of the Company’s stock-based compensation liability.
Stock-based compensation expense (recovery) reflected fluctuations in the Company’s share price over the eight most recently
completed quarters.

O Production expense
Production expense has fluctuated company wide primarily due to the impact of the demand for services, industry-wide
inflationary cost pressures experienced in prior quarters in all segments, fluctuations in product mix, and the impact of seasonal
costs that are dependent on weather.

o Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense has fluctuated due to changes in sales volumes, finding and development
costs associated with crude oil and natural gas exploration, and estimated future costs to develop the Company’s proved
undeveloped reserves.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

(Yearly average) 2007 2006
.. WTI benchmark price ussmbh 7240 3 £6.25
”Dated Brent benchmark price (US$/be) 7259 $ 6518
 WCGSL blend dlfferentral from WTI (US$/be 2325 § 2153
 WCS blend drfferentlal from WTI (%) R%  32%
H_m_“Condensate benchmark price ussmbh $ 728 § ‘66 24
_ NYMEX & benchmark price (Us$/mmbtu) $ 692 § 726
 AECO benchmark price (/) e B 3 626 $ 662
LUs/ Canadran dollar average exchange rate 8 0.9381 | § 09304 § 0 .8818 |
US / Canadian dollar year end exchange rate $ 0.8166 | $ 1.0120 § 0.8581
(1) Beginning in 2008, the Company has quantified the Heavy Differential using the WCS blend as the heavy crude oil marker. Prior period amounts have been

reclassified.

Commodity Prices
Substantially all of the Company’s production is sold based on US dollar benchmark pricing. Specifically, crude oil is marketed based
on WTI and Brent indices. Canadian natural gas pricing is primarily based on Alberta AECO reference pricing, which is derived
from the NYMEX reference pricing and adjusted for its basis or location differential to the NYMEX delivery point at Henry Hub. The
Company’s realized price is also highly sensitive to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The average value of the Canadian dollar
in relation to the US dollar fluctuated significantly throughout 2008, with a high of approximately $1.03 in February 2008 and a
low of approximately $0.77 in December 2008.

The overall increase in WTI pricing in 2008 reflected strong demand for crude oil and tight supply during the first half of 2008,
followed by a significant decrease in demand as a result of worldwide financial and economic events during the fourth quarter of
the year. WTI pricing was also impacted by ongoing geopolitical uncertainty resulting in increased market volatility. For 2008, WTI
averaged US$99.65 per bbl, an increase of 38% compared to US$72.40 per bbl for 2007 (2006 — US$66.25 per bbl). WTI reached
a high of US$147.27 per bbl on July 11, 2008 and a low of US$32.40 per bbl on December 19, 2008.

Brent averaged US$96.99 per bbl for 2008, an increase of 34% compared to US$$72.59 per bbl for 2007 (2006 — US$65.18 per bbl).
Crude oil sales contracts for the North Sea and Offshore West Africa are typically based on Brent pricing, which was also impacted
by worldwide financial and economic events late in the year.
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The Company’s realized crude oil prices benefited from strong commodity pricing during most of the year and a favorable Heavy
Differential. The Heavy Differential averaged 20% of WT! for 2008, compared to 32% for 2007 (2006 - 32%). As the worldwide
demand for diesel remained strong and the refinery cracking margins were relatively weak, the Heavy Differential continued to
remain strong, despite the falling benchmark pricing late in 2008.

The Company anticipates continued volatility in the crude oil pricing benchmarks due to the unpredictable nature of supply and
demand factors, geopolitical events and the global economic siowdown resulting from worldwide financial and economic events.
The Heavy Differential is expected to continue to reflect seasonal demand fluctuations and refinery cracking margins.

NYMEX natural gas prices averaged US5$8.95 per mmbtu for 2008, an increase of 29% from US$6.92 per mmbtu for 2007 (2006
- US$7.26 per mmbtu). The Alberta based AECO natural gas pricing for 2008 increased 23% to average $7.71 per GJ from $6.26
per GJ in 2007 (2006 - $6.62 per GJ). During the first half of 2008, the demand and pricing for natural gas were tracking with oil
pricing and general economic activity. During the second half of the year, natural gas pricing decreased due to a significant increase
in production from shale gas reservoirs in the US and a significant decline in industrial demand caused by the onset of worldwide
financial and economic events.

Operating, Royalty and Capital Costs
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Strong commodity prices over the last several years have resulted in increased demand for oilfield services worldwide. This has led
to inflationary operating and capital cost pressures throughout the crude oil and natural gas industry, particularly related to drilling
activities and oil sands developments.

The crude oil and natural gas industry is also experiencing cost pressures related to environmental regulations, both in North
America and internationally. In Canada, the Federal Government has indicated its intent to develop regulations that would be
in effect in 2010 to address industrial GHG emissions; however future Federal regulatory requirements remain uncertain. The
Federal Government has also outlined national and sectoral reduction targets for several categories of air pollutants. In Alberta,
GHG regulations came into effect July 1, 2007, affecting facilities emitting more than 100 kilotonnes of CO,e annually. Two of
the Company’s facilities, the Primrose/Wolf Lake in-situ heavy crude oil facilities and the Hays sour natural gas plant, fall under the
regulations. Commencing July 1, 2008, the British Columbia carbon tax is being assessed at $10/tonne of CO,e on fuel consumed
in the province, increasing to $30/tonne by July 1, 2012. In the UK, GHG regulations have been in effect since 2005. During Phase 1
(2005 - 2007) of the UK National Allocation Plan, the Company operated below its CO, allocation. For Phase 2 (2008 - 2012)
the Company’s CO, allocation has been decreased below the Company’s estimated current operations emissions. The Company
continues to focus on implementing reduction programs based on efficiency audits to reduce CO, emissions at its major facilities
and on trading mechanisms to ensure compliance with requirements now in effect.

Continued cost pressures and the final outcome of changes to environmental regulations may adversely impact the Company’s
future net earnings, cash flow and capital projects. For additional details, refer to the “Greenhouse Gas and Other Air Emissions”
section of this MD&A.

The Alberta Government implemented its New Royalty Framework (“NRF") effective January 1, 2009. The NRF includes a number
of changes to royalty rates for natural gas, conventional crude oil, and oil sands production. Under the NRF, royalties payable vary
according to commodity prices and the productivity of wells. Leading up to the January 2009 implementation of the NRF, the
Alberta Government made several adjustments to the originally proposed formula to address unintended consequences. These
adjustments affect royalties payable for certain natural gas and crude oil production wells. For additional details, refer to the
“Royalties” section of this MD&A.
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ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN REVENUE, BEFORE ROYALTIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES
Changes due to Changes due to

($ millions) 2006 Volumes Prices Other 2007 Volumes Prices Other 2008

o NoOrth AMEriCa e
CrudeoilandNGLs ~ $ 5262 $ 298 § 287 § - % 5847
Natural Gas 3,804 452 46 -

- 9,066 750 333 -

b
oa

NOEth S @ e e
CrudeoilandNGLs 1600  (107) 82 = . L575. (339) 52 - 1753

" Natural gas T 16 ) B - 22 (5) 1) - 16
1,616 (109) 90 - 1,597 (339) 511 - 1,769

. Offshore West Africa . e
.CrudeoilandNGLs 931 @16 36 oo SRl (136) 280 i 895
Natural gas 19 5 1 - 25 5 19 - 49

950 (211) 37 - 776 (131) 299 - 944

LooSubtotal

CrudeoilandNGLs 7,793 (25 405 T
Natural gas 3,839 455 55

e 11,032 430460

. Midstream 72 T T

Intersegment eliminations
and other 61) - - 8 (53) - - (60) (113)
Total $ 11,643 § 430 $ 460 % 10 $ 12543 $ (1,050) $ 4,737 $ (57) $ 16,173

(1) Eliminates primarily internal transportation, electricity charges, and natural gas sales.

Revenue increased 29% to $16,173 million for 2008 from $12,543 million for 2007 (2006 — $11,643 million). The increase was
primarily due to increased realized crude oil and NGLs and natural gas prices company-wide.

For 2008, 17% of the Company’s crude oil and natural gas revenue was generated outside of North America (2007 — 19%; 2006
—22%). North Sea accounted for 11% of crude oil and natural gas revenue for 2008 (2007 - 13%; 2006 — 14%), and Offshore
West Africa accounted for 6% of crude oil and natural gas revenue for 2008 (2007 — 6%; 2006 — 8%).

ANALYSIS OF PRODUCT PRICES
2008 2007 2006

__Crude oil and NGLs o) @
.. North America .
Offshore West Africa
Company average
. Natural gas gmc) V@
. North America

49.16

L1499
7168
55.45

Mkﬂbﬁ%
(o)}
~
o)
e

,,,,,,,, ! o
5 426
s 568
$
$

6.85
49.05

Company average

s mmeﬂm
9]
w
~l

Company average (3/boe) '@

Percentage of gross revenue  (excluding midstream revenue)

 CrudeoilandNGLs 68% 82% . 6A%
Natural gas 32% 38% 36%

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.

(2) Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities.

Realized crude oil and NGLs prices increased 49% to average $82.41 per bbl for 2008 from $55.45 per bbl for 2007 (2006 -
$53.65 per bbl). The increase in 2008 was primarily a result of higher WTI and Brent benchmark crude oil prices during most of
the year and a narrower Heavy Differential, partially offset by the impact of the stronger Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar
during the first half of 2008.

The Company’s realized natural gas price increased 22% to average $8.39 per mcf for 2008 from $6.85 per mcf for 2007 (2006
- $6.72 per mcf). The increase in 2008 was primarily a result of increased benchmark prices due to increased industrial demand
and lower liquefied natural gas imports into the US in the first half of 2008, partially offset by a significant reduction in industrial
demand late in the year as a result of worldwide financial and economic events, and the impact of higher storage levels due to
increased shale gas production in the US.
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North America

North America realized crude oil prices increased 57% to average $77.42 per bbl for 2008 from $49.16 per bbl for 2007 (2006
- $46.52 per bbl). The increase in 2008 was due to increased WTI benchmark pricing and a narrower Heavy Differential, partially
offset by the impact of the strong Canadian dollar during the first half of 2008.

In North America, the Company continues to focus on its crude oil marketing strategy, including the development of a blending
strategy that expands markets within current pipeline infrastructure, supporting pipeline projects that will provide capacity to
transport crude oil to new markets, and working with refiners to add incremental heavy crude oil conversion capacity. During 2008,
the Company contributed approximately 150,000 bbl/d of heavy crude oil blends to the WCS stream. The Company has entered
into a 20 year transportation agreement to commit to ship 120,000 bbl/d of heavy sour crude oil on the proposed 500,000 bbl/d
Keystone Pipeline US Gulf Coast expansion from Hardisty, Alberta to the US Gulf Coast. Contemporaneously, the Company also
entered into a 20 year crude oil purchase and sales agreement to sell 100,000 bbl/d of heavy sour crude oil to a major US refiner.
Deliveries under the agreements are expected to commence in 2012 upon completion of the pipeline expansion and are subject to
Keystone's receipt of regulatory approval of the pipeline expansion.

North America realized natural gas prices increased 22 % to average $8.41 per mcf for 2008 from $6.87 per mcf for 2007 (2006 -
$6.77 per mcf), primarily related to fluctuations in benchmark prices due to the impact of weather and storage levels.

Comparisons of the prices received for the Company’s North America production by product type were as follows:

2008 2007 2006
_ Wellhead Price U B
Light/medium crude oil and NGLs (C$/o) 66.24 3 6309
 Pelican Lake crude oil ooy 4629 5 4502
Primary heavy crude oil cspoy 43.77 % 41.35
Thermal heavy crude oil (c$/bbD 4349 5 4098
Natural gas (C$/mcf) 6.87 % 6.77

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.
(2) Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities.

North Sea

North Sea realized crude oil prices increased 34% to average $100.31 per bbl for 2008 from $74.99 per bbl for 2007 (2006 -
$72.62 per bbl). Realized crude oil prices per bbl in any particular period are dependant on the terms of the various sales contracts,
the frequency and timing of liftings of each field, and prevailing crude oil prices at the time of lifting. Realized crude oil prices
in the North Sea during 2008 benefited from the increased Brent benchmark pricing, partially offset by the impact of the strong
Canadian dollar during the first half of 2008.

Offshore West Africa

Offshore West Africa realized crude oil prices increased 37% to average $97.96 per bbl for 2008 from $71.68 per bbl for 2007
(2006 - $67.99 per bbl). Realized crude oil prices per bbl in any particular period are dependant on the terms of the various sales
contracts, the frequency and timing of liftings of each field, and prevailing crude oil prices at the time of lifting. Realized crude oil
prices in Offshore West Africa during 2008 benefited from the increased Brent benchmark pricing, partially offset by the impact of
the strong Canadian dollar during the first half of 2008.

ANALYSIS OF DAILY PRODUCTION, BEFORE ROYALTIES

2008 2007 2006

Crude oil and NGLs ove) b e
North America e e 203,826 | 246,779 ...235,253
North Sea B e ... . A S - 60,056
Offshore West Africa 26,567 28,520 36,689
315,667 331,232 331,998

Natural gas (mmcf/d)

North America ) 1468
North Sea R B
Offshore West Africa 9
1,495 1,668 1,492
Total barrels of oil equivalent (voe/d) 564,845 609,206 580,724
. Product mix . N | ]
Lightmedium crude oil and NGLs L23% L 28%
Pelican Lake crude ol 6% 5%
Primary heavy crude oil 15% 16%
Thermal heavy crude oil 1% O NM%
Natural gas 45% 42%
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Daily Production, Net of Royalties

2008 2007 2006
LCrude Ol and NGLS (b))
..North America 210769 205382
NorthSea . 55825 .....59940
Offshore West Africa 26,012 35,212
292,606 300,534
CNARURAL Gas (el et e R
North America 1378 .18
O S8 e VO 13 5.
Offshore West Africa 11 11 9
1,246 1,402 1,209
Total barrels of oil equivalent (boe/d) 483,541 526,193 502,024

Daily production and per barrel statistics are presented throughout this MD&A on a “before royalty” or “gross” basis. Production
on an “after royalty” or “net” basis is also presented.

The Company’s business approach is to maintain large project inventories and production diversification among each of the
commodities it produces; namely natural gas, light/medium crude oil and NGLs, Pelican Lake crude oil, primary heavy crude oil and
thermal heavy crude oil.

Total production averaged 564,845 boe/d for 2008, a 7% decrease from 609,206 boe/d for 2007 (2006 — 580,724 boe/d).

Total production of crude oil and NGLs before royalties decreased 5% to 315,667 bbl/d for 2008 from 331,232 bbl/d for 2007
(2006 - 331,998 bbl/d). The decrease in crude oil and NGLs production from 2007 primarily reflected lower production in the
North Sea and Offshore West Africa due to the timing of field turnarounds and the sale of the Company’s working interest in the
B-Block Fields late in 2007, and in North America due to the cyclic nature of the Company’s thermal production. Crude oil and
NGLs production for 2008 was within the Company’s previously issued guidance of 313,000 to 318,000 bbl/d.

Natural gas production continued to represent the Company’s largest product offering, accounting for 44% of the Company’s total
production in 2008. Total natural gas production before royalties decreased 10% to 1,495 mmcf/d for 2008 from 1,668 mmcf/d
for 2007 (2006 — 1,492 mmcf/d). The decrease in natural gas production from 2007 primarily reflected natural production declines
due to the Company’s strategic decision to reduce natural gas drilling activity to focus on higher return crude oil projects. Natural
gas production for 2008 was within the Company’s previously issued guidance of 1,492 to 1,506 mmcf/d.

For 2009, revised annual production is forecasted to average between 331,000 and 399,000 bbl/d of crude oil and NGLs and
between 1,272 and 1,328 mmcf/d of natural gas.

North America
North America crude oil and NGLs production for 2008 decreased 1% to average 243,826 bbl/d from 246,779 bbl/d for 2007 (2006 —
235,253 bbl/d). The decrease in production from 2007 was primarily due to the cyclic nature of the Company’s thermal production.

North America natural gas production for 2008 decreased 10% to average 1,472 mmcf/d from 1,643 mmcf/d for 2007 (2006 —
1,468 mmcf/d). The decrease in natural gas production from 2007 reflected production declines due to the Company’s strategic
decision to reduce natural gas drilling activity to focus on higher return crude oil projects.

North Sea
North Sea crude oil production for 2008 was 45,274 bbl/d, a decrease of 19% from 55,933 bbl/d for 2007 (2006 — 60,056 bbl/d)
due to increased planned maintenance, the sale of the Company’s working interest in the B-Block Fields late in 2007, expected
production declines and delays in development projects.

Offshore West Africa
Offshore West Africa crude oil production for 2008 decreased 7% to 26,567 bbl/d from 28,520 bbl/d for 2007 (2006 — 36,689 bbl/d).
Production decreased in 2008 due to expected production declines, partially offset by a full year of production at the recently
completed West Espoir development and restoration of certain of the shut-in production at the Baobab Field during the fourth
quarter of 2008.
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CRUDE OIL INVENTORY VOLUMES

The Company recognizes revenue on its crude oil production when title transfers to the customer and delivery has taken place. The
related crude oil volumes by segment, which have not been recognized in revenue, were as follows:

(bbl) 2008 2007 2006
North America, related to pipeline fill 1,097,526 1,097,526
North Sea, related to timing of liftings ... 298,904 | 1.032,723 910,796
Offshore West Africa, related to timing of liftings 8,578 113,774

1,929,699 2,138,827 2,122,096

During 2008, the North America pipeline fill was reduced, increasing cash flow from operations by approximately $18 million.

In addition, during 2008, net production of approximately 127,000 barrels of crude il produced in the Company’s international
operations was deferred and included in inventory at December 31, 2008. Notwithstanding the overall increase in inventory, cash
flow from operations increased by approximately $5 million, as the increase in cash flow from additional sales volumes in the North
Sea more than offset the decrease in cash flow from lower sales volumes in Offshore West Africa due to the timing of liftings.

ROYALTIES

2008 2007 2006

Crude oil and NGLs (/b)) [

North America 7195 . 286

. North Sea . 014 5 .. .013

 Offshore West Africa 640 $ 281
Company average 594 % 4.48

Natural gas s/mc) S
North America S T L
Offshore West Africa Ly 022
Company average $ . $ 1.29
Company average (s/boe) " $ 9.78 | § 6.26 % 5.89
_Percentage of revenue ® B
Crude oiland NGLs ...8%
Natural gas 19%
Boe 12%

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.
(2) Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities.

North America

Government royalties on a significant portion of North America crude oil and NGLs production fall under the oil sands royalty
regime and are calculated on a project by project basis as a percentage of gross revenue less operating, capital and abandonment
costs (“net profit”). For 2008 and prior years, royalties were calculated as 1% of gross revenues until the Company’s capital
investments in the applicable project were fully recovered, at which time the royalty increased to 25% of net profit. Effective
January 1, 2009, changes to the Alberta royalty regime under the NRF include the implementation of a sliding scale for oil sands
royalties ranging from 1% to 9% on a gross revenue basis pre-payout and 25% to 40% on a net revenue basis post-payout
depending on benchmark crude oil pricing.

In addition, effective January 1, 2009, new royalty formulas under the NRF for conventional crude oil and natural gas are to operate
on sliding scales ranging up to 50%, determined by commodity prices and well productivity.

Crude oil and NGLs royalties for 2008 continued to reflect strong realized crude oil prices and averaged approximately 15% of
gross revenues for 2008 and 2007 (2006 — 13%). North America crude oil and NGLs royalties per bbl are anticipated to average
10% to 15% of gross revenue for 2009.

Natural gas royalties per mcf generally fluctuate with natural gas prices and well productivity. Natural gas royalties averaged approximately
18% of gross revenues for 2008 compared to 16% for 2007 (2006 — 19%), primarily due to increased benchmark natural gas prices.
North America natural gas royalties per mcf are anticipated to average 14% to 18% of gross revenue for 2009.

North Sea

North Sea government royalties on crude oil were eliminated effective January 1, 2003. The remaining royalty is a gross overriding
royalty on the Ninian Field.

Offshore West Africa
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Offshore West Africa production in both Cote d'Ivoire and Gabon is governed by the terms of the various Production Sharing
Contracts (“PSCs”). Under the PSCs, revenues are divided into cost recovery oil and profit oil. Cost recovery oil allows the Company
to recover its capital and production costs and the costs carried by the Company on behalf of the Government State Oil Companies.
Profit oil is allocated to the joint venture partners in accordance with their respective equity interests, after a portion has been
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allocated to the Governments. The Governments’ share of profit oil attributable to the Company’s equity interest is allocated
between royalty expense and current income tax expense in accordance with the PSCs. The Company’s capital investments in the
Espoir Fields in Cote d'Ivoire were fully recovered in early 2007, increasing royalty rates and current income taxes in accordance
with the terms of the PSCs.

Royalty rates as a percentage of revenue averaged approximately 15% for 2008 compared to 9% for 2007 (2006 — 4%). The
increase in royalty rates from 2007 was due to the impact of the Company’s full recovery of its capital investment in the Espoir Fields
in 2007 and the resulting increase in profit oil on which the Government’s entitlement is based. The increase was compounded by
the impact of the reduction in the Céte d'Ivoire corporate income tax rate enacted early in 2008, which had the effect of increasing
the allocation of the Government's share of profit oil to royalties. Offshore West Africa royalty rates are anticipated to average 6%
to 10% of gross revenue for 2009, reflecting a lower price environment and the Espoir Field contributing a lower proportion of the
total Offshore West Africa production.

PRODUCTION EXPENSE

2008 2007 2006
.. Crude oil and NGLs ¢s/b) ‘" I
North America .8 14.96 | § 1226 $ 1173
_..NorthSea e .8 2629 5% 2078 § 1757
. Offshore West Africa .8 ..1029 % .83 § 745
Company average $ 16.26 | $ 13.34 % 12.29

_Natural gas s/mch™

... North America $.....0908 08
LooNorthsea S 20708 140
. Offshore West Africa S.....148 s 119
Company average $ 091 % 0.82
Company average ($/boe) $ 975 $ 9.14

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.

North America
North America crude oil and NGLs production expense for 2008 increased 22% to $14.96 per bbl from $12.26 per bbl for 2007
(2006 - $11.73 per bbl). The increase in production expense per bbl from 2007 was primarily a result of the higher cost of natural
gas for fuel for the Company’s thermal operations and increased property tax and power costs. The increase was also a result of
the impact of lower production volumes on the fixed cost portion of production costs.

North America natural gas production expense for 2008 increased 11% to $1.00 per mcf from $0.90 per mcf for 2007 (2006 —
$0.81 per mcf). The increase in production expense per mcf from 2007 was primarily a result of the Company'’s strategic reduction
in natural gas drilling activity, decreasing natural gas production throughout 2008 and increasing production expense per mcf on
the fixed cost portion of production costs.

Production expense per boe for 2009 is anticipated to increase as a result of an overall reduction in budgeted volumes for 2009,
while fixed costs, such as property taxes and lease rentals, are forecasted to continue to escalate.

North Sea
North Sea crude oil production expense increased on a per barrel basis from 2007 primarily due to lower production volumes on a
relatively fixed operating cost base as well as due to higher planned maintenance costs.

Offshore West Africa
Offshore West Africa crude oil production expense increased on a per barrel basis from 2007 primarily due to lower production
volumes on a relatively fixed operating cost base.

MIDSTREAM
($ millions) 2008 2007 2006
. Revenue . . S 7718 7478 72,
Production expense 25 22 23
. Midstream cash flow e 52 52 ™8
Depreciation 8 8 8
Segment earnings before taxes $ 44 |3 44 % 41

The Company’s midstream assets consist of three crude oil pipeline systems and a 50% working interest in an 84-megawatt
cogeneration plant at Primrose. Approximately 80% of the Company’s heavy crude oil production is transported to international
mainline liquid pipelines via the 100% owned and operated ECHO Pipeline, the 62% owned and operated Pelican Lake Pipeline
and the 15% owned Cold Lake Pipeline. The midstream pipeline assets allow the Company to control the transport of its own
production volumes as well as earn third party revenue. This transportation control enhances the Company’s ability to manage the
full range of costs associated with the development and marketing of its heavier crude oil.
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DEPLETION, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION ©

($ millions, except per boe amounts) ? 2008 2007 2006
. North America ..23%0 % 1897
North Sea 340 o297
Offshore West Africa 165 189
Expense e $ 26755 . ..285 5 238
$/boe $ 12.97 | § 12.84 $ 11.27

(1) DD&A excludes depreciation on midstream assets.
(2) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.
(3) Amounts include the impact of intersegment eliminations.

Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization (“DD&A") expense for 2008 decreased 6% to $2,675 million from $2,855 million for

2007 (2006 - $2,383 million), primarily due to the impact of lower sales volumes.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION ACCRETION

($ millions, except per boe amounts)ﬂ) 2008 2007 2006

. North America 388 38
North Sea 03
Offshore West Africa 2 2

. Expense - L. A, 1 S A S SO, .
$/boe $ 034 |} 032 % 0.32

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.

Asset retirement obligation accretion expense represents the increase in the carrying amount of the asset retirement obligation due
to the passage of time. Accretion expense in 2008 was comparable to 2007.

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSE

($ millions, except per boe amounts)“) 2008 2007 2006
Expense S S S 180 /5 o208 % 180
$/boe $ 087 (3% 093 $ 0.85

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.

Administration expense for 2008 decreased from 2007 primarily due to decreased staffing costs, including costs related to the
Company’s share bonus program, as well as due to decreased office lease costs.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

2008 2007 2006

($ millions)

(Recovery) expense $ (52)| $ 193 § 139

52

The Company’s Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) provides current employees (the “option holders”) with the right to elect
to receive common shares or a direct cash payment in exchange for options surrendered. The design of the Option Plan balances
the need for a long-term compensation program to retain employees with the benefits of reducing the impact of dilution on
current Shareholders and the reporting of the obligations associated with stock options. Transparency of the cost of the Option
Plan is increased as changes in the intrinsic value of outstanding stock options are recognized each period. The cash payment
feature provides option holders with substantially the same benefits and allows them to realize the value of their options through
a simplified administration process.

The Company recorded a $52 million ($38 million after-tax) stock-based compensation recovery during 2008 due to a 33% decrease
in the Company’s share price for the year ended December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2008 - C$48.75; December 31, 2007 -
C$72.58:; December 31, 2006 — C$62.15; December 31, 2005 - C$57.63), offset by the impact of normal course graded vesting of
options granted in prior periods and the impact of vested options exercised or surrendered during the year. As required by Canadian
GAAP, the Company records a liability for potential cash payments to settle its outstanding employee stock options each reporting
period based on the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the market price of the Company’s common
shares, pursuant to a graded vesting schedule. The liability is revalued at each reporting date to reflect changes in the market price
of the Company’s common shares and the options exercised or surrendered in the year, with the net change recognized in net
earnings, or capitalized during the construction period in the case of the Horizon Project. For the year ended December 31, 2008,
the Company recorded a $23 million recovery on previously capitalized stock-based compensation on the Horizon Project (2007 -
$58 million capitalized; 2006 — $79 million capitalized).

The stock-based compensation liability reflected the Company’s potential cash liability should all the vested options be surrendered
for a cash payout at the market price on December 31, 2008. In periods when substantial stock price changes occur, the Company’s
earnings are subject to significant volatility. The Company utilizes its stock-based compensation plan to attract and retain employees
in a competitive environment. All employees participate in this plan.
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For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company paid $207 million for stock options surrendered for cash settlement (2007

- $375 million; 2006 — $264 million).

INTEREST EXPENSE
($ millions, except per boe amounts and interest rates) 2008 2007 2006
Expense, gross . S .. 632 % 336
Less: capitélized interest, Horizon Project 481 356 196
Expense, net 276 % 140
Y0 629 124 5 066
Average effective interest rate 5.1% 5.5% 5.7%

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.

Gross interest expense and the Company’s average effective interest rate decreased from 2007 primarily due to a decrease in short
term borrowing rates during the last half of 2008 and the impact of the stronger Canadian dollar during the first half of 2008.

On commencement of operations of Phase 1 of the Horizon Project, interest capitalization will cease on this Phase and interest
expense will increase accordingly.

RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES
The Company utilizes various derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity price, currency and interest rate exposures.

The Company’s risk management program is not used for speculative purposes.

($ millions) 2008 2007 2006
... Crude oil and NGLs financial instruments $ 202015 505 % 1395
..Natural gas financial instruments L343 70
Foreign currency contracts - —
Realized loss 162 % 1,325
..Crude oil and NGLs financial instruments 1244 8 . ...(736)
. Natural gas finan 156 ..(260)
Foreign currency contracts — (17)
Unrealized (gain) loss $ (3,090)( 3 1,400 $ (1,013)
Net (gain) loss $ (1,230) $ 1,562 $ 312

The net realized loss (gain) from crude oil and natural gas financial instruments would have decreased (increased) the Company's

average realized prices as follows:

2008 2007 2006
..Crude oil and NGLs s 7 e 3 1745 | § 418 8 ....0057
Natural gas ($/mcf) $ (0.04)| $ (0.56) $ (0.13)

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.

Complete details related to outstanding derivative financial instruments at December 31, 2008 are disclosed in note 13 to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The commodity derivative financial instruments currently outstanding have not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes
(the “non-designated hedges”). The fair value of these non-designated hedges is based on prevailing forward commodity prices
in effect at the end of each reporting period and is reflected in risk management activities in consolidated net earnings. The cash
settlement amount of the commodity derivative financial instruments may vary materially depending upon the underlying crude oil
and natural gas prices at the time of final settlement, as compared to their mark-to-market value at December 31, 2008.

Due to changes in crude oil and natural gas forward pricing and the reversal of prior period unrealized gains and losses, the
Company recorded a net unrealized gain of $3,090 million ($2,112 million after-tax) on its risk management activities for the year
ended December 31, 2008 (2007 — $1,400 million unrealized loss, $977 million after-tax; 2006 — $1,013 million unrealized gain,
$674 million after-tax).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

($ millions) 2008 2007 2006
LNetrealized (Qain) 0SS $ (ays .58 . 02
Net unrealized loss (gain) " 832 (524) 134
Net loss (gain) $ 718 | $ 471) % 122

(1)  Amounts are reported net of the effect of cross currency swap hedges.
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The Company’s North Sea operations are classified as self-sustaining for the purposes of foreign currency translation. The North
Sea operations are initially measured in US dollars and then translated to Canadian dollars using the current rate method, whereby
assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date, while revenue
and expenses are translated into Canadian dollars using the monthly average exchange rate. Foreign currency gains or losses
arising on the translation of non-US dollar monetary assets and liabilities are included in net earnings while subsequent gains or
losses arising on translation to Canadian dollars are deferred and included in accumulated other comprehensive income.

During 2008, the Company determined that its operations in Offshore West Africa were now operationally and financially
independent and the current rate method of translation was prospectively adopted for translation of the financial statements
of the Offshore West African subsidiaries as at December 31, 2008. Prior to this determination, the Company’s Offshore West
Africa foreign operations were classified as integrated for the purposes of foreign currency translation, and accordingly, Offshore
West Africa foreign operations and foreign currency transactions and balances held in North America were directly translated into
Canadian dollars using the temporal method. All related foreign exchange gains or losses were included in net earnings.

As a result of foreign currency translation, the Company's operating results are affected by the fluctuations in the exchange rates
between the Canadian dollar, US dollar, and UK pound sterling. A majority of the Company’s revenue is based on reference to US
dollar benchmark prices. An increase in the value of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar results in decreased revenue
from the sale of the Company’s production. Conversely a decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar
results in increased revenue from the sale of the Company’s production. Production expenses and future income tax liabilities in
the North Sea are subject to foreign currency fluctuations due to changes in the exchange rate of the UK pound sterling to the US
dollar. The value of the Company’s US dollar denominated debt is also impacted by the value of the Canadian dollar in relation to
the US dollar.

The net unrealized foreign exchange loss in 2008 was primarily related to the weakening of the Canadian dollar in relation to
the US dollar with respect to the US dollar denominated debt, partially offset by the impact of the re-measurement of North Sea
future income tax liabilities denominated in UK pounds sterling to US dollars. Included in the net unrealized loss for the year ended
December 31, 2008 was an unrealized gain of $449 million related to the impact of cross currency swap hedges. The net realized
foreign exchange gain for 2008 was primarily due to the result of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on settlement of working
capital items denominated in US dollars or UK pounds sterling and the repayment of US dollar denominated debt. The Canadian
dollar ended the year at US$0.8166 compared to US$1.0120 at December 31, 2007 (December 31, 2006 — US$0.8581).

TAXES
($ millions, except income tax rates) 2008 2007 2006
U OO e $ 245 |5 120 0% .29
Deferred (67) 44 37
Taxes other than income tax $ 178 | $ 165 $ 256
. North America e 838 %8s 143
. North Sea - S 30| ..210 .30
Offshore West Africa 128 74 49
Current income tax e e e e et e 500, 380 222
Future income tax 1,607 (456) 652
, S B e 2,108 | .. a6 ... 874 .
Income tax rate and other legislative changes @ ® 41 864 395
$ 2,149 | § 788 % 1,269
Effective income tax rate before income tax rate
and other Iegislative changes 30.3% 31.1% 37.3%
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(1) Includes the effects of one time recoveries of $19 million due to British Columbia corporate income tax rate reductions and $22 million due to Cote d'lvoire
corporate income tax rate reductions substantively enacted or enacted during 2008.

(2) Includes the effect of one time recoveries of $864 million due to Canadian Federal income tax rate reductions and other legislative changes substantively enacted
or enacted during 2007.

(3) Includes the effect of the following:
o aone time expense of $110 million related to the increased supplementary charge on oil and gas profits in the UK North Sea enacted in 2006.
o aone time recovery of $438 million due to Canadian Federal, Alberta and Saskatchewan corporate income tax rate reductions enacted in 2006.
o aone time recovery of $67 million due to Cote d'Ivoire, Offshore West Africa corporate income tax rate reductions enacted in 2006.

Taxes other than income tax primarily includes current and deferred PRT, which is charged on certain fields in the North Sea at the rate
of 50% of net operating income, after allowing for certain deductions including related capital and abandonment expenditures.

Taxable income from the conventional crude oil and natural gas business in Canada is primarily generated through partnerships,
with the related income taxes payable in subsequent periods. North America current income taxes have been provided on the basis
of this corporate structure. In addition, North America and North Sea current income taxes will vary depending on available income
tax deductions related to the nature, timing and amount of capital expenditures incurred in any particular year.

For 2009, based on budgeted prices and the current availability of tax pools, the Company expects to incur current income tax
expense in Canada of $20 million to $50 million and in the North Sea of $350 million to $450 million.
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NET CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
($ millions) 2008 2007 2006

_Expenditures on property, plant and equipment

... Net property acquisitions (dispositions) @ S B9s 4T33
_.Ltand acquisition and retention 95 20
LoSeismic evaluations V24130
... Well drilling, completion and equipping 1,664 1642 2340
Production and related facilities 1,282 1,205 1,314
Total net reserve replacement expenditures 3,475 3,027 8,727

_..Phase 1 constructioncosts 2,732 | 2740 2,768
_...Phase 1 operating and capital inventory
_.Phase 1 commissioningcosts

_______ Phases 2/3 COStS . S 79
Capitalized interest, stock-based compensation and other 480 437 338
Total Horizon Project @ 3,912 3,301 3,185

B . S S
LAbandonments 38 AT 5
Head office 17 20 26
Total net capital expenditures $ 7451 | % 6,425 $ 12,025
...Bysegment .. e
. North America L1936
NorthSea . e ....646
.. Offshore West Africa 134

. Other

.. Horizon Project
Midstream

__ Abandonments @
Head office

Total $ 7451 |9 6,425 % 12,025
(1) Net capital expenditures exclude adjustments related to differences between carrying value and tax value, and other fair value adjustments.

(2) Includes Business Combinations.

(3) Net expenditures for the Horizon Project also include the impact of intersegment eliminations.

(4) Abandonments represent expenditures to settle ARO and have been reflected as capital expenditures in this table.

The Company’s operating strategy is focused on building a diversified asset base that is balanced among various products. In
order to facilitate efficient operations, the Company concentrates its activities in core regions where it can dominate the land base
and infrastructure. The Company focuses on maintaining its land inventories to enable the continuous exploitation of play types
and geological trends, greatly reducing overall exploration risk. By dominating infrastructure, the Company is able to maximize
utilization of its production facilities, thereby increasing control over production costs.

Net capital expenditures for 2008 were $7,451 million compared to $6,425 million for 2007 (2006 — $12,025 million). Excluding
the ACC acquisition, net capital expenditures were $7,270 million for 2006. Capital expenditures in 2008 primarily reflected the
continued progress on the Company’s larger, future growth projects, most notably the Horizon Project, Primrose East, and Gabon,
offset by the effects of an overall strategic reduction in the North America natural gas drilling program.

During 2008, the Company drilled a total of 1,121 net wells consisting of 269 natural gas wells, 682 crude oil wells, 131 stratigraphic
test and service wells, and 39 wells that were dry. This compared to 1,322 net wells drilled for 2007 (2006 — 1,738 net wells).
The Company achieved an overall success rate of 96% for 2008, excluding the stratigraphic test and service wells (2007 - 91%;
2006 - 91%).

North America
North America, excluding the Horizon Project, accounted for approximately 32% of the total capital expenditures for the year
ended December 31, 2008 compared to approximately 39% for 2007 (2006 — 67%).

During 2008, the Company targeted 280 net natural gas wells, including 27 wells in Northeast British Columbia, 104 wells in the
Northern Plains region, 70 wells in Northwest Alberta, and 79 wells in the Southern Plains region. The Company also targeted
704 net crude oil wells during the year. The majority of these wells were concentrated in the Company’s crude oil Northern Plains
region where 415 primary heavy crude oil wells, 110 Pelican Lake crude oil wells, 74 thermal crude oil wells and 7 light crude oil
wells were drilled. Another 98 wells targeting light crude oil were drilled outside the Northern Plains region.

Due to significant differences in relative commodity prices between crude oil and natural gas throughout most of 2008, the
Company continued to access its large crude oil drilling inventory to maximize value in both the short and long term. Due to the
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Company’s focus on drilling crude oil wells in 2007 and 2008 and as a result of royalty changes under the Alberta NRF, natural gas
drilling activities have been reduced to manage overall capital spending. Deferred natural gas well locations have been retained in
the Company's prospect inventory.

As part of the phased expansion of its In-Situ Oil Sands Assets, the Company is continuing to develop its Primrose thermal projects.
During 2008, the Company drilled 74 thermal oil wells, 2 water source wells, and 19 stratigraphic test wells and observation wells.
Overall Primrose thermal production for 2008 was approximately 65,000 bbl/d (2007 — 64,000 bbl/d; 2006 — 64,000 bbl/d).

The Primrose East Expansion, a new facility located 15 kilometers from the existing Primrose South steam plant and 25 kilometers
from the Wolf Lake central processing facility, was completed and first steaming commenced in September 2008, with first
production achieved in the fourth quarter of 2008. Subsequent to December 31, 2008, operational issues on one of the pads has
caused steaming to cease on all well pads in the Primrose East project area and the Company is working on rectifying the issues.

The next planned phase of the Company’s In-Situ Oil Sands Assets expansion is the Kirby project located 120 kilometers north of
the existing Primrose facilities. During 2007, the Company filed a combined application and Environmental Impact Assessment for
this project with Alberta Environment and the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board. Final corporate sanction and project scope will
be impacted by environmental regulations and their associated costs. Subject to regulatory approval, crude oil pricing, and capital
costs, the Company may proceed with the detailed engineering and design work.

Development of new pads and secondary recovery conversion projects at Pelican Lake continued as expected throughout 2008.
Drilling consisted of 110 horizontal crude oil wells, with plans to drill 58 additional horizontal crude oil wells in 2009. The response
from the water and polymer flood projects continues to be positive. Pelican Lake production averaged approximately 37,000 bbl/d
in 2008 (2007 — 34,000 bbl/d; 2006 — 30,000 bbl/d).

For 2009, the Company’s overall drilling activity in North America is expected to comprise approximately 142 natural gas wells and
465 crude oil wells, excluding stratigraphic and service wells.

Horizon Project

The Company continued the construction, commissioning and staged start up of the Horizon Project, with first production of
synthetic crude oil from Phase 1 achieved February 28, 2009, representing a major milestone. Currently, the Company is filling all
product tanks in preparation for blending and pipeline shipment.

All major components have been completed and are fully operational, with the exception of the Distillate Hydrotreating Plant
(Plant 42). The Naphtha and Gas Oil Hydrotreaters (Plants 41 and 43 respectively) are fully operational and currently capable of
producing approximately 55,000 bbl/d. Upon completion of Plant 42, the focus will be on reaching full production capacity of
110,000 bbl/d. Plant 42 has now been turned over to operations for commissioning and is targeted to be operational by the end
of April 2009, subject to any unforeseen start up issues.

During the initial stages of the ramp-up of production, the production volumes will fluctuate on a weekly basis until the end of the second
quarter of 2009 when the Company expects to see a steady ramp up to full production by the end of 2009. The Company will work
towards full capacity throughout 2009 as the plant continues to be fine tuned to design rates with a focus on safety and reliability.

Phase 1 of the Horizon Project was designed, engineered, and constructed in an extremely volatile and inflationary business
environment with final construction costs totaling approximately $9.7 billion. Subsequent planned expansion through Phases 2/3,
further broken down into a series of four Tranches, are being reprofiled with the goal of attaining better cost management.

North Sea

In 2008, the Company continued with its planned program of infill drilling, recompletions, workovers and waterflood optimizations.
During 2008, 4.1 net wells were drilled, including 0.9 net water injectors, with an additional 1.2 net wells drilling at year end.
Specifically, two production wells were completed at Murchison and one production well was completed at Ninian, with an
additional production well in progress at Ninian at year end. The Company also delivered one water injection well at Ninian and
further increased volumes injected into the Ninian reservoir.

The Company continued with its planned investment in its long-term facilities and infrastructure strategy and successfully carried
out maintenance turnarounds at all five installations during the year. Within the Murchison turnaround the Company successfully
implemented a new control system, which has resulted in improved platform uptime.

Offshore West Africa
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During 2008, 4.1 net wells were drilled with 0.9 net wells drilling at year end.

Development drilling on West Espoir was completed in early 2008, on budget and on time. At the Baobab Field, the Company
delivered three new wells from the drilling program, with a fourth well due to be completed in the second quarter of 2009.

At the 90% owned and operated Olowi Field in offshore Gabon, the Conductor Supported Platform was installed, construction
was completed on the FPSO, which arrived on location in February 2009, and construction continued on the wellhead towers and
subsea facilities. First crude oil is targeted for late in the first quarter or early in the second quarter of 2009.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

($ millions, except ratios) 2008 2007 2006
~ Working capital (deficit) ® e 339208 (13898 (832)
Long-term debt & $ 13,016 | $ 10,940 $ 11,043

_Shareholders’ equity

_Sharecapital s 2674 8 2562

_ Retanedearnings 10575 .. .8141
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 72 (13)
Total $ 13,321 § 10,690
Debt to book capitalization e 45% .....01%

. Debt to market ca ON O 2% 5%
After tax return on average common shareholders’ equity @ 33% 2% o 2T%
After tax return on average capital employed @ 19% 12% 17%

(1) Caleulated as current assets less current liabilities, excluding the current portion of long-term debt.

(2) Includes the current portion of long-term debt (2008 — $420 million; 2007 and 2006 — $nil).

(3) Long-term debt at December 31, 2008 and 2007 is stated at its carrying value, net of fair value adjustments, original issue discounts and transaction costs. Amounts
for 2006 were not adjusted for these items.

4) Calculated as current and long-term debt; divided by the book value of common shareholders’ equity plus current and long-term debt.

5) Calculated as current and long-term debt; divided by the market vaiue of common shareholders’ equity plus current and long-term debt.

6) Calculated as net earnings for the year; as a percentage of average common shareholders’ equity for the year.

7) Calculated as net earnings plus after-tax interest expense for the year; as a percentage of average capital employed. Average capital employed is the average
shareholders’ equity and current and long-term debt for the year, including $10,678 million in average capital employed related to the Horizon Project (2007 -
$7,001 million; 2006 — $3,760 million).

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s capital resources consisted primarily of cash flow from operations, available bank credit facilities

and access to debt capital markets. Cash flow from operations is dependent on factors discussed in the "Risks and Uncertainties”

section of this MD&A. The Company’s ability to renew existing bank credit facilities and raise new debt is also dependent upon these

factors, as well as maintaining an investment grade debt rating and the condition of capital and credit markets.

The ongoing worldwide financial and economic events have resulted in a significant tightening of the availability and cost of new
sources of liquidity including bank credit facilities and funds derived from debt capital markets. In light of these credit challenges,
the Company has undertaken a thorough review of its liquidity sources as well as its exposure to counterparties and has concluded
that its capital resources are sufficient to meet ongoing short-, medium- and long-term commitments. Specifically, the Company
continues to believe that its internally generated cash flow from operations supported by the implementation of its hedge policy,
the flexibility of its capital expenditure programs supported by its multi-year financial plans, its existing bank credit facilities and
its ability to raise new debt on commercially acceptable terms, will provide sufficient liquidity to sustain its operations in the short,
medium and long term and support its growth strategy. Further, the Company believes that its counterparties currently have the
financial capacity to settle outstanding obligations in the normal course of business.

On an ongoing basis, the Company continues to focus on the following areas:

@ Monitoring cash flow from operations, which is the primary source of funds,

Reviewing bank credit facilities and public debt indentures to ensure they are in compliance with applicable covenant
packages;

@ Monitoring credit markets, governments, world banks and the Company’s bank syndicates to identify associated risks and
exposures;

& Maintaining an active commodity risk management program that manages exposure to crude oil and natural gas price volatility.
The Company believes this is an effective tool to manage short- and medium-term changes in spot commodity prices. The
Company also monitors its commodity risk management counterparties to ensure they are in position to settle obligations
within the contractually agreed terms of settlement;

Monitoring exposure to individual customers, contractors, suppliers and joint venture partners on a regular basis and when
appropriate, ensuring parental guarantees or letters of credit are in place to minimize the impact in the event of default; and

@ Monitoring the Company’s 2009 capital and operating plans to provide the required flexibility to deal with commodity price
volatility, commitments in respect of capital and operating expenditures, and commitments to retire its non-revolving bank
credit facility maturing in October 2009. The Company actively manages the allocation of maintenance and growth capital
to ensure it is expended in a prudent and appropriate manner. The Company continued the construction, commissioning and
staged start up of the Horizon Project, with first production of synthetic crude oil from Phase 1 achieved February 28, 2009.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $2,082 million of available credit under its bank credit facilities, which together with
cash flow from operating activities to be generated in 2009 supported by its commodity risk management program and the ability
to actively manage the capital expenditure programs, is forecasted to be sufficient to repay the $2,350 million non-revolving bank
credit facility maturing October 2009. Further, the Company’s current debt ratings are BBB (high) with a negative trend by DBRS
Limited, Baa2 with a stable outlook by Moody’s Investors Service and BBB with a stable outlook by Standard & Poor’s.
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Further details related to the Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2008 are discussed below and in note 5 to the Company’s
audited annual consolidated financial statements.

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s working capital was $392 million, excluding the current portion of long-term debt and
including both the current portion of the net mark-to-market asset for risk management derivative financial instruments of
$1,851 million and the current portion of the stock-based compensation liability of $159 million, together with related future
income tax liabilities of $585 million. The cash settlement amount of the risk management derivative financial instruments may
vary materially depending upon the underlying crude oil and natural gas prices at the time of final settlement, as compared to their
mark-to-market value at December 31, 2008. The settlement of the stock-based compensation liability is dependant upon both
the surrender of vested stock options for cash settlement by employees and the value of the Company’s share price at the time
of surrender.

Long-term debt was $13,016 million at December 31, 2008, resulting in a debt to book capitalization level of 41% as at December 31,
2008 (December 31, 2007 — 45%; December 31, 2006 - 51%). This ratio is near the midpoint of the 35% to 45% range targeted
by management, including the impact of capital spending on the Horizon Project. The Company remains committed to maintaining
a strong balance sheet and flexible capital structure. The Company has hedged a portion of its crude oil and natural gas production
for 2009 and 2010 at prices that protect investment returns to ensure ongoing balance sheet strength and the completion of its
capital expenditure programs. In the future, the Company may also consider the divestiture of certain non-strategic and non-core
properties to gain additional balance sheet flexibility.

The Company’s commodity hedging program reduces the risk of volatility in commodity prices and supports the Company’s cash
flow for its capital expenditures programs. This program currently allows for the hedging of up to 60% of the near 12 months
budgeted production and up to 40% of the following 13 to 24 months estimated production. For the purpose of this program,
the purchase of crude oil put options is in addition to the above parameters. As at December 31, 2008, in accordance with the
policy, approximately 6% of budgeted crude oil volumes were hedged using collars for 2009 and approximately 33% of budgeted
natural gas volumes were hedged for the first quarter of 2009. In addition, 92,000 bbl/d of crude oil volumes are protected by put
options for 2009 at a strike price of US$100.00 per bbl.

The Company had the following net commodity derivative financial instruments outstanding as at December 31, 2008:

Remaining term Volume Weighted average price Index
_Crudeoil e N
Crude oil price collars ....Jan 2009 - Dec 2009 25000bbid Lol
e e APr 2009 - Jun 2009 4,000bbld wii
Crude oil puts Jan 2009 - Dec 2009 92,000 bbl/d WTI
_Naturalgas . .
Natural gas price collars " Jan 2009 — Mar 2009 500,000 GJ/d $6.00 - C$8.63 AECO

(1) Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company entered into 220,000 GJ/d of C$6.00 — C$8.00 natural gas AECO collars for the period January to December 2010.

The Company’s outstanding commodity derivative financial instruments are expected to be settled monthly based on the applicable
index pricing for the respective contract month.

In addition to the financial derivatives noted above, subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company entered into natural gas physical
sales contracts for 400,000 GJ/d at an average fixed price of C$5.29 per GJ at AECO for the period April to December 2009.

LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company’s long-term debt of $13,016 million at December 31, 2008 was comprised of drawings under its bank credit facilities
and debt issuances under medium and long-term unsecured notes.

Bank Credit Facilities
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As at December 31, 2008, the Company had in place unsecured bank credit facilities of $6,232 million, comprised of:

a $125 million demand credit facility;

a non-revolving syndicated credit facility of $2,350 million maturing October 2009, as discussed below;
a revolving syndicated credit facility of $2,230 million maturing June 2012;

a revolving syndicated credit facility of $1,500 million maturing June 2012; and

a £15 million demand credit facility related to the Company’s North Sea operations.

B 008

During 2007, one of the revolving syndicated credit facilities was increased from $1,825 million to $2,230 million and a $500 million
demand credit facility was terminated. The revolving syndicated credit facilities were also extended and now mature June 2012. Both
facilities are extendible annually for one year periods at the mutual agreement of the Company and the lenders. If the facilities are not
extended, the full amount of the outstanding principal would be repayable on the maturity date. Borrowings under these facilities can
be made by way of Canadian dollar and US dollar bankers’ acceptances, and LIBOR, US base rate and Canadian prime loans.
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In conjunction with the closing of the acquisition of ACC in November 2006, the Company executed a $3,850 million, non-revolving
syndicated credit facility maturing October 2009. In March 2007, $1,500 million was repaid, reducing the facility to $2,350 million.
During 2009, the Company plans to fully retire this facility from its existing borrowing capacity under its other long-term bank
credit facilities, which were $2,050 million at December 31, 2008, supported by cash flow from operating activities, including
the commodity risk management activities. In accordance with these plans, and repayments of $420 million made subsequent to
December 31, 2008 on this facility, $420 million has been classified as current.

In addition to the outstanding debt, letters of credit and financial guarantees aggregating $372 million, including $300 million
related to the Horizon Project, were outstanding at December 31, 2008.

Medium-Term Notes
The Company has $2,600 million remaining on its outstanding $3,000 million base shelf prospectus filed in September 2007 that
allows for the issue of medium-term notes in Canada until October 2009. If issued, these securities will bear interest as determined
at the date of issuance.

In December 2007, the Company issued $400 million of unsecured notes maturing December 2010, bearing interest at 5.50%.
Proceeds from the securities issued were used to repay bankers’ acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities.

During 2007, $125 million of the 7.40% unsecured debentures due March 1, 2007 were repaid.

Senior Unsecured Notes
The adjustable rate senior unsecured notes bear interest at 6.54%, with the final annual principal repayment of US$31 million due
in May 2009. During 2008 and 2007, US$31 million of the senior unsecured notes were repaid each year.

US Dollar Debt Securities
In January 2008, the Company issued US$1,200 million of unsecured notes under a US base shelf prospectus, comprised of
US$400 million of 5.15% unsecured notes due February 2013, US$400 million of 5.90% unsecured notes due February 2018, and
US$400 million of 6.75% unsecured notes due February 2039. Proceeds from the securities issued were used to repay bankers’
acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities. After issuing these securities, the Company has US$ 1,800 million remaining
on its outstanding US$3,000 million base shelf prospectus filed in September 2007 that allows for the issue of US dollar debt securities
in the United States until October 2009. If issued, these securities will bear interest as determined at the date of issuance.

During 2008, US$8 million of US dollar debt securities were repaid.

In March 2007, the Company issued US$2,200 million of unsecured notes, comprised of US$1,100 million of unsecured notes
maturing May 2017 and US$1,100 million of unsecured notes maturing March 2038, bearing interest at 5.70% and 6.25%,
respectively. Concurrently, the Company entered into cross currency swaps to fix the Canadian dollar interest and principal repayment
amounts on the entire US$1,100 million of unsecured notes due May 2017 at 5.10% and C$1,287 million. The Company also
entered into a cross currency swap to fix the Canadian dollar interest and principal repayment amounts on US$550 million of
unsecured notes due March 2038 at 5.76% and C$644 million. Proceeds from the securities issued were used to repay bankers’
acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities.

During 2008, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps that had been designated as a fair value hedge of US$350 million
of 5.45% unsecured notes due October 2012. Accordingly, the Company ceased revaluing the related debt from the date of
termination of the interest rate swaps for subsequent changes in fair value. The fair value adjustment of $20 million at the date of
termination is being amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the debt.

During 2007, The Company de-designated the portion of the US dollar denominated debt previously hedged against its net
investment in US dollar based self-sustaining foreign operations. Accordingly, all foreign exchange (gains) losses arising each period
on US dollar denominated long-term debt are now recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings.

SHARE CAPITAL
As at December 31, 2008, there were 540,991,000 common shares outstanding and 30,962,000 stock options outstanding. As at
March 3, 2009, the Company had 541,149,000 common shares outstanding and 30,285,000 stock options outstanding.

The Company did not renew the Normal Course Issuer Bid during 2008. During 2007 and 2008, the Company did not purchase
any common shares for cancellation (2006 — 485,000 common shares were purchased at an average price of $57.33 per common
share for a total cost of $28 million).

In March 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an increase in the annual dividend paid by the Company to $0.42
per common share for 2009. The increase represents a 5% increase from the prior year. The dividend policy undergoes a periodic
review by the Board of Directors and is subject to change. In February 2008, an increase in the annual dividend paid by the
Company was approved to $0.40 per common share for 2008. The increase represented an 18% increase from 2007.
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COMMITMENTS AND OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into various commitments that will have an impact on the Company’s future
operations. These commitments primarily relate to firm commitments for gathering, processing and transmission services; operating
leases relating to offshore FPSOs, drilling rigs and office space; expenditures relating to ARO; as well as long-term debt and interest
payments. As at December 31, 2008, no entities were consolidated under CICA Handbook Accounting Guideline 15, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities”. The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments as at December 31, 2008:

($ millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter
Product transportation
and pipeline 21908 184 % 159 % 1338 124 8 1075
Offshore equipment
....operatinglease S 1755 145 % 44 s 1168 L7 398
_Offshore drilling $ 251 % 62 % B S -5 -
Asset retirement obligations V $ BT T A L 6 3 6. % .. 4443
long-termdebt® % 2385 % 400§ 490 5 429 % $......6707
Interest expense S . 610 % . 565 % ....543.% . 490 % $ 5992
Officelease ..% .....2>.% ....2.% 2% 2% 23 L
Other $ 321 § 180 $ 17 3% 12 % 19

(1) Amounts represent management’s estimate of the future undiscounted payments to settle ARO related to resource properties, facilities, and production platforms,
based on current legislation and industry operating practices. Amounts disclosed for the period 2009 — 2013 represent the minimum required expenditures to meet
these obligations. Actual expenditures in any particular year may exceed these minimum amounts.

(2) The long-term debt represents principal repayments only and does not reflect fair value adjustments, original issue discounts or transaction costs. No debt repayments
are reflected for $1,725 million of revolving bank credit facilities due to the extendable nature of the facilities.

(3) Interest expense amounts represent the scheduled fixed rate and variable rate cash payments related to long-term debt. Interest on variable rate long-term debt was
estimated based upon prevailing interest rates as of December 31, 2008.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is defendant and plaintiff in a number of legal actions that arise in the normal course of business. In addition,
the Company is subject to certain contractor construction claims related to the Horizon Project. The Company believes that any
liabilities that might arise pertaining to any such matters would not have a material effect on its consolidated financial position.

RESERVES
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For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company retained a qualified independent reserves evaluator, Sproule Associates
Limited (”Sproule”), to evaluate 100% of the Company’s conventional proved, as well as proved and probable crude oil, NGLs
and natural gas reserves® and prepare Evaluation Reports on these reserves. The Company has been granted an exemption from
certain of the provisions of National Instrument 51-101 - “Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities” (“NI 51-101"), which
prescribes the standards for the preparation and disclosure of reserves and related information for companies listed in Canada. This
exemption allows the Company to substitute SEC requirements for certain disclosures required under NI 51-101. There are three
principal differences between the two standards. The first is the requirement under NI 51-101 to disclose both proved and proved and
probable reserves, as well as the related net present value of future net revenues using forecast prices and costs. The second is in the
definition of proved reserves; however, as discussed in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook ("COGEH"), the standards that
NI 51-101 employs, the difference in estimated proved reserves based on constant pricing and costs between the two standards
is not material. The third is the requirement to disclose a gross reserve reconciliation (before the consideration of royalties).
The Company discloses its conventional crude oil, NGLs and natural gas reserve reconciliations net of royalties in adherence to
SEC requirements.

The Company annually discloses proved conventional reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows
using year end constant prices and costs as mandated by the SEC in the supplementary oil and gas information section of the
Company’s Annual Report and in its annual Form 40-F filing with the SEC. The Company has elected to provide the net present
value? of these same conventional proved reserves as well as its conventional proved and probable reserves and the net present
value of these reserves under the same parameters as additional voluntary information. The Company has also elected to provide
both proved and proved and probable conventional reserves and the net present value of these reserves using forecast prices and
costs as additional voluntary information, which is disciosed in the Company’s Annual Information Form.

(1) Conventional crude oil, NGLs and natural gas reserves include all of the Company’s light/medium, primary heavy, and thermal crude oil, natural gas, coal bed
methane and NGLs reserves. They do not include the Company’s oil sands mining reserves.

(2) Net present values of conventional reserves are based upon discounted cash flows prior to the consideration of income taxes and existing asset abandonment liabilities.
Future development costs and associated material well abandonment liabilities have been applied.
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The following tables summarize the Company’s proved conventional crude oil and natural gas reserves, net of royalties, as at
December 31, 2008 and 2007:

North North Offshore
Crude oil and NGLs (mmbb)) America Sea West Africa Total

. Sales of reserves in place T - T -

. Economic revisions d

erves, December 31, 2007 0920 03101281308

ge. G ® Qo
28 (81) 8 45)

Revisions of prior estimates L 38 0 P

Reserves, December 31, 2008 948 256 142 1,346

The Company’s net proved conventional crude oil reserves at December 31, 2008 totaled 1,346 mmbbl. Approximately 88% of
production was replaced by reserve additions during 2008. Extensions and discoveries resulting from exploration and development
activities amounted to 51 mmbbl, while net positive revisions amounted to 11 mmbbl.

North North Offshore
Natural gas (bcf) America Sea West Africa Total

_ Reserves, December 31,2007

_Net conventional proved reserves

. Reserves, € B -2 - A - S
Extensions and discoveries o M0 =

. Purchases of reserves in place
. Sales of reserves in
_ Production

__Economic revisions
Revisions of prior estimates

457,
(69).

oy

Reserves, December 31, 2008 3,684

The Company’s net proved conventional natural gas reserves at December 31, 2008 totaled 3,684 bcf. Approximately 104% of
production was replaced by reserve additions during 2008. Extensions and discoveries resulting from exploration and development
activities amounted to 140 bcf, while net positive revisions amounted to 202 bcf.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company retained a qualified independent reserves evaluator, GU Petroleum
Consultants Ltd. ("GL"), to evaluate Phase 1 to Phase 3 of the Company’s Horizon Project and prepare an Evaluation Report on
the Company’s proved, as well as proved and probable oil sands mining reserves. These reserves were evaluated adhering to the
requirements of SEC Industry Guide 7 using year end constant pricing and have been disclosed separately from the Company’s
conventional proved and proved and probable crude oil, NGLs and natural gas reserves.

_Synthetic crude oil reserves (' e
Net reserves, after royalties (mmbbl) 2008 2007

Lo L ... IS4 )
Proved and probable 2,944 2,680

(1) SCO reserves are based on the upgrading of bitumen using technologies implemented at the Horizon Project.

The net proved SCO reserves increased by 185 mmbbl, while net proved and probable SCO reserves increased by 264 mmbbl. The
increases are primarily due to a low constant dollar crude oil price, deferring project payout and thereby reducing royalties paid.

The Reserves Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors has met with and carried out independent due diligence procedures
with each of Sproule and GLJ to review the qualifications of and procedures used by each evaluator in determining the estimate of
the Company’s quantities and net present value of remaining conventional crude oil, NGLs and natural gas reserves as well as the
Company’s quantity of oil sands mining reserves.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company is exposed to various operational risks inherent in exploring, developing, producing and marketing crude oil and natural

gas and the mining and upgrading of bitumen into SCO. These inherent risks include, but are not limited to, the following items:

Economic risk of finding, producing and replacing reserves at a reasonable cost, including the risk of reserve revisions due
to economic and technical factors. Reserve revisions can have a positive or negative impact on asset valuations, ARO and
depletion rates;

Prevailing prices of crude oil and natural gas;

@ Regulatory risk related to approval for exploration and development activities, which can add to costs or cause delays in
projects;

@ Labour risk associated with securing the manpower necessary to complete capital projects in a timely and cost effective
manner;

@ Operating hazards and other difficulties inherent in the exploration for and production and sale of crude oil and natural gas;

Success of exploration and development activities;

Timing and success of integrating the business and operations of acquired companies;

@ Credit risk related to non-payment for sales contracts or non-performance by counterparties to contracts;

Interest rate risk associated with the Company’s ability to secure financing on commercially acceptable terms;

@ Foreign exchange risk due to fluctuating exchange rates on the Company’s US dollar denominated debt and as the majority of
sales are based in US dollars;

B Environmental impact risk associated with exploration and development activities, including GHG;

m Risk of catastrophic loss due to fire, explosion or acts of nature;

@ Geopolitical risks associated with changing governmental policies, social instability and other political, economic or diplomatic

developments in the Company’s operations; and
@ Other circumstances affecting revenue and expenses.

The Company uses a variety of means to help mitigate and/or minimize these risks. The Company maintains a comprehensive
property loss and business interruption insurance program to reduce risk to an acceptable level. Operational control is enhanced
by focusing efforts on large core areas with high working interests and by assuming operatorship of key facilities. Product mix is
diversified, consisting of the production of natural gas and the production of crude oil of various grades. The Company believes
this diversification reduces price risk when compared with over-leverage to one commodity. Accounts receivable from the sale of
crude oil and natural gas are mainly with customers in the crude oil and natural gas industry and are subject to normat industry
credit risks. The Company manages these risks by reviewing its exposure to individual companies on a regular basis and where
appropriate, ensures that parental guarantees or letters of credit are in place to minimize the impact in the event of default.
Substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivables are due within normal trade terms. Derivative financial instruments are
utilized to help ensure targets are met and to manage commodity prices, foreign currency rates and interest rate exposure. The
Company is exposed to possible losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to derivative financial instruments;
however, the Company manages this credit risk by entering into agreements with substantially all investment grade financial
institutions and other entities. The arrangements and policies concerning the Company’s financial instruments are under constant
review and may change depending upon the prevailing market conditions.

The Company’s capital structure mix is also monitored on a continual basis to ensure that it optimizes flexibility, minimizes cost
and offers the greatest opportunity for growth. This includes the determination of a reasonable level of debt and any interest rate
exposure risk that may exist.

For additional detail regarding the Company’s risks and uncertainties, refer to the Company’s Annual Information Form.

ENVIRONMENT
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The crude oil and natural gas industry is experiencing incremental increases in costs related to environmental regulation, particularly
in North America and the North Sea. Existing and expected legislation and regulations will require the Company to address and
mitigate the effect of its activities on the environment. Increasingly stringent laws and regulations may have an adverse effect on
the Company’s future net earnings and cash flow from operations.

The Company’s associated risk management strategies focus on working with legislators and regulators to ensure that any new or
revised policies, legislation or regulations properly reflect a balanced approach to sustainable development. Specific measures in response
to existing or new legislation include a focus on the Company’s energy efficiency, air emissions management, released water quality,
reduced fresh water use and the minimization of the impact on the landscape. The Company's strategy employs an Environmental
Management Plan (the “Plan”). Details of the Plan and the results are presented to, and reviewed by, the Board of Directors quarterly.

The Company's Plan and operating guidelines focus on minimizing the impact of operations while meeting regulatory requirements,
regional management frameworks, industry operating standards and guidelines, and internal corporate standards. The Company,
as part of this Plan, has implemented a proactive program that includes:

@ An internal environmental compliance audit and inspection program of the Company’s operating facilities;

A suspended well inspection program to support future development or eventual abandonment;
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@ Appropriate reclamation and decommissioning standards for wells and facilities ready for abandonment;

B An effective surface reclamation program;

@ A due diligence program related to groundwater monitoring;

An active program related to preventing and reclaiming spill sites;

@ A solution gas reduction and conservation program;

A program to replace the majority of fresh water for steaming with brackish water;

@ Environmental planning for all projects to assess impacts and to implement avoidance and mitigation programs;
Reporting for environmental liabilities;

A program to optimize efficiencies at the Company’s operating facilities; and

@ Continued evaluation of new technologies to reduce environmental impacts.

The Company has also established stringent operating standards in four areas:

@ Implementing cost effective ways of reducing GHG emissions per unit of production;

@ Exercising care with respect to all waste produced through effective waste management plans;
® Using water-based, environmentally friendly drilling muds whenever possible; and

@ Minimizing produced water volumes onshore and offshore through cost-effective measures.

For 2008, the Company's capital expenditures included $38 million for abandonment expenditures (2007 - $71 million;
2006 — $75 million).

The Company’s estimated undiscounted ARO at December 31, 2008 was as follows:

Estimated ARO, undiscounted ($ millions) 2008 2007
_..North America, including Horizon Project $ 3,165 1% 3038
..North Sea e e N BNE 00286

Offshore West Africa 93 102
o . e 4,474 A48
North Sea PRT recovery (529) (555)

$ 3,945 | § 3,871

The estimate of ARO is based on estimates of future costs to abandon and restore wells, production facilities and offshore
production platforms. Factors that affect costs include number of wells drilled, well depth and the specific environmental legislation.
The estimated costs are based on engineering estimates using current costs in accordance with present legislation and industry
operating practice. The Company’s strategy in the North Sea consists of developing commercial hubs around its core operated
properties with the goal of increasing production, lowering costs and extending the economic lives of its production facilities,
thereby delaying the eventual abandonment dates. The future abandonment costs incurred in the North Sea are estimated to result
in a PRT recovery of $529 million (2007 - $555 million; 2006 — $625 million), as abandonment costs are an allowable deduction
in determining PRT and may be carried back to reclaim PRT previously paid. The expected PRT recovery reduces the Company’s net
undiscounted abandonment liability to $3,945 million (2007 — $3,871 million).

GREENHOUSE GAS AND OTHER AIR EMISSIONS
The Company, through the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers (“CAPP”), is working with legislators and regulators as
they develop and implement new GHG emission laws and regulations. Internally, the Company is pursuing an integrated emissions
reduction strategy to ensure that it is able to comply with existing and future emissions reduction requirements. The Company
continues to develop strategies that will enable it to deal with the risks and opportunities associated with new GHG and air
emissions policies. In addition, the Company is working with relevant parties to ensure that new policies encourage innovation,
energy efficiency, targeted research and development while not impacting competitiveness.

In Canada, the Federal Government has indicated its intent to develop regulations that would be in effect in 2010 to address
industrial GHG emissions. The Federal Government has also outlined national and sectoral reduction targets for several categories
of air pollutants. In Alberta, GHG regulations came into effect July 1, 2007, affecting facilities emitting more than 100 kilotonnes of
CO,e annually. Two of the Company’s facilities, the Primrose/Wolf Lake in-situ heavy crude oil facilities and the Hays sour natural gas
plant, fall under the regulations. Commencing July 1, 2008, the British Columbia carbon tax is being assessed at $10/tonne of CO,e
on fuel consumed in the province, increasing to $30/tonne by July 1, 2012. In the UK, GHG regulations have been in effect since
2005. During Phase 1 (2005 - 2007) of the UK National Allocation Plan, the Company operated below its CO, allocation. For Phase 2
(2008 - 2012) the Company’s CO, allocation has been decreased below the Company’s estimated current operations emissions. The
Company continues to focus on implementing reduction programs based on efficiency audits to reduce CO, emissions at its major
facilities and on trading mechanisms to ensure compliance with requirements now in effect.

There are a number of unresolved issues in relation to Canadian Federal and Provincial GHG regulatory requirements. Key among
them is an appropriate facility emission threshold, availability and duration of compliance mechanisms, and resolution of federal/
provincial harmonization agreements. The Company continues to pursue GHG emission reduction initiatives including solution
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gas conservation, CO, capture and sequestration in oil sands tailings, CO, capture and storage in association with enhanced oil
recovery, and participation in an industry initiative to promote an integrated CO, capture and storage network.

The additional requirements of enacted or proposed GHG legislation on the Company’s operations will increase capital expenditures
and operating expenses, especially those related to the Horizon Project and the Company’s other existing and planned large oil
sands projects. This may have an adverse effect on the Company’s net earnings and cash flow from operations.

Air pollutant standards and guidelines are being developed federally and provincially and the Company is participating in these
discussions. Ambient air quality and sector based reductions in air emissions are being reviewed. Through Company and industry
participation with stakeholders, guidelines have been developed that adopt a structured process to emission reductions that is
commensurate with technological development and operational requirements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to make judgements, assumptions and estimates in the application of
Canadian GAAP that have a significant impact on the financial results of the Company. Actual results may differ from those estimates,
and those differences may be material. Critical accounting estimates are reviewed by the Company’s Audit Committee annually. The
Company believes the following are the most critical accounting estimates in preparing its consolidated financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment / Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization

The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for its conventional crude oil and natural gas properties and equipment.
Accordingly, all costs relating to the exploration for and development of conventional crude oil and natural gas reserves, whether
successful or not, are capitalized and accumulated in country-by-country cost centres. Proceeds on disposal of properties are
ordinarily deducted from such costs without recognition of a gain or loss except where such dispositions result in a change in the
depletion rate of the specific cost centre of 20% or more. Under Canadian GAAP, substantially all of the capitalized costs and
estimated future capital costs related to each cost centre from which there is production are depleted on the unit-of-production
method based on the estimated proved reserves of that country using estimated future prices and costs, rather than single-day,
year-end prices and costs (“constant dollar pricing”) as required by the SEC for US GAAP purposes.

Under Canadian GAAP, the carrying amount of crude oil and natural gas properties in each cost centre may not exceed their
recoverable amount (“the ceiling test”). The recoverable amount is calculated as the undiscounted cash flow using proved reserves
and estimated future prices and costs. If the carrying amount of a cost centre exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss
equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the properties exceeds their estimated fair value is charged against net
earnings. Fair value is calculated as the cash flow from those properties using proved and probable reserves and estimated future
prices and costs, discounted at a risk-free interest rate. No ceiling test impairments were recognized under Canadian GAAP at
December 31, 2008, as future net revenues exceeded capitalized costs. Under US GAAP. the ceiling test differs from Canadian
GAAP in that future net revenues from proved reserves are based on constant dollar pricing and are discounted at 10%. Capitalized
costs and future net revenues are determined on a net of tax basis. These differences in applying the ceiling test in the current year
resulted in the recognition of an after-tax ceiling test impairment of $6,164 million for US GAAP purposes.

The US GAAP ceiling test is based on constant dollar pricing and is highly sensitive to differences in benchmark pricing and the
Heavy Differential in effect at year end as opposed to pricing throughout the year. As the Company’s crude oil production is
weighted towards heavier grades of crude oil, which have historically traded at lower prices at year end due to normal seasonality,
constant dollar pricing in effect at year end is generally not representative of average pricing realized throughout the year. Had the
US GAAP ceiling test at December 31, 2008 been prepared using average realized pricing throughout 2008, rather than constant
dollar pricing, and assuming no other changes in reserves, operating costs, or future development costs, the Company would not
have recognized a ceiling test impairment loss in the current year for US GAAP purposes.

The alternate acceptable method of accounting for crude oil and natural gas properties and equipment is the successful efforts
method. A major difference in applying the successful efforts method is that exploratory dry holes and geological and geophysical
exploration costs would be charged against net earnings in the year incurred rather than being capitalized to property, plant and
equipment. In addition, under this method, cost centres are defined based on reserve pools rather than by country. The use of the
full cost method usually results in higher capitalized costs and increased DD&A rates compared to the successful efforts method.

Crude Oil and Natural Gas Reserves
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The estimation of reserves involves the exercise of judgement. Forecasts are based on engineering data, estimated future prices,
expected future rates of production and the timing and amount of future capital expenditures, all of which are subject to many
uncertainties and interpretations. The Company expects that over time its reserve estimates will be revised either upward or
downward based on updated information such as the results of future drilling, testing and production levels. Reserve estimates
can have a significant impact on net earnings, as they are a key component in the calculation of depletion, depreciation and
amortization and for determining potential asset impairment. For example, a revision to the proved reserve estimates would result
in a higher or lower DD&A charge to net earnings. Downward revisions to reserve estimates may also result in an impairment of
crude oil and natural gas property, plant and equipment carrying amounts under the ceiling test.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

Under CICA Handbook Section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”, the Company is required to recognize a liability for the
future retirement obligations associated with its property, plant and equipment. An ARO is recognized to the extent of a legal
obligation associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset the Company is required to settle as a result of an existing or
enacted law, statute, ordinance or written or oral contract, or by legal construction of a contract under the doctrine of promissory
estoppel. The ARO is based on estimated costs, taking into account the anticipated method and extent of restoration consistent
with legal requirements, technological advances and the possible use of the site. Since these estimates are specific to the sites
involved, there are many individual assumptions underlying the Company’s total ARO amount. These individual assumptions can
be subject to change.

The estimated fair values of ARO related to long-term assets are recognized as a liability in the period in which they are incurred.
Retirement costs equal to the estimated fair value of the ARO are capitalized as part of the cost of associated capital assets and
are amortized to expense through depletion over the life of the asset. The fair value of the ARO is estimated by discounting the
expected future cash flows to settle the ARO at the Company’s average credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate, which is currently
6.7%. In subsequent periods, the ARO is adjusted for the passage of time and for any changes in the amount or timing of the
underlying future cash flows. The estimates described impact earnings by way of depletion on the retirement cost and accretion on
the asset retirement liability. In addition, differences between actual and estimated costs to settle the ARO, timing of cash flows to
settle the obligation and future inflation rates may result in gains or losses on the final settlement of the ARO.

An ARO is not recognized for assets with an indeterminate useful life (e.g. pipeline assets and the Horizon Project upgrader and
related infrastructure) because an amount cannot be reasonably determined. An ARO for these assets will be recorded in the first
period in which the lives of these assets are determinable.

Income Taxes

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax assets and
liabilities are recognized based on the estimated tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using income tax rates substantively enacted or
enacted as of the consolidated balance sheet date. Accounting for income taxes is a complex process that requires management
to interpret frequently changing laws and regulations (e.g. changing income tax rates) and make certain judgements with respect
to the application of tax law, estimating the timing of temporary difference reversals, and estimating the realizability of tax assets.
These interpretations and judgements impact the current and future income tax provisions, future income tax assets and liabilities,
and net earnings.

Risk Management Activities
The Company utilizes various derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity price, foreign currency and interest rate
exposures. These financial instruments are entered into solely for hedging purposes and are not used for speculative purposes.

The estimated fair value of derivative financial instruments has been determined based on appropriate internal valuation
methodologies and/or third party indications. Fair values determined using valuation models require the use of assumptions
concerning the amount and timing of future cash flows and discount rates. In determining these assumptions, the Company has
relied primarily on external readily observable market inputs including quoted commodity prices and volatility, interest rate yield
curves, and foreign exchange rates. The resulting fair value estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that may
be realized or settled in a current market transaction and these differences may be material.

Purchase Price Allocations
The purchase prices of business combinations and asset acquisitions are allocated to the underlying acquired assets and liabilities
based on their estimated fair value at the time of acquisition. The determination of fair value requires the Company to make
assumptions and estimates regarding future events. The allocation process is inherently subjective and impacts the amounts
assigned to individually identifiable assets and liabilities. As a result, the purchase price allocation impacts the Company’s reported
assets and liabilities and future net earnings due to the impact on future DD&A expense and impairment tests.

The Company has made various assumptions in determining the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities. The most significant
assumptions and judgements relate to the estimation of the fair value of the crude oil and natural gas properties. To determine the
fair value of these properties, the Company estimates (a) crude oil and natural gas reserves, and (b) future prices of crude oil and
natural gas. Reserve estimates are based on the work performed by the Company’s internal engineers and outside consultants.
The judgements associated with these estimated reserves are described above in “Crude Oil and Natural Gas Reserves”. Estimates
of future prices are based on prices derived from price forecasts among industry analysts and internal assessments. The Company
applies estimated future prices to the estimated reserves quantities acquired, and estimates future operating and development
costs, to arrive at estimated future net revenues for the properties acquired.
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CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
The Company's management, including the President and Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and Senior
Vice-President, Finance, evaluated the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as at December 31, 2008, and concluded
that disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its
annual filings and other reports filed with securities regulatory authorities in Canada and the United States is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified and such information is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

The Company's management, including the President and Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and Senior
Vice-President, Finance also performed an assessment of internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008, and
concluded that internal control over financial reporting is effective. Further, there were no changes in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting during 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal
controls over financial reporting.

While the Company’s management, including the President and Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and
Senior Vice-President, Finance believes that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting provide a reasonable level of assurance they are effective, they recognize that all control systems have inherent limitations.
Because of its inherent limitations, the Company’s control systems may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the following accounting and disclosure standards issued by the CICA:

Capital Disclosures
O Section 1535 — “Capital Disclosures” requires entities to disclose their objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, as
well as quantitative data about capital. The standard also requires the disclosure of any externally imposed capital requirements
and compliance with those requirements. The standard does not define capital. This standard affects disclosure only and did
not impact the Company’s accounting for capital.

Inventories
O Section 3031 - “Inventories” replaces Section 3030 — “Inventories” and establishes new standards for the measurement of cost
of inventories and expands disclosure requirements for inventories. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact
on the Company’s financial statements.

Financial Instruments
@ Section 3862 — “Financial Instruments — Disclosure” and Section 3863 “Financial Instruments — Presentation” replace Section
3861 - “Finandial Instruments — Disclosure and Presentation”. Section 3862 enhances disclosure requirements concerning risks
and requires quantitative and qualitative disclosures about exposures to risks arising from financial instruments. Section 3863
carries forward the presentation requirements from Section 3861 unchanged. These standards affect disclosures only and did
not impact the Company’s accounting for financial instruments.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company will adopt the following new accounting standard issued by the CICA:

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
O Section 3064 — “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” replaces Section 3062 ~ “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and Section
3450 - “Research and Development Costs.” In addition, EIC-27 — “Revenue and Expenditures during the Pre-Operating Period”
has been withdrawn. The new standard addresses when an internally generated intangible asset meets the definition of an
asset. Adoption of the new standard may impact the Company’s future capitalization of certain costs during the development
and start-up of large development projects.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
In February 2008, the CICA's Accounting Standards Board confirmed that Canadian publicly accountable enterprises will be required
to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board
("1ASB") in place of Canadian GAAP effective January 1, 2011.

The Company commenced its IFRS conversion project in 2008 and has established a formal project governance structure. The
structure includes a Steering Committee, which consists of senior levels of management from finance and accounting, operations
and information technology (“IT"). The Steering Committee provides regular updates to the Company’s Senior Management and
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
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The Company’s IFRS conversion project consists of the following phases:

Phase 1 Diagnostic — identification of potential accounting and reporting differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS.
Phase 2 Planning — development of project governance, processes, resources, budget and timeline.

Phase 3 Policy Delivery and Documentation — establishment of accounting policies under IFRS.

Phase 4 Policy Implementation — establishment of processes for accounting and reporting, IT change requirements, and education.
Phase 5 Sustainment — ongoing compliance with IFRS after implementation.
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The Company has completed the Diagnostic phase. Significant differences were identified in accounting for Property, Plant &
Equipment (“PP&E"), including exploration costs, depletion and depreciation, impairment testing, capitalized interest and asset
retirement obligations. Other significant differences were noted in accounting for stock-based compensation, risk management
activities, and income taxes. The Company is currently performing the necessary research to develop and document IFRS policies to
address the major differences noted. At this time, the impact on the Company’s future financial position and results of operations
is not reasonably determinable. In addition, IFRS is expected to change prior to adoption in 2011, and the impact of these potential
changes is not known. Included in the potential IFRS changes is an exposure draft issued in September 2008 by the IASB that proposes
transition rules for oil and gas companies following full cost accounting. The proposed transition rule would allow full cost companies
to allocate their existing full cost PP&E balances using reserve values or volumes to IFRS compliant units of account as at the date of
conversion without requiring retroactive adjustment. The Company intends to adopt the transition rule if it is approved.

OUTLOOK

The Company continues to implement its strategy of maintaining a large portfolio of varied projects, which the Company believes
will enable it, over an extended period of time, to provide consistent growth in production and create shareholder value. Annual
budgets are developed, scrutinized throughout the year and revised if necessary in the context of targeted financial ratios, project
returns, product pricing expectations, and balance in project risk and time horizons. The Company maintains a high ownership
level and operatorship level in all of its properties and can therefore control the nature, timing and extent of capital expenditures
in each of its project areas. The Company expects production levels in 2009 to average between 331,000 bbl/d and 399,000 bbl/d
of crude oil and NGLs and between 1,272 mmcf/d and 1,328 mmcf/d of natural gas.

The forecasted capital expenditures in 2009 are currently expected to be as follows:

($ millions) 2009 Forecast
...Conventional crude oil and naturalgas e
$ . 589
____________________ L
_____________________________________________ 141 .
e O S G e e e 553
Property acquisitions, dispositions and midstream 109
$ 2,530
_Horizon Project s S
....Phase 1 - Construction R So....180
...Phase 1 - Operating and capital inventory S
(Phase 1 - CommISSIONIng COSYS .83
o Bnase 2 3 TraNChe 2 L2
Capitalized interest and other costs 41
$ 662
Total $ 3,192

North America Natural Gas
The 2009 North America natural gas drilling program is highlighted by the continued high-grading of the Company’s natural gas
asset base as follows:

(Number of wells) 2009 Forecast

_Coal bed methane and shallow naturalgas 30
37

Total 142

The Company has reduced 2009 natural gas drilling in Alberta due to the anticipated future impact of royalty changes effective
January 1, 2009.
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North America Crude Oil and NGLs
The 2009 North America crude oil drilling program is highlighted by continued development of the Primrose thermal projects,
Pelican Lake, and a strong conventional primary heavy program, as follows:

(Number of wells) 2009 Forecast
Conventional Primary eavy CrUde Ol e 317
TRErmal NEaVY CTUGE Ol e A
Light crude oif e —————————————— e
Pelican Lake crude oil 58
Total 465

Horizon Project
During the initial stages of the ramp-up of production, the production volumes will fluctuate on a weekly basis until the end of the second
quarter of 2009 when the Company expects to see a steady ramp up to full production capacity of 110,000 bbl/d by the end of 2009.
The Company will work towards full capacity throughout 2009 as the plant continues to be fine tuned to design rates with a focus on
safety and reliability.

North Sea
The 2009 capital forecast for the North Sea includes drilling 0.9 net platform wells with focus on building drilling and workover
inventory for 2010.

Offshore West Africa
The 2009 capital forecast for Offshore West Africa anticipates spending $80 million to complete Phase 2 of the development of the
Baobab Field in Cote d'lvoire. The Company is targeting the fourth well to be completed in the second quarter of 2009.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
The following table is indicative of the annualized sensitivities of cash flow from operations and net earnings from changes in
certain key variables. The analysis is based on business conditions and sales volumes during the fourth quarter of 2008, excluding
mark-to-market gains (losses) on risk management activities and capitalized interest, and is not necessarily indicative of future
results. Each separate line item in the sensitivity analysis shows the effect of a change in that variable only with all other variables
being held constant.

Cash flow from Net

Cash flow from operations Net earnings

operations {per common earnings (per common

($ millions) share, basic) ($ millions) share, basic)

Price changes e

Crude oil - WTI US$1.00/bb! 17 S e
Excluding financial derivatives s ooom208 02108 848 0060
... Including financial derivatives $ .66 8 0128 488 . .009
Natural gas — AECO CSOTO/MCE 'Y

Excluding financial derivatives % 38§ 0078 2838 00

Including financial derivatives S 38 5 .. 007 %5 .. 28 5 .00
Volume Changes e e .

Crude ol - 10,000 bbl/d o887 s 008 s 8 5 007
Natural gas ~ 10 mmcf/d B LS. 188 0033 7.8 001,

$0.01 change in US$ @

including financial dervatives 8§ 89-92 % s 002
Interest rate change - 1% $ 32 % $ 0.06

(1) For details of financial instruments in place, refer to note 13 to the Company's audited annual consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2008.
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DAILY PRODUCTION BY SEGMENT, BEFORE ROYALTIES

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2008 2007 2006
_ Crude oil and NGLs (bid) o I )
North America 248960 245616 243,826 | 246779 235253
North Sea | 49,568 45830 42,760 42,991 . 45274 | 55933 60,0% |
Offshore West Africa 28,689 27,631 24,237 25,748 26,567 28,520 36,689
Total 327,217 319,077 306,970 309,570 315,667 331,232 331,998
. Natural gas i) R
. North America 1,643 1,468,
Offshore West Africa 12 9
Total 1,668 1,492
. Barrels of oil equivalent (o) 1 N
 NothAmerca 501061 495836 484,542 475089 489,081 | 520564 479891
Offshore West Africa 31,023 30,056 26,505 27,687 28,808 30 543 38,275
Total 583,488 573,437 555,356 547,399 564,845 609,206 580,724
PER UNIT RESULTS @
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2008 2007 2006
.. Crude oil and NGLs o) ‘ e
. Salesprice ® 5545 § 5365
_ Royalties 594 448
Production expense 13.34 12.29
Netback 36.17 36.88
Natural gas (5/mc) e e
Sales price @ 8.82 7.03 $ 839 685 % 672
_Royalties e 1.55 1.08 146 A o 29 .
Production expense 1.03 0.94 1.05 1.06 1.02 0.91 0.82
Netback $ 539 $ 7.0 6.22 489 $ 591 4.83 4.61
_Barrels of oil equivalent spoe) _— S
 Salesprice® 8 80.60 4384 $ 68623 4905 § 47.92
_ Royalties 12.06 537 978 626 589
Production expense 12.52 12.05 11.79 9.75 9.14
Netback $ 56.02 2642 $ 47.05 33.04 32.89
(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.
(2) Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities.
NETBACK ANALYSIS
($/boe) ! 2008 2006
_ Sales price @ 68.62 | § ) 47.92
) Royaltles . 5.89
Production expense &l 11.79 9.14
Netback 47.05 3.04 32.89
N Mldstream contrl» (0.25) (0.23) (0.23)
- Adm|n|strat|on 0.87 093 0.85
.......Interest, net _ 1.24. 0.66
 Realized risk management loss e 073, 6.27
_ Realized forei ge loss (gain) e 0.24 (0.06)
 Taxes other than income tax—current 054 1.04
 Current income tax - North America 0.43 0.68
_ Current income tax — North Sea T 0.95, 0.14
Current income tax — Offshore West Africa 0.33 0.23
Cash flow $ $ 27.88 % 23.31

(1) Amounts expressed on a per unit basis are based on sales volumes.
(2) Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities.
(3) Exctuding inter-segment eliminations.
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TRADING AND SHARE STATISTICS
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2008 2007

. TsX-C$
... Trading Volume (thousands)
~ Share Price ($/share)

429,034

High [5. .. 8002
. Low $o5245
. Close . 7258
Market capitalization as at
December 31 milors) e 2637318 39174
Shares outstanding (thousands) 540,991 539,729
NYSE - US$

Trading Volume (housands aeeaes

_Share Price ($/share)

High R -AYS
 Low $ B850
Close 15 7314

Market capitalization as at
December 3168 miions) v $...39476
Shares outstanding (thousands) 540,991 539,729
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management’s report

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all other information contained elsewhere in this Annual Report are the
responsibility of management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the
accounting policies described in the accompanying notes. Where necessary, management has made informed judgements and
estimates in accounting for transactions that were not complete at the balance sheet date. In the opinion of management, the
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the
circumstances. The financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report has been reviewed to ensure consistency with
that in the consolidated financial statements.

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control. Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable assurance
that transactions are appropriately authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and financial
records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for preparation of financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, has been engaged, as approved by a vote of the
shareholders at the Company’s most recent Annual General Meeting, to audit and provide their independent audit opinions on
the following:

@ the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2008; and
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008.

Their report is presented with the consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors (the “Board") is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting
and internal controls. The Board exercises this responsibility through the Audit Committee of the Board, which is comprised of
non-management directors. The Audit Committee meets with management and the independent auditors to satisfy itself that
management responsibilities are properly discharged and to review the consolidated financial statements before they are presented
to the Board for approval. The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee.

Steve W. Laut Douglas A. Proll, CA Randall S. Davis, CA
PRESIDENT & CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER & VICE-PRESIDENT, FINANCE &
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT, FINANCE ACCOUNTING

MARCH 4, 2009
CALGARY, ALBERTA, CANADA
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management’s assessment of internal control
over financial reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Management, together with the Company’s President and Chief Operating Officer and the Company's Chief Financial Officer
and Senior Vice-President, Finance, performed an assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQ").

Based on the assessment, management, together with the Company’s President and Chief Operating Officer and the Company’s
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice-President, Finance, has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
is effective as at December 31, 2008. Management recognizes that all internal control systems have inherent limitations. Because
of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, has provided an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008, as stated in their Auditors’ Report.

7

Steve W. Laut » Douglés A. Proll, CA

PRESIDENT & CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER &
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT, FINANCE

MARCH 4, 2009
CALGARY, ALBERTA, CANADA

independent auditors’ report

To the Shareholders of Canadian Natural Resources Limited

We have completed integrated audits of Canadian Natural Resources Limited's 2008, 2007, and 2006 consolidated financial
statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008. Our opinions, based on our audits, are
presented below.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

72

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Canadian Natural Resources Limited (the “Company”) as
at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity,
comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2008. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. A financial statement audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years in the three year period ended December 31, 2008 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
We have also audited Canadian Natural Resource Limited's internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management's Assessment of Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of
internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal controf over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as at
December 31, 2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

/M% JRDIT- I
Chartered Accountants

CALGARY, ALBERTA, CANADA

MARCH 4, 2009

COMMENTS BY AUDITOR FOR U.S. READERS ON CANADA-U.S. REPORTING DIFFERENCES
In the United States, reporting standards for auditors require the addition of an explanatory paragraph (following the opinion
paragraph) when there is a change in accounting principles that has a material effect on the comparability of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, such as the changes indicated in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and
Comprehensive Income. Our report to the shareholders dated March 4, 2009 is expressed in accordance with Canadian reporting
standards which do not require a reference to such a change in accounting principles in the Auditors’ Report when the change is
properly accounted for and adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

flrissiarsZilpmaBypn 441

Chartered Accountants

CALGARY, ALBERTA, CANADA
MARCH 4, 2009
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consolidated balance sheets

As at December 31

(millions of Canadian dollars)

2007

ASSETS

Current assets S
Cashand cash equwvalents
Accounts receivable and other
Future income tax (note§)

1862

- 480
Current portion of other long-term assets (note 3) 1,851 18
O, 3,392 | 2,181
Property, plant and equipment (ote4) 38,966 ..33.902
Other long-term assets (note 3) 292 31
$ 42,650 | $ 36,114
_ LIABILITIES .
_Current liabilities B
. Accounts payable L3798
Accrued liabilities 1,567
_Future income tax notes) =
Current portion of long-term debt (notes) —
Current portion of other long-term liabilities (note 6) 1,617
. S 3,563
Long-term debt noes) 10,940
Other long-term liabilities (hote 6) 1,561
Future income tax (note 8) 6,729
22,793
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
_ share capital coe9) 2674
Retained earnings = = 10,575
Accumulated other comprehensive income (note 10) 72
18,374 13,321
$ 42,650 | $ 36,114

Commitments and contingencies (note 14).

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Cohars. [ st™

Catherine M. Bést

CHAIR OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
AND DIRECTOR

CANADIAN NATURAL

N. Murray Edwards

VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND DIRECTOR
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consolidated statements of earnings

For the years ended December 31
(millions of Canadian dollars, except per common share amounts) 2008 2007 2006

Revenue e 8 16,173 | § 12543 § 11,643
Less: royalties (2,017) (1,391) (1,245)
Revenue, net of royalties 14,156 11,152 10,398

L= s S
L Production 2,451 | 2184 1949
... Jransportation and blending e 1936 1570 . ...1443
. Depletion, depreciation and amortization 2683 2863 2,391
e oo ..2863 2391
_Administration
_________ Stock-based

..Risk management activities mote13)
Foreign exchange loss (gain)

... Earnings beforetaxes
_...Taxes other than income tax note) e
_Current income tax expense (noteg) 501 | 3% 222

Future income tax expense (recovery) (note 8) 1,607 (456) 652
Net earnings $ 4,985 | § 2,608 % 2,524

_Net earnings per common share note12) . I e
Basic and diluted $ 9.22 | $ 484 % 4.70
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consolidated statements of
shareholders’ equity

For the years ended December 31
(millions of Canadian dollars) 2008 2007 2006
__Share capital e
Balance - beginning of year _ T, S 2442
. Issued upon exercise of stock optlons . e 2
_ Previously recogmzed liability on stock opt:ons exerc;sed for common shares e o 10
Purchase of common shares under Normal Course Issuer Bid - - (2)
Balance — end of year 2,768 2,674 2,562
..Retained earnings R e
. »B‘al_ance - beginning of year 35 0”9'”a”y reported ........................................... 10,575 | 8,141 o 2:804
Transition adjustment on adoptlon of financial instruments standards - 10 -
_Balance - beginning of year, as restated 8151 5804
~Net earnings ) 2608 2524
_ Dividends on common shares (ote 9). sy (e
Purchase of common shares under Normal Course Issuer Bid - - (26)
Balance — end of year 15,344 10,575 8,141
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) o
Balance - beginning of year B S 4 =)
Transition adjustment on adoption of financial instruments standards - 159 -
Balance - beginning of year, after effect of transition adjustment 72| w9
Other comprehenswe income (loss), net of taxes 190 (74) (4)
Balance - end of year 262 72 (13)
Shareholders’ equity $ 18,374 | § 13,321 $ 10,690
comprehensive income
For the years ended December 31
{millions of Canadian dollars} 2008 2007 2006
Net earnings $ 4,985 | $ 2,608 $ 2,524
Net change in derivative financial instruments
designated as cash flowhedges
Unrealized income during the year,
net of taxes of $1 million (2007 - $6 million, 2006 —$ni) 30 38 T
Reclassification to net earnings,
net of taxes of $6 million (2007 — $45 million, 2006 — $nil) (12) (96) -
e e S .58 T
Foreign currency translation adjustment e
Translation of net investment (16) 4)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes (74) (4)
Comprehensive income $ 5175 | $ 2,534 § 2,520
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consolidated statements of cash flows

For the years ended December 31

(millions of Canadian dollars) 2008 2007 2006
__Operating activities g | .
N aIMINGS e i $ . 4,985 | $ 2,608 % 2,524

_Non-cash |tems ‘ o

_ v_DepIetlon depreCIatl 2,391

..... caaian ASSEt retlrement ranusasnas 68 "
) Stock based compen expense 139 _

N »_Unreallzed ris (1 013)

.. Unrealized f 055 (QAIM) 134

. Deferred petroleum revenue tax (recovery) expense ... 37
852

' nt expenditures S 75

change in non-cash workmg capntal note 15) (679)

4,176

_Financing activities
_ (Repaymen

) issue of bank credlt facmtles net S

et chanae in non-cssh working cap|ta| oy i e
417 719
»Investmg AV S e
- lant and equipment (7.433) 6464)  (7.266)
Net proceeds on sale of property plant and equment 20 110 71
_Net expenditures on property, plant and equipment (7.413) 6354 (7,195
Acquisition of Anadarko Canada COrpOrtion (mote 16) - BN 71
Net change in non-cash working capital (note 15) 235 (186) 101
(7.178) (6,540) (11,735)
_Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8 B B
Cash and cash equlvalents beginning of year 21 23 18
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $ 27 | $ 21 % 23

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information (note 15)
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

(tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Canadian Natural Resources Limited (the “Company”) is a senior independent crude oil and natural gas exploration, development
and production company head-quartered in Calgary, Alberta, Canada. The Company's conventional crude oil and natural gas
operations are focused in North America, largely in Western Canada; the United Kingdom (“UK") portion of the North Sea; and
Cote d'lvoire and Gabon in Offshore West Africa.

Within Western Canada, the Company is developing its Horizon Oil Sands Project (the “Horizon Project”) in a series of staged
development phases (“Phases”). The Horizon Project is designed to produce synthetic crude oil through bitumen mining and
upgrading operations.

Also within Western Canada, the Company maintains certain midstream activities that include pipeline operations and an electricity
co-generation system.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP"). A summary of differences between accounting principles in Canada and those generally
accepted in the United States (“US GAAP") is contained in note 18.

Significant accounting policies are summarized as follows:

(A) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiary companies and partnerships.
A significant portion of the Company’s activities are conducted jointly with others and the consolidated financial statements reflect
only the Company’s proportionate interest in such activities.

(B) MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY
Management has made estimates and assumptions regarding certain assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, actual results may differ from estimated amounts.

Purchase price allocations; depletion, depreciation and amortization, and amounts used in impairment calculations are based on
estimates of crude oil and natural gas reserves. The estimation of reserves involves the exercise of judgement. Forecasts are based
on engineering data, estimated future prices, expected future rates of production and the timing of future capital expenditures,
all of which are subject to many uncertainties and interpretations. The Company expects that, over time, its reserve estimates will
be revised upward or downward based on updated information such as the results of future drilling, testing and production levels,
and may be affected by changes in commodity prices. As a result, the impact of differences between actual and estimated oil and
gas reserves amounts on the consolidated financial statements of future periods may be material.

The calculation of asset retirement obligations includes estimates of the future costs to settle the asset retirement obligation, the
timing of the cash flows to settle the obligation, and the future inflation rates. The impact of differences between actual and
estimated costs, timing and inflation on the consolidated financial statements of future periods may be material.

The calculation of income taxes requires judgement in applying tax laws and regulations, estimating the timing of temporary
difference reversals, and estimating the realizability of future tax assets. These estimates impact current and future income tax
assets and liabilities, and current and future income tax expense (recovery).

The measurement of petroleum revenue tax expense in the United Kingdom and the related provision in the consolidated financial
statements are subject to uncertainty associated with future recoverability of crude oil and natural gas reserves, commodity prices
and the timing of future events, which may result in material changes to deferred amounts.

The estimation of fair value for derivative financial instruments requires the use of assumptions. In determining these assumptions,
the Company has relied primarily on external, readily observable market inputs including quoted commodity prices and volatility,
interest rate yield curves, and foreign exchange rates. The resulting fair value estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the
amounts that could be realized or settled in a current market transaction and these differences may be material.

(C) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Other investments (term deposits and certificates of deposit) with an original
term to maturity at purchase of three months or less are reported as cash equivalents on the balance sheet.
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(D) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Conventional Crude Oil and Natural Gas
The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for its conventional crude oil and natural gas properties and equipment
as prescribed by Accounting Guideline 16 (“AcG 16") issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA").
Accordingly, all costs relating to the exploration for and development of conventional crude oil and natural gas reserves are
capitalized and accumulated in country-by-country cost centres. Directly attributable administrative overhead incurred during
the development of certain large capital projects is capitalized until the projects are available for their intended use. Proceeds on
disposal of properties are ordinarily deducted from such costs without recognition of a gain or loss except where such dispositions
result in a change in the depletion rate of the specific cost centre of 20% or more.

Oil Sands Mining Operations and Upgrading Operations

The Company’s Horizon Project is comprised of both mining operations and upgrading operations and accordingly, capitalized
costs related to the Horizon Project are accounted for separately from the Company’s Canadian conventional crude oil and natural
gas costs. Capitalized mining activity costs include property acquisition, construction and development costs. Construction and
development costs are capitalized separately to each Phase of the Horizon Project. Construction and development for a particular
Phase of the Horizon Project is considered complete once the Phase is available for its intended use. Costs related to major
maintenance turnaround activities will be capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period to the next scheduled
major maintenance turnaround.

Midstream and Other
The Company capitalizes all costs that expand the capacity or extend the useful life of the assets.

(E) OVERBURDEN REMOVAL COSTS
Overburden removal costs incurred during development of the Horizon Project mine are capitalized to property, plant and
equipment. Overburden removal costs incurred during production of the Horizon Project mine will be included in the cost of
inventory produced, unless the overburden removal activity has resulted in a betterment of the mineral property, in which case the
costs will be capitalized to property, plant and equipment. Capitalized overburden removal costs will be amortized over the life of
the mining reserves that directly benefit from the overburden removal activity.

(F) CAPITALIZED INTEREST
The Company capitalizes construction period interest based on the Horizon Project costs incurred and the Company’s cost of borrowing.
Interest capitalization on a particular Phase of the Horizon Project ceases once this Phase is available for its intended use.

(G) LEASES
Contractual arrangements that meet the definition of a lease are accounted for as capital leases or operating leases as appropriate.
Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership to the Company are accounted for as capital leases and
are recorded as property, plant and equipment with an offsetting liability. All other leases are accounted for as operating leases
whereby lease costs are expensed as incurred.

(H) DEPLETION, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Conventional Crude Oil and Natural Gas
Substantially all costs related to each country-by-country cost centre are depleted on the unit-of-production method based on the
estimated proved reserves of that country. Volumes of net production and net reserves before royalties are converted to equivalent
units on the basis of estimated relative energy content. In determining its depletion base, the Company includes estimated future
costs to be incurred in developing proved reserves and excludes the cost of unproved properties and major development projects.
Costs for major development projects, as identified by management, are not subject to depletion until the projects are available
for their intended uses. Unproved properties and major development projects are assessed periodically to determine whether
impairment has occurred. When proved reserves are assigned or the value of an unproved property or major development project
is considered to be impaired, the cost of the property or the amount of the impairment is added to costs subject to depletion.
Processing and production facilities are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives.

The Company reviews the carrying amount of its conventional crude oil and natural gas properties (“the properties”) relative
to their recoverable amount (“the ceiling test”) for each cost centre at each annual balance sheet date, or more frequently if
circumstances or events indicate impairment may have occurred. The recoverable amount is calculated as the undiscounted cash
flow from the properties using proved reserves and expected future prices and costs. If the carrying amount of the properties
exceeds their recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in depletion expense equal to the amount by which the
carrying amount of the properties exceeds their fair value. Fair value is calculated as the cash flow from those properties using
proved and probable reserves and expected future prices and costs, discounted at a risk-free interest rate.

Oil Sands Mining Operations and Upgrading Operations
Upon commencement of operations for the Horizon Project, mine-related costs and costs of the upgrader and related infrastructure
located on the Horizon Project site will be amortized on the unit-of-production method based on the estimated proved reserves of
the Horizon Project or productive capacity, respectively. Moveable mine-related equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life.
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The Company reviews the carrying amount of the Horizon Project relative to its recoverable amount if circumstances or events
indicate impairment may have occurred. The recoverable amount is calculated as the undiscounted cash flow from the Horizon
Project assets using proved and probable reserves and expected future prices and costs. If the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in depletion equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds fair value. Fair value is calculated as the discounted cash flow from the Horizon Project using proved and probable reserves
and expected future prices and costs.

Midstream and Other

Midstream assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives. The Company reviews the recoverability of
the carrying amount of the midstream assets when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount might not be
recoverable. If the carrying amount of the midstream assets exceeds their recoverable amount, an impairment loss equal to the
amount by which the carrying amount of the midstream assets exceeds their fair value is recognized in depreciation.

Other capital assets are amortized on a declining balance basis.

(1) ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Company provides for future asset retirement obligations on its resource properties, facilities, production platforms, gathering
systems, and oil sands mining operations and tailings ponds based on current legislation and industry operating practices. The fair
values of asset retirement obligations related to property, plant and equipment are recognized as a liability in the period in which
they are incurred. Retirement costs equal to the fair value of the asset retirement obligations are capitalized as part of the cost of
the associated property, plant and equipment and are amortized to expense through depletion and depreciation over the lives of
the respective assets. The fair value of an asset retirement obligation is estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows to
settle the asset retirement obligation at the Company’s average credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate. In subsequent periods, the
asset retirement obligation is adjusted for the passage of time and for changes in the amount or timing of the underlying future
cash flows. Actual expenditures are charged against the accumulated asset retirement obligation as incurred.

The Company's Horizon Project upgrader and related infrastructure and its midstream pipelines have an indeterminate life and
therefore the fair values of the related asset retirement obligations cannot be reasonably determined. The asset retirement
obligations for these assets will be recorded in the year in which the lives of the assets are determinable.

(J) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign operations that are self-sustaining are translated using the current rate method. Under this method, assets and liabilities are
translated to Canadian dollars from their functional currency using the exchange rate in effect at the consolidated balance sheet
date. Revenues and expenses are translated to Canadian dollars at the monthly average exchange rates. Gains or losses on translation
are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets.

Foreign operations that are integrated are translated using the temporal method. For foreign currency balances and integrated
subsidiaries, monetary assets and liabilities are translated to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the consolidated
balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect when the assets were acquired
or obligations incurred. Revenues and expenses are translated to Canadian dollars at the monthly average exchange rates. Provisions
for depletion, depreciation and amortization are translated at the same rate as the related assets. Gains or losses on translation of
integrated foreign operations and foreign currency balances are included in the consolidated statements of earnings.

(K) REVENUE RECOGNITION AND COSTS OF GOODS SOLD

Revenue from the production of crude oil and natural gas is recognized when title passes to the customer, delivery has taken place
and collection is reasonably assured. The Company assesses customer creditworthiness, both before entering into contracts and
throughout the revenue recognition process.

Revenue as reported represents the Company's share and is presented before royalty payments to governments and other mineral
interest owners. Revenue, net of royalties represents the Company's share after royalty payments to governments and other
mineral interest owners.

Related costs of goods sold are comprised of production; transportation and blending; and depletion, depreciation and amortization
expenses. These amounts have been separately presented in the consolidated statements of earnings.

(L) TRANSPORTATION AND BLENDING

Transportation and blending costs incurred to transport crude oil and natural gas to customers are recorded as a separate cost in
the consolidated statements of earnings.

(M) PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS

80

Production generated from Offshore West Africa is currently shared under the terms of various Production Sharing Contracts
("PSCs"). Revenues are divided into cost recovery oil and profit oil. Cost recovery oil allows the Company to recover its capital
and production costs and the costs carried by the Company on behalf of the respective Government State Oil Companies (the
“Governments”). Profit oil is allocated to the joint venture partners in accordance with their respective equity interests, after a
portion has been allocated to the Governments. The Governments' share of profit oil attributable to the Company’s equity interest
is allocated to royalty expense and current income tax expense in accordance with the terms of the PSCs.
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(N) PETROLEUM REVENUE TAX
The Company accounts for the UK petroleum revenue tax (“PRT”) by the life-of-the-field method. The total future liability or
recovery of PRT is estimated using proved and probable reserves and anticipated future sales prices and costs. The estimated future
PRT is then apportioned to accounting periods on the basis of total estimated future operating income. Changes in the estimated
total future PRT are accounted for prospectively.

(O) INCOME TAX
The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax assets and
liabilities are recognized based on the estimated tax effects of temporary differences in the carrying value of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using income tax rates substantively enacted or enacted as
of the consolidated balance sheet date. The effect of a change in income tax rates on the future income tax assets and liabilities is
recognized in net earnings in the period of the change.

Taxable income arising from the conventional crude oil and natural gas business in Canada is primarily generated through
partnerships, with the related income taxes payable in subsequent periods. Accordingly, North America current and future income
taxes have been provided on the basis of this corporate structure.

(P) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as the Company’s Stock Option Plan (the
“Option Plan”) provides current employees with the right to elect to receive common shares or a direct cash payment in exchange
for options surrendered. A liability for potential cash settlements under the Option Plan is accrued over the vesting period of the
stock options based on the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the market price of the Company’s
common shares, after consideration of an estimated forfeiture rate. This liability is revalued at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the market price of the Company’s common shares and actual forfeitures, with the net change recognized in net
earnings, or capitalized during the construction period in the case of the Horizon Project. When stock options are surrendered for
cash, the cash settlement paid reduces the outstanding liability. When stock options are exercised for common shares under the
Option Plan, consideration paid by employees and any previously recognized liability associated with the stock options are recorded
as share capital.

The Company has an employee stock savings plan and a stock bonus plan. Contributions to the employee stock savings plan
are recorded as compensation expense at the time of the contribution. Contributions to the stock bonus plan are recognized as
compensation expense over the related vesting period.

(Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company classifies its financial instruments into one of the following categories: held-for-trading financial assets and financial
liabilities; held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables; available-for-sale financial assets; and other financial liabilities. All
financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition. Measurement in subsequent periods is
dependent on the classification of the respective financial instrument.

Held-for-trading financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net
earnings. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other
comprehensive income, net of tax. All other categories of financial instruments are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as held-for-trading and are measured at fair value. Accounts receivable are classified as
loans and receivables. Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, certain other long-term liabilities, and long-term debt are classified as
other financial liabilities. Although the Company does not intend to trade its derivative financial instruments, risk management
assets and liabilities are classified as held-for-trading for accounting purposes unless formally designated as hedges.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability and original issue
discounts on long-term debt have been included in the carrying value of the related financial asset or liability and are amortized to
consolidated net earnings over the life of the financial instrument using the effective interest method.

(R) RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity price, foreign currency and interest rate exposures.
These financial instruments are entered into solely for hedging purposes and are not used for speculative purposes.

Effective January 1, 2007, all derivative financial instruments are recognized on the consolidated balance sheet at estimated fair
value at each balance sheet date. The estimated fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined based on appropriate
internal valuation methodologies and/or third party indications. Fair values determined using valuation models require the use of
assumptions concerning the amount and timing of future cash flows and discount rates.

The Company documents all derivative financial instruments that are formally designated as hedging transactions at the inception
of the hedging relationship, in accordance with the Company’s risk management policies. The effectiveness of the hedging
relationship is evaluated, both at inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis.
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The Company periodically enters into commodity price contracts to manage anticipated sales of crude oil and natural gas production
in order to protect cash flow for capital expenditure programs. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative
commodity price contracts formally designated as cash flow hedges is initially recognized in other comprehensive income and
is reclassified to risk management activities in consolidated net earnings in the same period or periods in which the crude oil or
natural gas is sold. The ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of these designated contracts is immediately recognized in
risk management activities in consolidated net earnings. All changes in the fair value of non-designated crude oil and natural gas
commodity price contracts are recognized in risk management activities in consolidated net earnings.

The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage its fixed to floating interest rate mix on certain of its long-term
debt. The interest rate swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal
amounts on which the payments are based. Changes in the fair value of interest rate swap contracts designated as fair value
hedges and corresponding changes in the fair value of the hedged long-term debt are included in interest expense in consolidated
net earnings. Changes in the fair value of non-designated interest rate swap contracts are included in risk management activities
in consolidated net earnings.

Cross currency swap contracts are periodically used to manage currency exposure on US dollar denominated long-term debt.
The cross currency swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments with the exchange at maturity of notional principal
amounts on which the payments are based. Changes in the fair value of the foreign exchange component of cross currency swap
contracts designated as cash flow hedges are included in foreign exchange in consolidated net earnings. The effective portion
of changes in the fair value of the interest rate component of cross currency swap contracts designated as cash flow hedges is
initially included in other comprehensive income and is reclassified to interest expense when realized, with the ineffective portion
recognized in risk management activities in consolidated net earnings. Changes in the fair value of non-designated cross currency
swap contracts are included in risk management activities in consolidated net earnings.

Realized gains or losses on the termination of financial instruments that have been designated as cash flow hedges are deferred
under accumulated other comprehensive income on the consolidated balance sheets and amortized into consolidated net earnings
in the period in which the underlying hedged item is recognized. In the event a designated hedged item is sold, extinguished
or matures prior to the termination of the related derivative instrument, any unrealized derivative gain or loss is recognized
immediately in consolidated net earnings. Realized gains or losses on the termination of financial instruments that have not been
designated as hedges are recognized in consolidated net earnings immediately.

Upon termination of an interest rate swap designated as a fair value hedge, the interest rate swap is de-recognized on the balance
sheet and the related long-term debt hedged is no longer revalued for changes in fair value. The fair value adjustment on the
long-term debt at the date of termination of the interest rate swap is amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of
the debt.

Foreign currency forward contracts are periodically used to manage foreign currency cash management requirements. The foreign
currency forward contracts involve the purchase or sale of an agreed upon amount of US dollars at a specified future date at
forward exchange rates. Changes in the fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts are included in risk management
activities in consolidated net earnings.

Embedded derivatives are derivatives that are included in a non-derivative host contract. Embedded derivatives are recorded at
fair value separately from the host contract when their economic characteristics and risks are not clearly and closely related to the
host contract.

(S) COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income is comprised of the Company’s net earnings and other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive
income includes the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges
and foreign currency translation gains and losses on the net investment in self-sustaining foreign operations. Other comprehensive
income is shown net of related income taxes.

(T) PER COMMON SHARE AMOUNTS
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The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect of stock options and other dilutive instruments. This
method assumes that proceeds received from the exercise of in-the-money stock options not accounted for as a liability are used
to purchase common shares at the average market price during the year. The Company’s Option Plan described in note 9 results in
a liability and expense for all outstanding stock options. As such, the potential common shares associated with the stock options
are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. The dilutive effect of other convertible securities is calculated
by applying the “if-converted” method, which assumes that the securities are converted at the beginning of the period and that
income items are adjusted to net earnings.
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(U) RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UNDER CANADIAN GAAP
Effective January 1, 2009, the Company will adopt the following new accounting standard issued by the CICA:

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
@ Section 3064 — “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” replaces Section 3062 ~ “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and Section
3450 - “Research and Development Costs”. In addition, EIC-27 — “Revenue and Expenditures during the Pre-Operating Period”
has been withdrawn. The new standard addresses when an internally generated intangible asset meets the definition of an
asset. The adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

(V) INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
In February 2008, the CICA's Accounting Standards Board confirmed that Canadian publicly accountable entities will be required
to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board in
place of Canadian GAAP effective January 1, 2011. The Company is currently assessing which accounting policies will be affected
by the change to IFRS and the potential impact of these changes on its financial position and results of operations.

(W) COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 2008.

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the following new accounting and disclosure standards issued by the CICA:

@ Section 1535 - “Capital Disclosures” requires entities to disclose their objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, as
well as quantitative data about capital. The standard also requires the disclosure of any externally imposed capital requirements
and compliance with those requirements. The standard does not define capital. This standard affected disclosure only and did
not impact the Company's accounting for capital (note 11).

Section 3031 - “Inventories” replaces Section 3030 — “Inventories” and establishes new standards for the measurement of cost
of inventories and expands disclosure requirements for inventories. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact
on the Company’s financial statements.

@ Section 3862 — “Financial instruments — Disclosure” and Section 3863 — “Financial Instruments — Presentation” replace Section
3861 - “Financial Instruments — Disclosure and Presentation”. Section 3862 enhances disclosure requirements concerning risks
and requires quantitative and qualitative disclosures about exposures to risks arising from financial instruments. Section 3863
carries forward the presentation requirements from Section 3861 unchanged. These standards affected disclosures only and
did not impact the Company’s accounting for financial instruments (note 13).

3. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

2008 2007
... Risk management (note 13) Sy -
Other 24 49
e e e 2143 49
Less: current portion 1,851 18
$ 292 | § 31
4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2008 2007
Accumulated Accumulated
depletion and depletion and
Cost depreciation Net Cost depreciation Net

.. Conventional crude oil and natural gas

. North America $ 36,532 $ 14,381 $ 22,151
_.NorthSea B 4,167 2,119 2,048
_____________ Offshore West Africa 2,671 777 . 1,894
Oth_er 40 14 26 |
. Horizon Project v 12,573 - 12,573 |
......... Midstream 278 72 206 269 64 205
Head office 190 122 68 170 98 72

$ 56,451 $ 17,485 $ 38,966 | 48,331 $ 14,429 % 33,902

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company capitalized directly attributable administrative costs of $55 million
(2007 - $47 million, 2006 — $41 million) in the North Sea and Offshore West Africa, related to exploration and development and
$404 million (2007 - $312 million, 2006 — $255 million) in North America, related to the Horizon Project construction.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company capitalized $481 million (2007 — $356 million, 2006 — $196 million) in
construction period interest costs related to the Horizon Project.
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Included in property, plant and equipment are unproved land and major development projects that are not currently subject to

depletion or depreciation:

2008

2007

......Conventional crude oil and natural gas

North America

_North Sea

Offshore West Africa
Other
Horizon Project

el

2,259
138
25

12,573

$

15,477

$ 11,083

The Company has used the following estimated benchmark future prices (“escalated pricing”) in its full cost ceiling tests for
conventional crude oil and natural gas activities prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP, as at December 31, 2008:

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Average
annual
increase
thereafter

Crude oil and NGLs

O N A IICa
.. WTlat Cushing ussbh  $ 53
_ Hardisty Heavy 12° APl cspbh $  47.05 '§ 545

Edmonton Par «cspbh %

North Sea Brent (Us$/obl $

ot es arjd_ Offehore West Afnca A=A S

7959
. 6753
8657,

L9201
9497

. North America

L AECOCHmmow) S
Huntingdon/Sumas (C$/mmbty)  $

Natural gas

LA

849
838

8.38
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT
2008 2007

Canadian dollar denominated debt

_— Banl<ers acceptances 46%
5.50% unsecured debentures due December 17,2010 400 ( 400
_4.50% unsecured debentures due January 23,2013 400| 400
4.95% unsecured debentures due June 1, 2015 400 400
5,273 5,896
...US dollar denominateddebt ..
» AdJustabIe rate due May 27 2009 (2008 US$31 mlv||I0n>2007 US$62 mllllon) T 61

' ) US dollar debt sec

L1087

 Less — ongmal issue discount on senior unsecured notes and US dollar debt securities (23) 23

e 1 B30 2,086
Fair value impact of interest rate swaps on US dollar debt securities @ 68 9
7,798 5,095

,,,,,,,,,,, Long-term debt before transaction costs e VOOT 000920
Less: transaction costs © (55) (51)

e 13,006 | 10,940
Less: current po 420 -
$ 12,596 | $ 10,940

(1) The Company has included unamortized original issue discounts and directly attributable transaction costs in the carrying value of the outstanding debt.
(2) The carrying value of US$350 million of 5.45% notes due October 2012 and US$350 million of 4.90% notes due December 2014 have been adjusted by
$68 million (2007 - $9 million) to reflect the fair value impact of hedge accounting.
(3) Transaction costs primarily represent underwriting commissions charged as a percentage of the related debt offerings, as well as legal, rating agency and other
professional fees.
Bank Credit Facilities

As at December 31, 2008, the Company had in place unsecured bank credit facilities of $6,232 million, comprised of:

a $125 million demand credit facility;

a non-revolving syndicated credit facility of $2,350 million maturing October 2009;
a revolving syndicated credit facility of $2,230 million maturing June 2012;

a revolving syndicated credit facility of $1,500 million maturing June 2012; and

a £15 million demand credit facility related to the Company’s North Sea operations.

BB OA

During 2007, one of the revolving syndicated credit facilities was increased from $1,825 million to $2,230 million and a
$500 million demand credit facility was terminated. The revolving syndicated credit facilities were also extended and now mature
June 2012. Both facilities are extendible annually for one year periods at the mutual agreement of the Company and the lenders.
If the facilities are not extended, the full amount of the outstanding principal will be repayable on the maturity date. Borrowings
under these facilities can be made by way of Canadian dollar and US dollar bankers’ acceptances, and LIBOR, US base rate and
Canadian prime loans.

In conjunction with the closing of the acquisition of Anadarko Canada Corporation (“ACC”) in November 2006 (note 16),
the Company executed a $3,850 million, non-revolving syndicated credit facility maturing in October 2009. In March 2007,
$1,500 million was repaid, reducing the facility to $2,350 million. During 2009, the Company plans to fully retire this facility from
its existing borrowing capacity under its other long-term bank credit facilities, which were $2,050 million at December 31, 2008,
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supported by cash flow from operating activities, including the commaodity risk management activities. In accordance with these
plans, and repayments of $420 million made subsequent to December 31, 2008 on this facility, $420 million has been classified
as current.

The weighted average interest rate of the bank credit facilities outstanding at December 31, 2008, was 2.2% (2007 - 5.2%).

In addition to the outstanding debt, letters of credit and financial guarantees aggregating $372 million, including $300 million
related to the Horizon Project, were outstanding at December 31, 2008.

Medium-term Notes

The Company has $2,600 million remaining on its outstanding $3,000 million base shelf prospectus filed in September 2007 that
allows for the issue of medium-term notes in Canada until October 2009. If issued, these securities will bear interest as determined
at the date of issuance.

In December 2007, the Company issued $400 million of unsecured notes maturing December 2010, bearing interest at 5.50%.
Proceeds from the securities issued were used to repay bankers’ acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities.

During 2007, $125 million of the 7.40% unsecured debentures due March 1, 2007 were repaid.

Senior Unsecured Notes

The adjustable rate senior unsecured notes bear interest at 6.54%, with the final annual principal repayment of US$31 million due
in May 2009. During 2008, US$31 million of the senior unsecured notes were repaid.

US Dollar Debt Securities

In January 2008, the Company issued US$1,200 million of unsecured notes under a US base shelf prospectus, comprised of
US$400 million of 5.15% unsecured notes due February 2013, US$400 million of 5.90% unsecured notes due February 2018, and
US$400 million of 6.75% unsecured notes due February 2039. Proceeds from the securities issued were used to repay bankers’
acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities. After issuing these securities, the Company has US$1,800 million remaining
on its outstanding US$3,000 million base shelf prospectus filed in September 2007 that allows for the issue of US dollar debt securities
in the United States until October 2009. If issued, these securities will bear interest as determined at the date of issuance.

During 2008, US$8 million of US dollar debt securities were repaid.

In March 2007, the Company issued US$2,200 million of unsecured notes, comprised of US$1,100 million of unsecured notes
maturing May 2017, and US$1,100 million of unsecured notes maturing March 2038, bearing interest at 5.70% and 6.25%,
respectively. Concurrently, the Company entered into cross currency swaps to fix the Canadian dollar interest and principal
repayment amounts on the entire US$1,100 million of unsecured notes due May 2017 at 5.10% and C$1,287 million (note 13).
The Company also entered into a cross currency swap to fix the Canadian dollar interest and principal repayment amounts on
US$550 million of unsecured notes due March 2038 at 5.76% and C$644 million (note 13). Proceeds from the securities issued
were used to repay bankers’ acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities.

During 2008, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps that had been designated as a fair value hedge of US$350 million
of 5.45% unsecured notes due October 2012. Accordingly, the Company ceased revaluing the related debt from the date of
termination of the interest rate swaps for subsequent changes in fair value. The fair value adjustment of $20 million at the date of
termination is being amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the debt.

During 2007, the Company de-designated the portion of the US dollar denominated debt previously hedged against its net
investment in US dollar based self-sustaining foreign operations. Accordingly, all foreign exchange (gains) losses arising each period
on US dollar denominated long-term debt are now recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Required Debt Repayments

Required debt repayments are as follows:

Year Repayment
2009 S 238
2010 e S 800
O e 3 490
2012 $ 429,

2013 S, 3890

Thereafter $ 6,707
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No debt repayments are reflected in the above table for $1,725 million of revolving bank credit facilities due to the extendable
nature of the facilities. Should the bank credit facilities not be extended by mutual agreement of the Company and the lenders,
the entire amounts due under these facilities would be due in 2012.
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6. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

2008 2007
,,,,,,,,, Asset retirement obligations e B, 1064 | 51,074
.. Stock-based compensation 229
Risk management (note 13) B, =l 1474
B ARGEMEMOE IR i3 e
e V354 | 3078
Less: current portion 230 1,617
$ 1,124 | $ 1,561

Asset Retirement Obligations
AtDecember 31, 2008, the Company’s total estimated undiscounted costs to settle its asset retirement obligations were approximately
$4,474 million (2007 - $4,426 million). Payments to settle these asset retirement obligations will occur on an ongoing basis over
a period of approximately 60 years and have been discounted using a weighted average credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate of
6.7% (2007 — 6.6%; 2006 — 6.7%). A reconciliation of the discounted asset retirement obligations is as follows:

2008 2007 2006
...Balance —beginning of year $ 1.074 | % 1166 8 1012
Lokabilities incurred .18 2N 26
. Liabilities acquired (mote 1) R
(CE)
O 73)
o d0 i 88
Foreign exchange (82) -
Balance - end of year $ 1,064 | $ 1,074 § 1,166

Stock-based Compensation
The Company recognizes a liability for potential cash settlements under its Option Plan. The current portion represents the maximum
amount of the liability payable within the next twelve month period if all vested options are surrendered for cash settlement.

2008 2007 2006
..Balance — beginning of yea . 529 /% . ...744 5 .89
(52) A93 139
(207), . B73) (264)
. (76) O e,
Capitalized to Horizon Project {23) 58 79
Balance —end of year 171 529 TA4
Less: current portion 159 390 611
$ 12 )% 139 § 133

7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
In connection with the acquisition of ACC, the Company assumed obligations to provide defined contribution pension benefits to
certain ACC employees continuing their employment with the Company, and defined benefit pension and other post-retirement
benefits to former ACC employees, under registered and unregistered pension plans.

The estimated future cost of providing defined benefit pension and other post-retirement benefits to former ACC employees is
actuarially determined using management’s best estimates of demographic and financial assumptions. The discount rate of 7.0%
(2007 — 5.5%) used to determine accrued benefit obligations is based on a year-end market rate of interest for high-quality debt
instruments with cash flows that match the timing and amount of expected benefit payments. Company contributions to the
defined contribution plan are expensed as incurred.

The benefit obligation under the registered pension plan at December 31, 2008 was $27 million (2007 — $32 million). As required
by government regulations, the Company has set aside funds with an independent trustee to meet these benefit obligations. As at
December 31, 2008, these plan assets had a fair value of $34 million (2007 - $47 million). The unregistered pension plan and other
post-retirement benefits are unfunded and have a benefit obligation of $9 million at December 31, 2008 (2007 - $10 million).
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8. TAXES

Taxes Other Than Income Tax

2008 2007 2006

_Current PRT expense . 21013 L9708 1%
Deferred PRT (recovery) expense e 8D A4 3T

Provincial cap|ta| taxes and surcharges 35 24 23

$ 178 | $ 165 $ 256

Income Tax
The provision for income tax is as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Current income tax — North America 8 33|35 9% 5 .14

! N 340 | 210 30

Current income tax — Offshore West Africa 128 74 49
...Current income tax expense e e 501 . 380 .....222

Future income tax expense (recovery) 1,607 (456) 652

Income tax expense (recovery) $ 2,108 | $ (76) $ 874

The provision for income tax is different from the amount computed by applying the combined statutory Canadian federal and
provincial income tax rates to earnings before taxes. The reasons for the difference are as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Canadian statutory income tax rate 29.8% 32.5% 34.9%

Income tax provision at statutory rate e ...% 27%6)% 877 § 1275
Effect on income taxes of:

.................. wlt I T 0129
(72) (71) (82)

L ) | N (25) o B

North America income tax rate and other legislative changes . (9 ©64)  .....438)

UK income tax rate changes e - T 110
Cote d'voire income tax rate changes e T 67)
Non-taxable portion of foreign exchange oss (Gain) ... . ... ©8) 5

. Stock options exercised in shares = ST -
Other 40 28
Income tax expense (recovery) $ 2,108 | § (76) $ 874

The following table summarizes the temporary differences that give rise to the net future income tax asset and liability:

2008 2007
Future income tax liabilities -
Property, plant an urpmerr; 5,695
Timing of partner S 1,288,

. Unrealized foreign exchange long-termdebt 199
_Unrealized risk management activities B
Other 23

_Future mcome tax assets

 Asset retirement obligat S . 380)
_Loss carryforwards for income tax ‘ ~(104)
Stock-based compens _ B .125)
v Unreahzed risk management actlvmes o (399)
. Other - LT
Deferred petroleum revenue tax 20
Net future income tax liability 6,249
Less: current portion of future i income tax ||ab|||ty (asset) (480)
Future income tax liability $ 7,136 | $ 6,729

During 2008, substantively enacted or enacted income tax rate changes resulted in a reduction of future income tax liabilities of
approximately $19 million in British Columbia and approximately $22 million in Céte d'lvoire.

During 2007, substantively enacted or enacted income tax rate and other legislative changes resulted in a reduction of future
income tax liabilities of approximately $864 million in North America.
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During 2006, enacted income tax rate changes resulted in a reduction of future income tax liabilities of approximately $438 million
in North America, an increase of future income tax liabilities of approximately $110 million in the UK North Sea and a reduction of
future income tax liabilities of approximately $67 million in Céte d'lvoire.

During 2003, the Canadian Federal Government enacted legislation to phase in changes to the taxation of resource income by
2007. The legislation reduced the corporate income tax rate on resource income to 21%, the deduction for resource allowance
was phased out and a deduction for actual crown royalties paid was phased in. Subsequently, as a result of enacted income tax rate
changes in 2007, the Canadian Federal corporate income tax rate is being reduced from 21% in 2007 to 15% in 2012.

9. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized
200,000 Class 1 preferred shares with a stated value of $10.00 each.

Unlimited number of common shares without par value.

Issued
2008 2007
Number of Number of
shares shares
Common shares (thousands) Amount (thousands) Amount
... Balance —beginning of year 539,729 $ 2,674 | 537903 5 . 2562
.. Issued upon exercise of stock options 1,262 R 1826 . 2N
Previously recognized liability on
stock options exercised for common shares - 76 — 91
Balance - end of year 540,991 $ 2,768 539,729 % 2,674

Normal Course Issuer Bid
The Company did not renew the Normal Course Issuer Bid during 2008. During 2007 and 2008, the Company did not purchase
any common shares for cancellation (2006 — 485,000 common shares were purchased at an average price of $57.33 per common
share for a total cost of $28 million).

Dividend Policy
The Company has paid regular quarterly dividends in January, April, July and October of each year since 2001. The dividend policy
undergoes a periodic review by the Board of Directors and is subject to change.

in March 2009, the Board of Directors set the Company’s regular quarterly dividend at $0.105 per common share (2008 — $0.10
per common share, 2007 — $0.085 per common share).

Stock Options
The Company’s Option Plan provides for granting of stock options to employees. Stock options granted under the Option Plan have
terms ranging from five to six years to expiry and vest over a five-year period. The exercise price of each stock option granted is
determined at the closing market price of the common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange on the day prior to the grant. Each
stock option granted provides the holder the choice to purchase one common share of the Company at the stated exercise price or
receive a cash payment equal to the difference between the stated exercise price and the market price of the Company’s common
shares on the date of surrender of the option.

The following table summarizes information relating to stock options outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Stock Weighted Stock Weighted
options average options average
(thousands) @Xercise price (thousands)  €Xercise price
30,6599 4723 | . 3431 5 3377
Granted SO, 7,705 % >3.38 7502 § ...7003
___________ Surrendered for cash settlement (3,702) % 25.60 7249 8 16.10
. Exercised for common shares (1,262) % 14.61 (1826) 8 1171
Forfeited (2,438) § 56.56 (2,199) § 46.46
Outstanding — end of year 30962 § 51.94 30,659 $ 47.23
Exercisable ~ end of year 8,809 $ 44.58 7,640 $ 30.00
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The range of exercise prices of stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2008 was as follows:

Stock options outstanding Stock options exercisable
Weighted Weighted Stock Weighted
Stock options average average options average
outstanding remaining exercise exercisable exercise
Range of exercise prices (thousands) term (years) price (thousands) price
$11.83-5$19.99 ...2909 051§ 1644 1918 5 1813
.$20.00 - $29.99 03023 1308 2557 . 1454 8 2542
$3000-%3999 865 .....066.% 3327 .. 53330
$4000-%4999 . bg4s 501 % 4637 2035 4629
$50.00-$59.99 o ......5000 275 % ..5806 ) 8 5793
$6000-969.99 ... Ass 3158 .8154 $ ...5160
$7000-%7999 6526 .42 5 7076 $.....7087
$80.00-$89.99 R . S T . -
$90.00 - $92.50 909 553 % 92.50 - 3 -
30,962 332 % 51.94 8,809 $ 44.58
10. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes, were as follows:
2008 2007
Derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges e $ 1m94s 10l
Foreign currency translation adjustment 143 (29)
$ 262 | $ 72
During the next twelve months, $19 million is expected to be reclassified to net earnings from accumulated other comprehensive
income.
During 2008, the Company determined that its operations in Offshore West Africa were now operationally and financially
independent and the current rate method of translation was adopted for translation of the financial statements of the Offshore
West African subsidiaries. This change has been applied prospectively. The impact of this change was to increase assets by
$32 million, decrease liabilities by $4 million and increase accumulated other comprehensive income by $36 million.
11. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES

As required by Canadian GAAP, effective January 1, 2008, the Company must provide certain disclosures regarding its objectives,
policies and processes for managing capital, as well as provide certain quantitative data about capital. As the Company does not
have any externally imposed regulatory capital requirements, for the purposes of this disclosure, the Company has defined its
capital to mean its long-term debt and consolidated shareholders’ equity, as determined each reporting date.

The Company’s objectives when managing its capital structure are to maintain financial flexibility and balance to enable the
Company to access capital markets to sustain its on-going operations and to support its growth strategies. The Company primarily
monitors capital on the basis of an internally derived non-GAAP financial measure referred to as its “debt to book capitalization
ratio”, which is the arithmetic ratio of current and long-term debt divided by the sum of the carrying value of shareholders’ equity
plus current and long-term debt. The Company aims over time to maintain its debt to book capitalization ratio in the range of 35%
to 45%. However, the Company may exceed the high end of such target range if it is investing in capital projects, undertaking
acquisitions, or in periods of lower commodity prices. The Company may be below the fow end of the target range when cash flow
from operating activities is greater than current investment activities. The ratio is currently near the midpoint of the target range at
41% including the impact of capital spending on the Horizon Project.

Readers are cautioned that as the debt to book capitalization ratio has no defined meaning under GAAP, this financial measure
may not be comparable to similar measures provided by other reporting entities. Further, there can be no assurances that the
Company will continue to use this measure to monitor capital or will not alter the method of calculation of this measure at some
point in the future.

2008 2007

. long-termdebt™
_Total shareholders equity

13,016 |5 10940
Debt to book capitalization 41% 45%

90

(1) Includes the current portion of long-term debt.
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12. NET EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
(thousands of shares) 2008 2007 2006
... Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic and di » ..340,647 | 539,336 ....337.339
...Net earnings — basic and diluted $ 4,985 | 3 2,608 5 ...2524
Net earnings per common share ~ basic and diluted $ 9.22 | § 484 % 4.70

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments by category are as follows:

2008

Other

Loans and financial

receivables at Held for liabilities at

amortized trading at amortized

Asset (liability) cost fair value cost

..Cash and cash equivalents . -3 27 S -

. Accounts receivable 1,059 - -

....Accounts payable
.....Accrued liabilites
. Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt - - (13,016)
$ 1,059 $ 2,146 $ (15,306)

(1) Includes the current portion of long-term debt.

Other

Loans and financial

receivables at Held for liabilities at

amortized trading at amortized

Asset (liability) cost fair value cost

T S
379)

= a56)
....Risk management T VAR
LOther longsterm Nabilities == gg)

Long-term debt - - (10,940)
$ 1,143 $ (1,453) $ (12,972)

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their fair value, except for fixed rate long-term debt as
noted below:

2008 2007

Carrying value Fair value | Carrying value Fair value

Fixed rate long-term debt $ 8943 $ 7,649 | $ 6,244 % 6,259

(1) The carrying value of US$350 million of 5.45% notes due October 2012, and US$350 million of 4.90% notes due December 2014, have been adjusted by $68 million
(2007 - $9 million) to reflect the fair value impact of hedge accounting.
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Risk Management
The changes in estimated fair values of derivative financial instruments included in the risk management asset (liability) were

recognized in the financial statements as follows:

2008 2007

Risk Risk

management management

Asset (liability) mark-to-market | mark-to-market
_Balance - beginning of year $ (1,474)| 8 128
 Retained earnings effect of adoption of financial instruments standards 3 D .
~Netcost of outstanding putoptions 297 .38
~ Net change in fair value of outstanding derivative financial instruments attributable to: N
Risk management ac 3000 |  (1,400)
Interest expense 9
Foreign exchange .350).
_Other comprehensive income 125,
Settlement of interest rate swaps -
e 2420  (1,416)
Add: put premium financing obligations " (301) (58)
BalANCe — BN Of YA 2119} (1,474
Less: current portion 1,851 (1,227)
$ 268 | $ (247)

(1) The Company has negotiated payment of put option premiums with various counterparties at the time of actual settlement of the respective options. These obligations

have been reflected in the net risk management asset (liability).

Net (gains) losses from risk management activities for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2008 2007 2006
_Net realized risk management loss 81880 162 5 1325
Net unrealized risk management (gain) loss (3.090) 1,400 (1,013)
$ (1.230)| $ 1,562 % 312

Financial Risk Factors

a)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. The Company’s market risk is comprised of commodity price risk, interest rate risk, and foreign currency exchange risk.

Commodity price risk management
The Company uses commodity derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to commodity price risk associated with
the sale of its future crude oil and natural gas production. At December 31, 2008, the Company had the following net derivative

financial instruments outstanding to manage its commodity price exposures:

Remaining term Volume Weighted average price Index
Crudeoil SO
Crude oil price collars . .Jan2009-Dec2009  25000bbbd US$70.00 - US$111.56 WII
Apr 2009 - Jun 2009 4,000 bbl/d US$70.00 — US$90.00 WTI
Crude oil puts Jan 2009 — Dec 2009 92,000 bbl/d US$100.00 WTI

The net cost of outstanding put options of US$242 million will be settled in 2009.

Remaining term Volume Weighted average price Index
_Naturalgas i
Natural gas price collars Jan 2009 — Mar 2009 500,000 GJ/d C$6.00 - (€$8.63 AECO

92

(1) Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company entered into 220,000 GJ/d of C$6.00 — C$8.00 natural gas AECO collars for the period January to December 2010.

The Company’s outstanding commodity derivative financial instruments are expected to be settled monthly based on the applicable

index pricing for the respective contract month.

There were no commodity derivative financial instruments designated as hedges at December 31, 2008.

In addition to the derivative financial instruments noted above, subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company entered into
natural gas physical sales contracts for 400,000 GJ/d at an average fixed price of C$5.29 per GJ at AECO for the period April to

December 2009.
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Interest rate risk management

The Company is exposed to interest rate price risk on its fixed rate long-term debt and to interest rate cash flow risk on its floating
rate long-term debt. The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage its fixed to floating interest rate mix on
long-term debt. The interest rate swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional
principal amounts on which the payments are based. At December 31, 2008, the Company had the following interest rate swap
contracts outstanding:

Remaining term Amount (3 millions) Fixed rate Floating rate

Swas _ fixed to floating e US$350 AT TRGR TS SR

Interest rate

(1) London Interbank Offered Rate.

All interest rate related derivative financial instruments designated as hedges at December 31, 2008 were classified as fair value
hedges.

Foreign currency exchange rate risk management

The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk in Canada primarily related to its US dollar denominated long-
term debt and working capital. The Company is also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk on transactions conducted
in other currencies in its subsidiaries and in the carrying value of its self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries. The Company periodically
enters into cross currency swap contracts and foreign currency forward contracts to manage known currency exposure on US dollar
denominated long-term debt and working capital. The cross currency swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments
with the exchange at maturity of notional principal amounts on which the payments are based. At December 31, 2008, the
Company had the following cross currency swap contracts outstanding:

Amount Exchange rate Interest rate Interest rate

Remaining term ($ millions) (US$/CS) (US$) (C$)
.. Crosscurrency . e e e B
LOWAPS 330 2009 — Aug 2016 U5$250 . o 280%
o US$1 100 5.10%
Jan 2009 ~ Mar 2038 US$550 5.76%

All cross currency swap derivative financial instruments designated as hedges at December 31, 2008 were classified as cash flow
hedges.

In addition to the cross currency swap contracts noted above, the Company periodically utilizes foreign currency forward contracts
to manage certain foreign currency cash management requirements. At December 31, 2008, the Company had US$408 million of
these contracts outstanding, with terms of approximately 30 days or less.

Financial instrument sensitivities

As required by Canadian GAAP, effective January 1, 2008, the Company must provide certain quantitative sensitivities related to
its financial instruments, which are prepared on a different basis than those sensitivities currently disclosed in the Company’s other
continuous disclosure documents. The following table summarizes the annualized sensitivities of the Company’s net earnings and
other comprehensive income to changes in the fair value of financial instruments outstanding as at December 31, 2008, resulting
from changes in the specified variable, with all other variables held constant. These sensitivities are limited to the impact of changes in
a specified variable applied to financial instruments only and do not represent the impact of a change in the variable on the operating
results of the Company taken as a whole. Further, these sensitivities are theoretical, as changes in one variable may contribute to
changes in another variable, which may magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, changes in fair value generally can not be
extrapolated because the relationship of a change in an assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear.

Impact on other
Impact on comprehensive

net earnings income
_Commodity price risk

. Increase WTI US! D e S G287
Decrease WIIUS$1.00bl S 3208 T
Increase AECO C$0.10/met B (T T

. Decrease AECO CSOI0MMCE s L -
ncrease interest rate 1% e e e S B2) 8 Q27)
vvvvv ecrease interest rate 1% _ e e S 32 8 33
_Foreign currency exchange rate‘ e e
. Increase exchange rate by USSO.0T 8398

Decrease exchange rate by US$0. 01 $ 35 § -
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b)

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the Company by failing to discharge an
obligation.

Counterparty credit risk management

The Company’s accounts receivable are mainly with customers in the crude oil and natural gas industry and are subject to normal
industry credit risks. The Company manages these risks by reviewing its exposure to individual companies on a regular basis and
where appropriate, ensures that parental guarantees or letters of credit are in place to minimize the impact in the event of default.
At December 31, 2008, substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivables were due within normal trade terms.

The Company is also exposed to possible losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to derivative financial
instruments; however, the Company manages this credit risk by entering into agreements with counterparties that are substantially
all investment grade financial institutions and other entities. At December 31, 2008, the Company had net risk management assets
of $2,119 million (December 31, 2007 — $20 million) with specific counterparties related to derivative financial instruments. The
Company believes that its counterparties currently have the financial capacity to settle outstanding obligations in the normal course
of business.

¢) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
Management of liquidity risk requires the Company to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents, along with other sources of
capital, consisting primarily of cash flow from operating activities, available credit facilities, and access to debt capital markets, to
meet obligations as they become due. Due to fluctuations in the timing of the receipt and/or disbursement of operating cash flows,
the Company believes it has adequate bank credit facilities to provide liquidity.
The maturity dates for financial liabilities are as follows:
Less than 1 to less than 2 to less than
1 year 2 years 5 years Thereafter
Accounts payable [ T - S S -
Accrued liabilities U T - - e SO -
Other long-term liabilities L o e 8 8 S 18 . ~
Long-term debt $ 2,385 § 400 $ 1,809 § 6,707
(1) The long-term debt represents principal repayments only and does not reflect fair value adjustments, original issue discounts or transaction costs. No debt repayments
are reflected for $1,725 million of revolving bank credit facilities due to the extendable nature of the facilities.
14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company has committed to certain payments as follows:
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter
Product transportation
. ..andpipeline % 21908 184§ 159 0§ 1338 t24% WIS
Offshore equipment
_operating leases S 175 % SRR =T S L S I LN 3%
Offshore drillng $ ......251.8 82 8 S T ST
Asset retirement obligations % 6% 7.3 LT T 5 . 4443
Office leases S 5% 29 % . ...023.8%8 2 S 1
Other $ 321 § 180 % 17 % 12 $ 19

94

(1) Amounts represent management's estimate of the future undiscounted payments to settle asset retirement obligations related to resource properties, facilities, and
production platforms, based on current legislation and industry operating practices. Amounts disclosed for the period 2009 — 2013 represent the minimum required
expenditures to meet these obligations. Actual expenditures in any particular year may exceed these minimum amounts.

The Company is defendant and plaintiff in a number of legal actions that arise in the normal course of business. In addition,

the Company is subject to certain contractor construction claims related to the Horizon Project. The Company believes that any

liabilities that might arise pertaining to any such matters would not have a material effect on its consolidated financial position.

CANADIAN NATURAL



15. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Changes in non-cash working capital were as follows:

2008 2007 2006
. Decrease (Increase) in non-cash working capital i — I
_Accounts receivable and other 8% M s 334 _(16)
_Accounts payable (4) (456) 157
Accrued liabilities (15) (402) (582)
Net change in non-cash working capital $ 92 | § (524) (541)
_Relatngto:
.. Operating activities (679) |
. Financing activ 37
Investing activities 101
(541)
Other cash flow information: 2008 2007 2006
_Interest paid e ] $ 574 |5 556 262
Taxes paid $ 558 | § 418 703

16. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Anadarko Canada Corporation

In November 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding common shares of ACC, a
subsidiary of Anadarko Petroleum Corporation, for net cash consideration of $4,641 million including working capital and other
adjustments. Substantially all of ACC's land and production base are located in Western Canada.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method. Operating results from ACC have been consolidated with the
results of the Company effective from November 2, 2006, the date of acquisition, and are reported in the North America segment.
The allocation of the net purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values was as follows:

November 2, 2006

Net purchase price:
Net cash consideration $ 4,641

.. Net purchase price allocated as follows:
N sh worki i

citassumedandother 8 (105

6249

P plan ipment
.. long-term debt R .9
_.Asset retirement obligation o 56)
Future income tax (1,438)
$ 4,641

(1) Net cash consideration was reduced by $88 million to reflect the settlement of US dollar forward contracts designated as hedges of the ACC purchase price.
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17. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company’s conventional crude oil and natural gas activities are conducted in three geographic segments: North America, North
Sea and Offshore West Africa. These activities include the exploration, development, production and marketing of conventional
crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas.

The Company’s Horizon Project is a separate segment from conventional crude oil and natural gas activities as the bitumen will
be recovered through mining operations. There are currently no revenues for this project and all directly related expenditures have
been capitalized.

Midstream activities include the Company’s pipeline operations and an electricity co-generation system. Activities that are not
included in the above segments are reported in the segmented information as other. Inter-segment eliminations include internal
transportation, electricity charges and natural gas sales.

Conventional Crude Oil and Natural Gas

North America North Sea Offshore West Africa
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
‘Segmented revenue $ 13,496 | § 10,149 § 9066 $ 1,769 |$ 1597 $ 1616 $ 944|5 776 § 950
Less: royalties (1.876) (1,318) (1,203) 4) (3) (3) (143) (70) (39)
Revenue, net of royalties 11,620 8,831 7,863 1,765 1,594 1,613 801 706 911

Segmented expenses

.. Production B

~ Transportation and blending
Depletion, depreciation

ie42 143 as7| 432 390 102| 94 106

__and amortizaton 2,236 2350 1897 317 | 340 297 B2 165 83
Asset retirement
_Obligation accretion a2 38 35 27 | 30 3 A2
Realized risk
management activities 1,861 129 1,022 1) 33 303 - - -
Total segmented
expenses 7,995 5,754 5,855 810 851 1,036 237 262 298
Segmented earnings before
the following $ 3625|% 3,077 $ 2008 $ 955 | $ 743 $ 577 % 564 | § 444 § 613

Non-segmented expenses

Interest, net .. e
Unrealized risk management activities
Foreign exchange loss (gain)

Total non-segmented expenses

. Earnings before taxes
~ Taxes other than income tax

Future income tax expense (recovery)

Net earnings

Capital Expenditures

2008 2007
Non cash and Non cash and
Net fair value Capitalized Net fair value Capitalized
expenditures changes'” costs expenditures changes'” Costs

North America ) 2.'.4.8.0:

North Sea L3082

_ Offshore West Africa .48
Other !

o 2991

“Horizon Project ?! ..3:301

Midstream B
Head office 20
$ 7413 $ (118) $ 7,295 | § 6,354 $ (36) $ 6,318

(1) Asset retirement obligations, future income tax adjustments related to differences between carrying value and tax value, and other fair value adjustments.
(2) Net expenditures for the Horizon Project also include capitalized interest, stock-based compensation, and the impact of intersegment eliminations.
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Inter-segment
Midstream elimination and other Total
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
$ 771% 74 3 728 Q35 (533 (61) $ 16,173 | § 12,543 § 11,643

- - - 6 - - (2,017) (1,391) (1,245)
77 74 72 (107) (53) (61) 14,156 11,152 10,398

25 22 ZER © .. © 28] 218 1949
L1570 1,443

.8 8 8 (10) - T 2683 | 2,863 2,391

T T - T ) 7068

- _ - - - - 1,860 162 1,325

33 30 31 (74) (48) (44) 9,001 6,849 7,176

$ 4 |3 44 3 41 $ (33)| $ (5) 3 (17) 5,155 4,303 3,222

208 180
A3 139
276180
.1.400 0 (1,013)
(471) 122
1,606 (432)
.. 20897 3654
165 256
380 22

(456) 652
$ 49853 2608 $ 2,524

Segmented Assets
2008 2007

__Conventional crud

iandnaturalgas

$ 24875|% 23617
L1957
1,354
I
...8740
..333

72

$ 42,650 | $ 36,114

_ Midsteam
Head office
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18. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. These principles
conform in all material respects with US GAAP except for those noted below. Certain differences arising from US GAAP disclosure

requirements are not addressed.

The application of US GAAP would have the following effects on consolidated net earnings (loss) as reported:

(millions of Canadian dollars, except per common share amounts) Notes 2008 2007 2006
Net earnings - Canadian GAAP $  a%8s|s 2608 S 252
AdJustments e e
Depletion, net of taxes of $2,503 million
(2007 - $1 million, 2006 — $1 million) 2
Stock-based compensatlon net of taxes of $32 million
(2007 — $3 million, 2006 - $18 million) (40)
Future income taxes -
Derivative financial instruments and hedglng act:vmes
net of taxes of $nil (2007 — $nil, 2006 — $15 million) (C,D) - - 117
Net earnings (loss) before cumulative effect
of change in accounting policy — US GAAP (1,026)| 2,342 2,603
Cumulative effect of change in accounting po||cy,
net of taxes of $nil (2007 — $nil, 2006 - $3 million) (B) - - (8)
Net earnings (loss) — US GAAP $ (1,026)] $ 2,342 § 2,595
Net earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of
change in accounting policy - US GAAP per common share e I
Basic .. S RO .| I S 434 % Asa
Diluted F $ {1.90)| $ 432 § 4.77
Net earnings (loss) — US GAAP per common share e B
Basc s Taso)s a4 s 483
Diluted F $ {1.90)| $ 432 $ 4.75
Comprehensive income (loss) under US GAAP would be as follows:
(millions of Canadian dollars) Notes 2008 2007 2006
Comprehensive income — Canadian GAAP_ .8 51755 2534 3 250
US GAAP eamings adjustments ey @ T
Derivative financial instruments and hedglng activities,
net of taxes of $nil (2007 — $nil million; 2006 — $394 million) (C) - - 805
Comprehensive income (loss) — US GAAP $ (836) $ 2,268 % 3,396
The application of US GAAP would have the following effects on the consolidated balance sheets as reported:
2008
Canadian Increase us
(millions of Canadian doliars) Notes GAAP (Decrease) GAAP

Current assets.

~ Other Iong “term assets

Retamed eammgs i

_Long-term debt

Current liabilities

Other long- term Ilabll_!tles

Future income tax
Share capital

Accumulated other comprehenswe income

42,650 $ (8,496) $

98
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2007

Canadian Increase us
(millions of Canadian dollars) Notes GAAP (Decrease) GAAP
_ Property, plant and equipment (ABDE 033902 91 ...33993
Other long-term assets (H) 31 51 82
$ 36,114 $ 142 % 36,256
_Curentliabllities ® S 3563 $ 66 5 3629
... Long-term debt e LH 10,940 oot 10991
.. Other long-term liabilities e B L1581
,,,,,,,,,, Futureincome tax ABDEG) 6,965
_Share capital ..2.674
LRetained earnings 10,344
Accumulated other comprehensive income 72
36,256

Notes:

(A) Under Canadian full cost accounting rules, costs capitalized in each country cost centre are limited to an amount equal to the
undiscounted, future net revenues from proved reserves using estimated future prices and costs, plus the carrying amount of
unproved properties and major development projects (the “ceiling test”) as described in note 1(H). Under the full cost method
of accounting as set forth by the US Securities and Exchange Commission, the ceiling test differs from Canadian GAAP in that
future net revenues from proved reserves are based on prices and costs as at the balance sheet date (“constant dollar pricing”)
and are discounted at 10%. Capitalized costs and future net revenues are determined on a net of tax basis. These differences
in applying the ceiling test to current and prior years resulted in the recognition of ceiling test impairments under US GAAP,
which reduced property, plant and equipment by $8,697 million in 2008 (2007 — $36 million, 2006 - $40 million).

For the year ended December 31, 2008, US GAAP net earnings would have decreased by $6,164 million, net of income taxes
of $2,501 million to reflect the impact of a current year ceiling test impairment. In addition, the impact of prior ceiling test
impairments would have increased US GAAP net earnings by $3 million (2007 - decreased by $4 million, 2006 ~ increased by
$3 million), net of income taxes of $1 million (2007 — $8 million, 2006 — $2 million) to reflect the impact of lower depletion
charges. The 2007 income tax effect includes the effect of enacted Canadian income tax rate changes on this item.

(B) The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation liability under Canadian GAAP using the intrinsic value method, as
described in note 1(P). Under US GAAP, effective January 1, 2006, the Company would have adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statement (“FAS”) 123(R), which requires companies to account for all stock-based compensation liabilities
using the fair value method, where fair value is measured using an option pricing model. The Company uses the Black Scholes
option pricing model to determine the fair value of its stock-based compensation liability for US GAAP purposes. The previous
US GAAP standard, FAS 123, required companies to account for cash settled stock-based compensation liabilities using the
intrinsic value method. For the year ended December 31, 2008, US GAAP net earnings would have decreased by $76 million
(2007 — $22 million, 2006 — $48 million), net of income taxes of $32 million (2007 — $3 million, 2006 — $21 million including
the cumulative effect of the change in accounting policy of $8 million, net of income taxes of $3 million). The 2007 income tax
effect includes the effect of enacted Canadian income tax rate changes on this item.

(C) Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted new accounting standards for financial instruments. The Company’s accounting
policies for financial instruments under Canadian GAAP are described in notes 1(Q) and 1(R). After adopting the new standards,
Canadian GAAP is substantially harmonized with US GAAP as prescribed by FAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Financial
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by FAS 138 and FAS 149,

Prior to adoption of the new accounting policies, the net earnings associated with realized and unrealized hedge ineffectiveness
on derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges during the year ended December 31, 2006 would have been $29
million, net of income taxes of $15 million. Comprehensive income would have increased by $805 million as a result of
recording all derivative financial instruments at fair value in accordance with US GAAP.

(D) During 2006, under Canadian GAAP, the Company hedged the foreign currency component of the US dollar purchase price
of ACC using derivative financial instruments formally designated as cash flow hedges. Under US GAAP, the foreign currency
component of a business combination is not eligible for cash flow hedging, and therefore, for the year ended December 31,
2006, the $88 million after-tax gain on the derivative financial instruments would have been included in net earnings. For the
year ended December 31, 2008, US GAAP net earnings would have been decreased by $8 million (2007 — $6 million, 2006 —
$1 million), net of income taxes of $3 million (2007 - $7 million, 2006 — $1 million), to reflect the impact of higher depletion
charges. The 2007 income tax effect includes the effect of enacted Canadian income tax rate changes on this item.
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(E) Under Canadian GAAP, the Company began capitalizing interest on the Horizon Project when the Board of Directors approval
was received in 2005. For US GAAP, capitalization of interest on projects constructed over time is mandatory and interest would
have been capitalized to the costs of construction beginning in 2004. As a result of applying US GAAP, an additional $27 million
would have been capitalized to property, plant and equipment in 2004.

(F) Under Canadian GAAP, the Company is not required to include potential common shares related to stock options in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share as the Company has recorded the potential settlement of the stock options as a
liability. Under US GAAP FAS 128 “Earnings per Share”, the Company would have included potential common shares related
to stock options in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. For the year ended December 31, 2008, no additional shares
would have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share for US GAAP as the impact would have been anti-
dilutive (2007 — 3,376,000 additional shares, 2006 — 8,762,000 additional shares).

(G)yUnder Canadian GAAP, the effects of income tax changes are recognized when the changes are considered substantively
enacted. Under US GAAP, the income tax changes would not be recognized until the changes are enacted into law. For the year
ended December 31, 2007, the differences between substantively enacted and enacted tax legislation resulted in a difference
in timing of the recognition of a $234 million future income tax recovery.

(H) Effective January 1, 2007, under Canadian GAAP, debt issue costs on long-term debt must be included in the carrying value
of the related debt. Under US GAAP, these items must be recorded as a deferred charge. Application of US GAAP would have
resulted in the balance sheet reclassification of $55 million of debt issue costs from long-term debt to deferred charges in 2008
(2007 - $51 million). There was no difference from Canadian GAAP prior to 2007.

() In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS 157 “Fair Value Measurements” effective for fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007. The implementation date was subsequently delayed until years beginning on or after November 15, 2008 except
for non financial assets and non financial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on
a recurring basis (at least annually). FAS 157 standardizes the meaning of “Fair Value” in all FASB statements that refer to fair
value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The adoption of this standard did not result in a Canadian and
US GAAP reconciling item.

(J) In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. FAS 159 allows entities to carry most financial instruments at fair value, even
if existing standards would not require this. The adoption of this standard did not result in a US GAAP reconciling item.

(K) In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS 141(R) “Business Combinations”, which replaces FAS 141 effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008. FAS 141(R) retains the purchase method of accounting and requires assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination to be measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. The standard also requires
acquisition-related costs and restructuring costs to be recognized separately from the business combination. This standard is
to be applied prospectively to all business combinations subsequent to the effective date and does not require restatement of
previously completed business combinations.

(L) US GAAP - Recently issued accounting standards

During 2008, the US Securities and Exchange Commission adopted revisions to its oil and gas reporting disclosures contained in
Regulation S-K and Regulation S-X. These revisions change the price basis for calculating oil and gas reserves from a single-day,
year-end price to a monthly average price based on “first day of the month*” price. These revisions will impact the reserves used
in the Company’s accounting for depletion and its calculation of the ceiling test under US GAAP. These revisions are effective
for filings made on or after January 1, 2010, and will be applied prospectively with no retroactive restatement.
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supplementary oil & gas information (unaudited)

This supplementary crude oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statement 69 (“FAS 69"), “Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities”, and where applicable is reconciled
to the financial information prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“US
GAAP").

NET PROVED CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESERVES
The Company retains qualified independent reserves evaluators to evaluate the Company’s proved crude oil and natural gas reserves.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the reports by Sproule Associates Limited (“Sproule”) covered 100% of the Company’s
conventional reserves.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 the reports by Sproule and Ryder Scott Company covered 100% of
the Company’s conventional reserves.

Proved crude oil and natural gas reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids (“NGLs") that
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs
under existing economic and operating conditions. Proved developed reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered
from existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods.

Estimates of crude oil and natural gas reserves are subject to uncertainty and will change as additional information regarding
producing fields and technology becomes available and as future economic and operating conditions change.

The following table summarizes the Company’s proved and proved developed conventional crude oil and natural gas reserves, net
of royalties, as at December 31, 2008, 2007, 2006, and 2005:

North North Offshore
Crude oil and NGLs (mmbb) America Sea West Africa Total

........ Reserves, December 31,2005 .
_Extensions and discoveries
Improved recovery

...Purchases of reserves inplace

@2 .03 010
2 9 10

JProduction
Revisions of prior estimates
Reserves, December 31, 2006 .
ions and discoveries

... Extensions and discoveries 51 - - 51
. Improved recovery 17 6 4 2T
_.Purchases of reservesinplace - - e -
. Salesof reservesinplace - - - -
... Production B (76) (17) 8) (101)
. Economic rev toprices 28 (81) 8 (45)
Revisions of prior estimates 8 38 10 56

Reserves, December 31, 2008 948 256 142 1,346

... December31,2005 402 214
.....December31,2006
. December 31, 2007
December 31, 2008

(1) Revisions of prior estimates for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 include the impact of economic revisions due to prices.

CANADIAN NATURAL 101




North North Offshore
Natural gas (bch America Sea West Africa Total

.. Net proved reserves e e e e et e
_Reserves, December 31, 2005 Y 77 .. U - Y2 ST 11 .
Extensions and discoveries 250 T T 250
Purchases of reserves in place T V0 LN P2 AL
Sales of reserves in place e ) T T
Production e e 833)
Revisions of prior estimates (37)

Reserves, December 31, 2006 e 3102

Extensions and discoveries 134 =

improved recovery e 132 3

Purchases of reserves in place . L

Sales of reserves inplace B T -

_Production (503
Revisions of prlor estimates 41
 Reserves, December 31,2007
Extensions and discoveries
_Improved recovery
~ Purchases of reserves in place
Sales of reserves in place
Economic revisions due to pnces S (19) (56) 6 (69)

Revisions of prior estimates 202 47 22 271
Reserves, December 31, 2008 3,523 67 94 3,684

Net proved developed reserves

December31 2006
v December31 2007
December 31, 2008

(1) Revisions of prior estimates for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 include the impact of economic revisions due to prices.

CAPITALIZED COSTS RELATED TO CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS ACTIVITIES
2008

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Other Total

_Proved properties o $ 34,386 $ 4155 $ 2,076 $ 14 3 40,631

Unproved properties ‘ 2,271 12 595 26 2,904

Less: accumulated depletlon and depreoatlon (21, 857) (3,366) (777) (14) (26,014)
Net capitalized costs $ 14,800 $ 801 $ 1,894 $ 26 $ 17,521

2007

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Other Total

Proved properties e S 32,061 3 3164 8 1695 8 . 145 36934

Unproved properties 2,259 10 138 25 2,432

. e 3%320 3074 83330 ..39:366
Less: accumulated depletion and depreciation (12,213) (1,446) (645) (14) (14,318)

Net capitalized costs $ 22,107 $ 1,728 % 1,188 § 25 $ 25,048
2006

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Other Total

 Proved properties e 829596 5 3346 5 1601 5 148 34557
Unproved properties 2,244 24 84 24 2,376

. . R b....31840 3370 168 38 . .3693
Less: accumulated depletion and depreciation 9, 878) (1 341) (481) (14) (11 714)

Net capitalized costs $ 21,962 2,029 § 1,204 § 24§ 25,219
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COSTS INCURRED IN CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS ACTIVITIES
2008

North North Offshore

(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Other Total

. Property acquisitions
......Unproved
. Exploration

Development e 1810 405 473 - 3977

Costs incurred $ 2337 $ 192 $ 817 $ 1

2007

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Other

Total

. Property acquisitions

S - O S - . S S

Development . 2,173 380 e -

259
2,701

14

Costs incurred $ 2,480 % 362 % 148 % 1

$ 2,991

2006

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Other

Total

Property acquisitions

Poved 8 5678 -8 18 . -3

L Exploration 238 4

Development B 2807 628 133 —

$ 5628

910 _

254
3,568

Costs incurred $ 9,582 % 632 % 135 §$ 11

$ 10,360

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FROM CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES

The Company'’s results of operations from crude oil and natural gas producing activities for the years ended December 31, 2008,

2007, and 2006 are summarized in the following tables:
2008

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa

Total

. Crude oil and natural gas revenue, net of royalties and blending costs ~ $ 8,126 $ 731 8

Transportation

Depletion, depreciation and amortization

. Asset retirement obligation accretion

_Petroleum revenue tax
Income tax

10,658

Results of operations $ (2,657) $ {(235) $ 423

(1) Includes the impact of a ceiling test impairment at December 31, 2008 of $8,665 million, pre-tax.

2007

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa

Total

$ ....2672

. Crude oil and natural gas revenue, net of royalties and blendingcosts ¢ 7441 '§ 1522 § 709 $

)

Depletion, depreciation and amortizaton . (2,359) (B4 (165
. Asset retirement obligation accreton . (38 B0 oo«
. Petroleum revenue tax = 4 -
Income tax (997) (282) 121

(432) OB
)

)
)
)

(2,168
(352

(2,864

(70

(141

s

iD=

=~

-

Results of operations $ 2,070 % 281 % 326

$ 2,677
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2006

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa
~ Crude oil and natural gas revenue, net of royalties and blending costs | $ 5707 $ 1310 8 911 % 7928
) Productlon
) _Transporta'uon

. Depletion, deprec'at'on a”d amo't'zat'on SOOI O . OO G- AU 1= S
Asset retirement obligation accretion
Petroleum revenue tax
Income tax

Results of operations $ 1,310 %

STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED FUTURE NET CASH FLOWS FROM PROVED CRUDE OIL AND

NATURAL GAS RESERVES AND CHANGES THEREIN
The following standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from proved crude oil and natural gas reserves has been
computed using year-end sales prices and costs and year-end statutory income tax rates. A discount factor of 10% has been
applied in determining the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows. The Company does not believe that the
standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows will be representative of actual future net cash flows and should not
be considered to represent the fair value of the crude oil and natural gas properties. Actual net cash flows will differ from the
presented estimated future net cash flows due to several factors including:

Future production will include production not only from proved properties, but may also include production from probable and
possible reserves,

Future production of crude oil and natural gas from proved properties will differ from reserves estimated;

Future production rates will vary from those estimated;

Future rather than year-end sales prices and costs will apply;

Economic factors such as interest rates, income tax rates, regulatory and fiscal environments and operating conditions will change;
Future estimated income taxes do not take into account the effects of future exploration expenditures; and

Future development and asset retirement obligations will differ from those estimated.

B E B

Future net revenues, development, production and restoration costs have been based upon the estimates referred to above. The
following tables summarize the Company’s future net cash flows relating to proved crude oil and natural gas reserves based on the
standardized measure as prescribed in FAS 69:

2008
North North Offshore

(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Total
. Future cash inflows e 850,993 8 13,681 $ 6,789 $ 72383

~ Future production costs S (23,747) ... (6,845) (3.000) . (33,592)

~ Future development and asset retlrement obllganons e (9,238) (4,674) (364) (14,276)

Future income taxes (3,097) (2,011) (1,061) (6,169)

_ Future net cash flows R 15,83 151 2,364 18,346

10% annual discount for tlmmg of future cash flows (6,872) (76) (1,011) (7,959)

Standardized measure of future net cash flows $ 8,959 $ 75 $ 1,353 $ 10,387

2007
North North Offshore

(millions of Canadian dollars} America Sea West Africa Total
Future cash inflows % 70069 § 30269 % . 9921 % 111259
[Future production costs e (23729)  (9316)  (2419)  (35464)
Future development and asset retrement obligations (7938 @02y @21 (12,580)

Future income taxes (9,508) (11,376) (1,978) (22,862)
. Future net cash flows 029894 2D96 4808 40353

10% annual discount for tlmlng of future cash flows (13,952) (2,176) (2,505) (18,633)

Standardized measure of future net cash flows $ 15,942 § 3,380 % 2,398 § 21,720
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2006

North North Offshore
(millions of Canadian dollars) America Sea West Africa Total

Futurecashinflows 63368 5 20815 8 7779 %....91.962
 Future production costs B3 ®07) @51) (32,228)
 Future development and asset retirement obligations . (7029 (4348) @24 (2201)
Future income taxes (9,118) (5,623) (1,372) (16,113)
.Future net cash flows s 2098T s 2 TOT 3066 31,420
10% annual discount for tlmlng “of future cash flows (11,214) (956) (1,258) (13,428)

Standardized measure of future net cash flows $ 14,373 § 1,811 % 1,808 § 17,992

The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows are summarized in the following
table:

(millions of Canadian dollars) 2008 2007 2006

..Sales of crude oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs . $ (9.679)| $ (7.050) 8 ....(5635)
 Net char (14,680) 7412 124200
s »Extensmns discoveries and 'mproved recovery e e oot 820, .1 429 769
. Changes in estimated future developmentcosts (169) (1,885
_ Purchases of _proved reserves in place 3% 2406
Sales of proved reserves in place (o3 (2)
.Changes in production timing andother 508 f] o (2156)
Net change in income taxes 8,462 (3,378) 1,270

. Net change e (11,333), 3728 .....\460)
Balance — beglnnmg of year 21,720 17,992 18,452

Balance — end of year $ 10,387 | $ 21,720 § 17,992
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ten-year review

Years ended December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(C$ millions, except per share amounts) : ]
Net earnings 4,985 2608 2504 1050 1405 1/ 758213
Pershare-basc $ 922 $ 484 $ 470 § 196 § 262 262 1628 051
Cash flow from operations @
o 6969 6198 4932 5021 3769 3160 2254 1920 1884 724
Per share - basic $ 12.89 $ 1149 § 9.18 % 936 $ 7.03 § 588 % 441 % 3.96 % 404 § 174
Capital expenditures, net of dispositions (including business combinations)
7,451 6,425 12,025 4,932 4,633 2,506 4,069 1,885 2,823 1,901
Ba|ance Sheet lnformatlon .........................................
Worklng capital (deflaency) surplus
f28) (382 82 (774  652) 505 (40 an .38,
Property plant and equment net
““““““““““““““ 38,966 33902 30767 19694 17064 13714 12934 8766 7439 4679
Total assets 42650 36114 33160 2185 18372 14643 13793 9290 8051 4976
long-term debt 12,596 10,940 11,043 3321 3538 2748 4200 2788 253 2157
Shareholders’ eqwty 18,374 13,321 10,690 8,237 7,324 6,006 4,754 3,928 3,297 1,962
SHARE INFORMATION () e
Common shares outstandmg (thousands)
540,991 539729 537,903 536348 536361 534926 535104 484804 489,116 445816
Welghted average shares outstanding (thousands)
540,647 539336 537,339 536650 536223 536940 511,532 485200 466804 415624
Dividends declared per common share
$ 040 $§ 034 $§ 030 $ 024 $§ 020 $ 015 $ 013 $§ 010 $ -3 -
Trading statistics ”
TSX=CS
Tradnng volume (thousands)
| 679,738 429034 508935 637,992 606,024 590,702 619316 534976 567,412 430460
High $11130 5 8002 § 7391 $ 6200 $ 2758 § 1681 $ 1364 § 1309 § 1405 § 0965
Low $ 3419 5 5245 § 4549 5 2428 § 1596 5 1130 § 040 § 898 § 745 § 495
Close s 4875 5 7258 § 6215 $ 5763 § 2563 § 1634 $ 1170 $ 958 § 1038 § 881
NYSE US$
Tradlng volume (thousands)
N . 967,228 486,266 401,909 251,554 125468 31864 20764 3172 -
Share Price (s/share) S B U R
High § 6438 § 5405 $ 2237 $ 872 $ 863 %5 946 5 -
_Low .$..4029 5 1974 § 1194 § 589 $ ..570 % 619 % -
Close $ 5323 $ 4962 § 2139 % 742 % 6.10 §$ 688 § -
Debt to book cap|ta||zat|on ®
A% A% S1%  29% 3% 3% 4% 4% 44% 5%
Return on average common shareholders’ equity, after tax
,,,,,,, 3% 2% 27%. 4% 2% 26%  13%  18%  29%  13%
Daily productlon before royalties per ten thousand common shares (boerd)
104 113 108 103 96 B85 82 74 . 66 50
Conventional proved and probable reserves per common share (oe) “
6.1 63 .. 64 . ,_48, 43 40 03331 29 . 24
Net asset value per common share W
$ 7978 $ 6893 $ 5641 $ 6044 § 3313 $ 2335 $ 1957 $ 1688 $ 2054 § 1233

(1) Restated to reflect two-for-one share splits in May 2004 and May 2005.

(2) Cash flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure that represents net earnings adjusted for non-cash items before working capital adjustments. The Company
evaluates its performance based on cash flow from operations. Cash flow from operations may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies.

(3) Refer to the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of the MD&A for the definitions of these items.

(4) Based upon constant dollar Company gross reserves (before royalties), using year-end common shares outstanding.

(5) Based upon 10% discounted, forecast price pre-tax proved and probable net present values as reported in the Company’s AIF for conventional reserves, with $250/acre
added for core undeveloped land in 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, $75/acre for all years prior, less long-term debt and adjustments for working capital. Refer to the

“Year-End Reserves” section of the Annual Report.
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Years ended December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

OPERATING INFORMATION

Con entlonal crude

Company gross proved
_North America

Offshore West Africa 157 148 145 148

_ 1084 1043 785
_Northsea 256 31129 290

695 672 665 644 643 554
303 22 203
125 106 94

1,470 1,543 1,487 1,223

1,123 1,000 962

Company gross proved and probable reserves (before royalties)

. North America 1,760 1806 1753 1154 . 992 977 ]
North sea 399 06 AL AT

Offshore West Africa 212 218 223 230

2,371 2,430 2,397 1,801

Company gross proved reserves (before royaltres) o .
_ North America 4,077 4275 4507 3378
NorthSea .87 Bl BT 22

" Offshore West Africa 107 79 69 83

3202 3006 3048 2566 2360 2183

81 86 90 69 65 -

4,251 4,435 4,613 3,490

3,310 3,154 3,209 2,729 2,516 2,183

Company gross proved and probable reserves (before royalties)
_ North America
_ NorTh Sea

Offshirs West Ay 351 109 I

2,762 2,547
M4
84 -

5,584 5,804 6,112 4,568

4,259 3,823 3,659 3,129 2,960 2,547

Total proved reserves (before royalties) (mmboe)
2,178 2,282 2,256 1,804

1,674 1,526 1,437 1,243 1,200 918

Total proved and probable reserves (before royalties) (mmboe)
3,302 3,397 3,416 2,562

2,330 2,118 1,791 1,479 1,404 1,065

Daily production (before royalties)
Crude oil and NGLs (mbbld)

North America 244 247 235 222

_North Sea 45 5% 60 68

Offshore West Africa 27 28 37 23

06 175 169 167 155 8
L - AR - S . SO, A,
12 10 7 3

316 331 332 313

283 242 215 206 174 87

Natural gas (mmcird)

_Noh America 1,472 1643 1468 1416

_North Sea L L S SN L

© Offshore West Africa 13 12 9 4

1330 12es

L1204 906 793 721
... S AL S S

1,495 1,668 1,492 1,439

1,388 1,299 1,232 918 794 721

Total production (before royalties) (mboerd)
565 609 581 553

514 459 421 359 306 207

Product Pricing

Ao e o and NGl price oy
8241 3545 .35365 4686 .

Average natural gas pnce ($/mcf)
8.39 6.85 6.72 8.57

3799 ...32686 ..31\22 2345 3189 2220

6.50 6.21 3.77 5.45 4.92 2.52
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corporate information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
*Catherine M. Best (1 - chain )
Interim Chief Financial Officer,
Alberta Health Services
Calgary, Alberta

N. Murray Edwards ()
President, Edco Financial Holdings Ltd.
Calgary, Alberta

*Honourable Gary A. Filmon, rc,om. (1) 3)
Consultant, The Exchange Group
Winnipeg, Manitoba

*Ambassador Gordon D. Giffin (1) - chain
Senior Partner, McKenna Long & Aldridge LLP
Atlanta, Georgia

John G. Langille
Vice-Chairman,
Canadian Natural Resources Limited
Calgary, Alberta

Steve W. Laut
President & Chief Operating Officer,
Canadian Natural Resources Limited
Calgary, Alberta

Keith A. J. MacPhail ¢ 5
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer,
Bonavista Energy Trust
Calgary, Alberta

Allan P. Markin, oc )
Chairman of the Board,
Canadian Natural Resources Limited
Calgary, Alberta

*Norman F. Mcintyre ) 1) 5)
Independent Businessman
Calgary, Alberta

*Honourable Frank J. McKenna, rc,0.c.oNB. QC. 2)3)
Deputy Chair, TD Bank Financial Group
Cap Pelé, New Brunswick

*James S. Palmer, cm., A0E, Q.C. (2 - Chain (4) (5)
Chairman and Partner,
Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP
Calgary, Alberta

*Eldon R. Smith, v.0. )5 - chain
Professor Emeritus and Former Dean,
Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary
Calgary, Alberta

*David A. Tuer (1)3) 4 - Chair)
Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Marble Point Energy Ltd.
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Allan P. Markin
Chairman of the Board

N. Murray Edwards
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John G. Langille
Vice-Chairman of the Board

Steve W. Laut
President & Chief Operating Officer

Douglas A. Proll
Chief Financial Officer & Senior Vice-President, Finance

Réal M. Cusson
Senior Vice-President, Marketing

Réal J.H. Doucet
Senior Vice-President, Oil Sands

Allen M. Knight
Senior Vice-President, International
& Corporate Development

Tim S. McKay
Senior Vice-President, Operations

Lyle G. Stevens
Senior Vice-President, Exploitation

Jeff W. Wilson
Senior Vice-President, Exploration

Mary-Jo E. Case
Vice-President, Land

Randall S. Davis
Vice-President, Finance & Accounting

Terry J. Jocksch
Vice-President, International and Managing Director
CNR International (U.K.) Limited
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) Compensation Committee member
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* Determined to be independent by the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Board of Directors and pursuant to the independent
standards established under National Instrument 58-101 and the New York
Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Listing Standards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Canadian Natural's corporate governance practices and
disclosure of those practices are in compliance with National
Policy 58-201 Corporate Governance Guidelines and National
Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance
Practices. Canadian Natural, as a “foreign private issuer” in the
United States, may rely on home jurisdiction listing standards
for compliance with most of the New York Stock Exchange
("NYSE") Corporate Governance Listing Standards but must
disclose any significant differences between its corporate
governance practices and those required for U.S. companies
listed on the NYSE.

Canadian Natural follows Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX") rules
with respect to shareholder approval of equity compensation
plans and material revisions to such plans. TSX rules provide
that only the creation of or material amendments to equity
compensation plans which provide for new issuance of

securities are subject to shareholder approval. However, the
NYSE requires shareholder approval of all equity compensation
plans whether they provide for the delivery of newly issued
securities, or rely on securities acquired in the open market by
the issuing company for the purposes of redistribution to plan
beneficiaries, and material revisions to such plans. Canadian
Natural has a share bonus plan pursuant to which common
shares are purchased through the TSX. This is not a new issue
of securities under the share bonus plan and under TSX rules
the plan is not subject to shareholder approval.

Canadian Natural has included as exhibits to its Annual Report
on Form 40-F for the 2008 fiscal year filed with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission certificates of the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certifying as
to disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting.

CORPORATE OFFICES

Head Office
Canadian Natural Resources Limited
2500, 855 - 2 Street S.W.
Calgary, AB T2P 4J8

Telephone: 403.517.6700
Facsimile: 403.517.7350
Website: www.cnrl.com

Investor Relations
Telephone: 403.514.7777
Facsimile: 403.514.7888
Email: ir@cnrl.com

International Office
CNR International (U.K.) Limited
St. Magnus House, Guild Street
Aberdeen AB11 6NJ Scotland

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
Calgary, Alberta
Toronto, Ontario

Computershare Investor Services LLC
New York, New York

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Calgary, Alberta

INDEPENDENT QUALIFIED RESERVES EVALUATORS
GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd.
Calgary, Alberta

Sproule Associates Limited
Calgary, Alberta

COMMON SHARE DIVIDEND
The Company paid its first dividend on its common shares on
April 1, 2001. Since then, dividends have been paid on the first
day of every January, April, July and October. The following
table shows the aggregate amount of the cash dividends
declared per common share in each of its last three years ended
December 31.

2008 2007 2006

Cash dividends declared
per common share

$ 040 % 034 $ 030

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
Canadian Natural's Annual General Meeting of the
Shareholders will be held on Thursday, May 7, 2009 at
3:00 p.m. Mountain Daylight Time in the Ballroom of the
Metropolitan Centre, Calgary, Alberta.

STOCK LISTING
CNQ
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The New York Stock Exchange
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the Board, or failing him, John G. Langille, Vice-Chairman of the Corporation, or instead of either of the foregoing,

CANADIAN NATURAL RESOURCES LIMITED
INSTRUMENT OF PROXY

SOLICITED BY THE MANAGEMENT OF CANADIAN NATURAL RESOURCES LIMITED
FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON THURSDAY MAY 7, 2009

The undersigned shareholder of Canadian Natural Resources Limited (the “Corporation”) hereby appoints Allan P. Markin, Chairman of

as nominee and proxy (the “Proxy”) of the undersigned with full power of substitution to attend and act on behalf of the undersigned in respect of all
Common Shares registered in the name of the undersigned at the Annual General Meeting of holders of Common Shares of the Corporation to be
held at 3:00 o’clock in the afternoon (MDT) on Thursday the 7" day of May, 2009 (the “Meeting”), and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof in
the same manner, to the same extent and with the same powers as if the undersigned were present at the Meeting or any adjournment or adjournments
thereof; provided that the undersigned shareholder specifies and directs the persons above named that the Common Shares registered in the name of
the undersigned shall be voted:

1.

To vote on the election of directors of the Corporation for the ensuing year, the nominees proposed by management described in the
Information Circular accompanying the Notice of Meeting and this Instrument of Proxy.

FOR WITHHOLD

A)  ALL nominees O 0
OR individually as follows:
FOR WITHHOLD FOR WITHHOLD

B)  Catherine M. Best
N. Murray Edwards
Honourable Gary A. Filmon
Ambassador Gordon D. Giffin
John G. Langille Eldon R. Smith
Steve W. Laut David A. Tuer

TOVOTEFOR ___ OR WITHHOLD FROM VOTING ON _______ the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
Chartered Accountants, Calgary, Alberta, as auditors of the Corporation for the ensuing year and the authorization of the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors of the Corporation to fix their remuneration.

Keith A.J. MacPhail

Allan P. Markin

Honourable Frank J. McKenna
James S. Palmer

oOoOoOoOod
ooOo0o0dd
oooooo
oooOoOod

At the discretion of the said Proxy, to vote on any permitted amendments to or variations of any matters identified in the Notice of Meeting
enclosed herewith or other matters that may properly be brought before the Meeting or any adjournments thereof.

UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ABOVE, ON ANY BALLOT THAT MAY BE CALLED FOR,
THE COMMON SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT OF PROXY WILL BE
VOTED FOR THE APPROVAL OF ALL MATTERS SET OUT HEREIN. IF ANY AMENDMENTS
TO THE MATTERS IDENTIFIED IN THE NOTICE OF MEETING ARE PROPOSED AT THE
MEETING OR ANY ADJOURNMENT OR ADJOURNMENTS THEREOF, OR IF ANY OTHER
MATTERS PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING OR ANY ADJOURNMENT OR
ADJOURNMENTS THEREOF, DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY IS HEREBY CONFERRED
WITH RESPECT THERETO.

The undersigned shareholder of the Corporation hereby ratifies and confirms all that the Proxy
may do by virtue hereof. Any Instrument of Proxy previously given with respect to the undersigned
shares is hereby revoked and this Instrument of Proxy may be revoked at any time prior to the
exercise thereof.

Name of Shareholder

Signature of Shareholder

Number of Shares

DATED this day of , 2009.

1. A shareholder has the right to appoint a proxy holder (who need not be a shareholder) other than the persons
designated above, to attend and act for such shareholder at the Meeting. To exercise this right, the shareholder must
insert the name of the desired person in the blank space provided above and strike out the other names, or may
complete another appropriate Instrument of Proxy.

2. The Instrument of Proxy must be dated and must be executed by the shareholder or such shareholder’s attorney
authorized in writing or if the shareholder is a corporation under its corporate seal or by an officer or attorney
thereof duly authorized. If this Instrument of Proxy is not dated it shall be deemed to bear the date on which it was
mailed to the shareholder by the management of the Corporation.

3. The Instrument of Proxy will not be valid and will not be acted on or voted unless it is signed and delivered to
Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 9" Floor, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario MSJ 2Y1 not later
than 24 hours before the time of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.



CANADIAN NATURAL RESOURCES LIMITED

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON THURSDAY MAY 7, 2009

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Shareholders
of Canadian Natural Resources Limited (the “Corporation”) will be held at the Metropolitan Centre,
333 - 4% Avenue S. W, in the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, Canada, on Thursday May 7, 2009, at
3:00 o’clock in the afternoon (MDT) for the following purposes:

1. To receive the Annual Report of the Corporation to the Shareholders, the Consolidated Financial
Statements, and the report of the Auditors, for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008;

2. To elect Directors for the ensuing year;

3. To appoint Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorize the Audit Committee of the Corporation’s Board
of Directors to fix their remuneration;

4. To transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting or any adjournments thereof.

ANY SHAREHOLDER OF RECORD AT THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON MARCH 18, 2009 WILL BE
ENTITLED TO RECEIVE NOTICE OF, AND VOTE AT THE MEETING, PROVIDED THAT TO THE EXTENT
SUCH A SHAREHOLDER TRANSFERS THE OWNERSHIP OF ANY OF HIS SHARES AF TER THE RECORD
DATE AND THE TRANSFEREE OF THOSE SHARES ESTABLISHES THAT HE OWNS SUCH SHARES AND
DEMANDS NOT LATER THAN 5 DAYS BEFORE THE MEETING THAT HIS NAME BE INCLUDED ON THE
SHAREHOLDERS’ LIST, SUCH TRANSFEREE IS ENTITLED TO VOTE SUCH SHARES AT THE MEETING. IF
YOU CANNOT BE PRESENT IN PERSON, PLEASE SIGN AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY FORM IN THE
ADDRESSED ENVELOPE PROVIDED. IN ORDER FOR YOUR PROXY FORM TO BE EFFECTIVE, IT MUST BE
DULY COMPLETED AND MUST REACH THE OFFICE OF COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA,
9T™H FLOOR, 100 UNIVERSITY AVENUE, TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA M5J 2Y1 AT LEAST 24 HOURS
BEFORE THE MEETING TO BE HELD ON THURSDAY MAY 7, 2009.

The specific details of the matters proposed to be put before the Meeting are set forth in the Information
Circular of the Corporation, which accompanies this Notice. Copies of the Annual Report of the Corporation and
Consolidated Financial Statements referred to herein are being sent under separate cover if you are a registered
holder, or if, as a beneficial shareholder, you returned the financial statement request card sent with 2008 proxy
solicitation material.

DATED at Calgary, Alberta, this 18" day of March 2009.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Bruce E. McGrath
Corporate Secretary
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I. INFORMATION RESPECTING THE CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE CORPORATION

The Board of Directors (the ‘Board”) continually evaluates the corporate governance policies and procedures of
the Corporation. The Board annually conducts a self-assessment of its performance, an assessment of its members and
its committees and each committee assesses its members. Since the date of the last Information Circular, the Board
has reviewed its standing committee memberships to ensure the Audit, the Compensation and the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committees are constituted with all independent directors pursuant to the independence
standards established under National Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of section 1.4 of National
Instrument 52-110 and the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) Listing Standards and to ensure the Health, Safety
and Environmental and the Reserves Committees are constituted with a majority of independent directors.

Regulatory changes relating to corporate governance are continually monitored by the Board and the Board will
take appropriate action as regulatory changes occur. In the following table we describe the Corporation’s corporate
governance practices in compliance with corporate governance disclosure requirements mandated under National
Instrument 58-101.

Corporate Governance Disclosure Requirement Comments

1. (a) Disclose the identity of directors who are ~ Those directors who are determined to be independent by the
independent. Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the
Board and pursuant to the independence standards established
under National Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of
section 1.4 of National Instrument 52-110 and the NYSE Listing
Standards are disclosed in this Information Circular under
“Director Independence”.

(b) Disclose the identity of directors who are  Those directors who are determined to be non-independent by
not independent and describe the basis the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the
for that determination. Board and pursuant to the independence standards established

under National Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of
section 1.4 of National Instrument 52-110 and the NYSE Listing
Standards are disclosed in this Information Circular under
“Director Independence”.

(c) Disclose whether or not a majority of Seven of the 12 director nominees proposed by management for
directors are independent. election are independent as determined by the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee and the Board and pursuant
to the independence standards established under National
Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of section 1.4 of
National Instrument 52-110 and the NYSE Listing Standards.
Refer to section “Director Independence” in this Information
Circular which describes how directors are determined to be
independent or non-independent.

(d) Identify those directors who are Directorships of other issuers held by the director nominees are
presently a director of any other issuer reported in this Information Circular under “Election of
and identify the issuer. Directors”.



Corporate Governance Disclosure Requirement

(e) Disclose whether or not the independent

(®

(8

directors hold regularly scheduled
meetings at which non-independent
directors and members of management
are not in attendance.

Disclose whether or not the chair of the
Board is an independent director.

Disclose the attendance record of each
director for all board meetings held since
the beginning of the issuer’s most
recently completed financial year.

2. Disclose the text of the Board’s written

mandate.

(b)

3. (a) Disclose whether or not the Board has

developed written position descriptions
for the chair and the chair of each board
committee.

Disclose whether or not the Board and
CEO have developed a written position
description for the CEO.

Comments

Prior to the termination of each Board meeting, the
non-management directors meet in executive session without the
presence of management to discuss whatever topics are
appropriate. Additional executive sessions may be scheduled
from time to time as determined by a majority of the
non-management directors in consultation with the Chair of the
Board and Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee. In addition, at each meeting of a Board committee,
each committee holds an executive session without the presence
of management.

The Board of Directors functions independently of management
and appoints the Chair. The Chair is considered non-
independent. The Board does not have a lead director but
leadership for the non-management directors would, depending
on circumstances, be provided by the Chair of the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee or a lead director
appointed by the non-management directors who have been
determined to be independent.

The attendance of each director for all Board and Board
committee meetings held since the beginning of the most
recently completed financial year is reported in this Information
Circular under “Meetings of the Board of Directors and Its
Committees During 2008”. Average attendance rate in 2008 for
all Board meetings held during the year is 99%.

The Board’s mandate is attached as Schedule “A” to this
Information Circular which outlines the responsibilities of the
Board.

The role and responsibilities of the Chair and the Chair of the
Board committees is determined through the mandates of the
Board and the mandate of each Board committee.

The Corporation does not have a designated CEO position. This
role is delegated by the Board to the Corporate Management
Committee of the Corporation which is comprised of
14 members of the senior management group including the
Chair, the two Vice-Chairs and the President and Chief
Operating Officer. The Corporate Management Committee
shares the responsibilities normally associated with a CEO
position. The Corporation’s corporate governance guidelines
state that the Board is responsible for the stewardship of the
Corporation and overseeing the business and affairs of the
Corporation. Any responsibility that is not delegated to senior
management or a Board committee remains with the full Board.
In addition, the Board in conjunction with senior management
determines the limits of management’s responsibilities and
establishes annual corporate objectives which management is
responsible for meeting.



Corporate Governance Disclosure Requirement

4, (a) Briefly describe what measures the
Board takes to orient new directors
regarding (i) the role of the board, its
committees and its directors, and (ii) the
nature and operation of the issuer’s
business.

(b) Briefly describe what measures, if any,
the Board takes to provide continuing
education for its directors.

5. (a) Disclose whether or not the Board has
adopted a written code for the directors,
officers and employees. If the Board has
adopted a written code:

(i) disclose how a person or company
may obtain a copy of the code;

(ii) describe how the Board monitors
compliance with its code, or if
the board does not monitor
compliance, explain whether and
how the Board satisfies itself
regarding compliance with its code;
and

Comments

The Corporation has an orientation program whereby new
members of the Board are provided background information
about the Corporation’s business, current issues, and corporate
strategies. They also receive a Director’s Manual which contains
the Information Circular, annual report, press releases, and
Annual Information Form. They receive a copy of the
Corporation’s Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct,
Board and Board committee mandates and other information
about the Board, its committees, director’s duties and
responsibilities. They meet with key operations personnel and
receive specific information on the business and ongoing
operations of the Corporation, corporate structure, management
structure, financial position, business risks, employee
compensation, business conduct philosophies, and corporate
governance practices. As well, any director has unrestricted
direct access to any member of senior management and their
staff at any time.

The Corporation provides ongoing continuous education
programs through key business area presentations, monthly
business updates and operations site visits as appropriate. In
2008 detailed presentations were conducted on the
Corporation’s thermal projects of Kirby and Primrose/Wolf
Lake, quarterly presentations on the progress of construction of
the Horizon Oil Sands Project. Detailed monthly reports were
also provided on the Horizon Project’s progress. Each director is
expected to participate in continuing education programs to
maintain any professional designation that they may have and
which would have been considered in their nomination as a
director. Each director is expected to participate in programs
that would be necessary to maintain a level of expertise in order
to perform his or her responsibilities as a director and to provide
ongoing guidance and direction to management.

The Board of Directors has adopted a written code for the
directors, officers and employees of the Corporation. Details
regarding the code can be found in this Information Circular
under “Ethics Policy”.

A copy of the Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct
can be obtained free of charge from SEDAR website at
www.sedar.com or by writing to the Corporation to the attention
of the Corporate Secretary.

Periodic reports are provided to the Board from management
directly responsible for compliance related matters on
compliance with its code and on any existing or potential
conflicts of interest of directors, officers and employees. The
Board, through the Audit Committee chair, also receives reports
of any financial or accounting issues raised through the
Corporation’s anonymous toll-free hot-line.



Corporate Governance Disclosure Requirement

(iii) provide a cross-reference to any
material change report filed since
the beginning of the issuer’s most
recently completed financial year
that pertains to any conduct of a
director or executive officer that
constitutes a departure from the
code.

(b) Describe any steps the Board takes to

(©)

ensure directors exercise independent
judgment in considering transactions and
agreements in respect of which a director
or executive officer has a material
interest.

Describe any other steps the Board takes
to encourage and promote a culture of
ethical business and conduct.

Comments

No material change report pertaining to the conduct of any
director or executive officer has been required or filed during the
most recently completed financial year. To the best of the
Board’s knowledge, there has been no departure from the code
in the conduct of any director or executive officer.

To ensure independent judgment is exercised by the directors on
any transaction they may be considering where another director
or executive officer of the Corporation may have material
interest, the director or executive officer with the material
interest must declare such material interest and would be
excused from the meeting after management’s presentation has
been made and all questions have been answered to the
satisfaction of the disinterested directors; thereby permitting the
disinterested directors to have an open and unencumbered
discussion on the merits of the transaction and the benefit to the
Corporation.

The Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct applies to
the directors, officers and employees as well as others who
perform services for or on behalf of the Corporation and is
supported by the Board as a whole. The Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee reviews the Code of
Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct annually to ensure it
keeps pace with evolving business ethics and best practices. The
Board must approve any changes to the Code of Integrity,
Business Ethics and Conduct and only after a recommendation
to the Board is received from the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee whose responsibility it is to review and
recommend to the Board any amendments it determines is
appropriate. Material changes to the Code of Integrity, Business
Ethics and Conduct are communicated to all employees to
ensure they are aware of such changes and that they are in
compliance with the Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and
Conduct as modified. Each new employee must also sign an
acknowledgement form upon their hire acknowledging that they
have received a copy of the Code of Integrity, Business Ethics
and Conduct, have read it, understand it and agree to abide by it.
Directors, officers and employees must immediately declare any
actual or potential conflicts of interest that may exist.

Annually a reminder is sent out to all employees reminding them
of the importance of adhering to the spirit and intent of the
Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct and how a copy
can be acquired or referenced at any time. In addition, annually,
each Director and officer must acknowledge in writing the Code
of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct and confirm they are
familiar with it, understand it and that they are not in breach of
any of its principles nor were granted any waivers for compliance
with the Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct in whole
or in part.



(b)

©

7. (a)

(b)

(©

Corporate Governance Disclosure Requirement

6. (a)

Describe the process by which the Board
identifies new candidates for the board
nomination.

Disclose whether or not the Board has a
nominating  committee composed
entirely of independent directors.

If the Board has a nominating
committee, describe the responsibilities,
powers and operation of the nominating
committee.

Describe the process by which the Board
determines the compensation for the
issuer’s directors and officers.

Disclose whether or not the Board has a
compensation committee composed
entirely of independent directors.

If the Board has a compensation
commiittee, describe the responsibilities,
powers and operation of the
compensation committee.

Comments

The Board has constituted the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee to recommend to the Board, nominees
for appointment of new directors to fill vacancies or meet
additional needs of the Board. Through the Board evaluation
process and ongoing monitoring of the needs of the Corporation,
desired expertise and skill sets are identified and individuals that
possess the required experience and skills are contacted by the
Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
and if agreed interviewed by the Chair of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee, the Chair and the
Vice-Chairs of the Board and considered by the entire
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee for
recommendation to the Board as potential nominee directors.

The Board has constituted the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee composed entirely of independent
directors, each of whom meets the independent qualifications
under National Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of
section 1.4 of National Instrument 52-110 and the New York
Stock Exchange Listing Standards. Members of the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee are identified in this
Information Circular in the table under “Election of Directors”.

The primary duties and responsibilities of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee are described in this
Information Circular under “Responsibilities of the Board of
Director’s Standing Committees”.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews
periodically the adequacy and structure of directors’
compensation and makes recommendations to the Board
designed to ensure the directors’ compensation realistically
reflects the responsibilities, time commitments and risks of the
directors. The Board has constituted the Compensation
Committee as a standing committee of the Board of Directors to
review and approve the Corporation’s compensation philosophy
and programs for executive officers and employees and to
approve and evaluate all compensation of executive officers
including salaries, bonuses and equity compensation plans.

The Board has constituted the Compensation Committee
comprised entirely of independent directors each of whom meets
the independent qualifications under National
Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of section 1.4 of
National Instrument 52-110 and the NYSE Listing Standards.
Members of the Compensation Committee are identified in this
Information Circular in the table under “Election of Directors”.

The primary duties and responsibilities of the Compensation
Committee are described in this Information Circular under
“Responsibilities of the Board of Director’s Standing
Committees”.



Corporate Governance Disclosure Requirement

(d) Disclose the identity of the consultant or
advisor retained to assist in determining
the compensation for any of the directors
or officers.

8. If the Board has standing committees other
than the audit, compensation and nominating
committees, identify the committees and
describe their function.

9. Disclose whether or not the Board, its
committees and individual directors are
regularly assessed with respect to their
effectiveness and contribution.

Comments

In arriving at the compensation levels paid by the Corporation to
its executive officers, a number of factors are taken into account
including the expertise and experience of the individual, the
length of time the individual has been in the position, the
personal performance of the individual, the overall performance
of the Corporation, and, a subjective evaluation considering
peer-company market data from surveys in which the
Corporation participates. It is believed that the information
available and the factors considered in determining executive
compensation is sufficient in helping to determine the
appropriate level of executive compensation and that the services
of an independent compensation consultant and associated costs
were not warranted.

Two other standing committees of the Board are the Health,
Safety and Environmental Committee and the Reserves
Committee. Their primary duties and responsibilities are
described in this Information Circular under “Responsibilities of
the Board of Director’s Standing Committees”. These
committees are composed of a majority of independent directors
who meet the independent qualifications under National
Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of section 1.4 of
National Instrument 52-110 and the NYSE Listing Standards.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a
whole, the committees of the Board and the contribution of
individual directors. The assessment includes a detailed annual
questionnaire that each director must complete. The annual
questionnaire covers a range of topics including: individual
self-assessment; assessment of board and committee
performance and effectiveness; and, an assessment of peer
performance at the Board level and at the committee level. An
independent management consulting firm is engaged to review
and analyze the completed questionnaire and provide to the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee a
presentation and written detailed report of the responses to the
questionnaire. The written analysis from the consulting firm
together with any issues or concerns raised by the survey
constitutes part of the report to the full Board. The Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee presents the detailed
report to the Board and makes recommendations to improve the
effectiveness of the Board in light of the results of the
performance evaluation.

OTHER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS

The New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Listing Standards

The Corporation, as a “foreign private issuer” in the United States, may rely on home jurisdiction listing
standards for compliance with the NYSE Corporate Governance Listing Standards but must comply with the following
NYSE rules: (i) the rule requiring the audit committee to meet the requirements of Securities Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) Rule 10A-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; (ii) the requirement for the Corporation to
disclose in its annual report or on its website any significant differences between its corporate governance practices
and the NYSE listing standards; (iii) the requirement for the Corporation’s CEO to notify in writing the NYSE after
any executive officer becomes aware of any non-compliance with the applicable provisions of NYSE Corporate



Governance Listing Standards; and, (iv) the requirement for the Corporation to submit an executed Annual Written
Affirmation affirming the Corporation’s compliance with audit committee requirements of SEC Rule 10A-3 of the
Exchange Act or, as may be required from time to time, an Interim Written Affirmation to the NYSE in the event of
certain changes to the Audit Committee membership or member’s independence and that the Corporation has
provided its statement of significant corporate governance differences as required to be included in its annual report
to shareholders or on its website.

As required by the NYSE, a statement of the significant differences between the Corporation’s current corporate
governance practices and those currently required for U. S. companies listed on the NYSE is included in the
Corporation’s annual report to shareholders.

Meetings of the Board of Directors and its Committees During 2008

The table below sets out the board and committee meeting attendance for 2008. The overall average meeting
attendance rate at all Board and committee meetings held in 2008 was 99%.

CM. NM. GD. GA. JG. SW KAl AR N.E EJ. JS. ER. DA # of
Directors Best Edwards Giffin Filmon Langille Laut MacPhail Markin McIntyre McKenna Palmer Smith Tuer Meetings

Board Meetings . . . . 7/7 1 M 11 m 1 1 1 m 6/7 m mn i 7
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%  100%  100% 86% 100% 100% 100%  99%
Committee Meetings

Audit .. ...... 5/5 N/A 5/5 55 N/A  NA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A  NA 5/5 5
100% — 100%  100% — — - - - — — - 100%  100%
NCG.......... NA N/A 2/2 22 N/A  NA N/A N/A N/A 212 NA NA 22 2
— — 100%  100% — — — — — 100% — — 100%  100%
Compensation . . . . . 6/6 N/A N/A  NA NA NA N/A N/A 6/6 6/6 6/6 6/6 N/A 6
100% — — — —_ — — — 100% 100%  100% 100%  — 100%
Reserves . . ... ... N/A 2/2 NA NA NA NA 22 N/A 22 N/A 212 N/A 212 2
— 100% — — — — 100% — 100% — 100% —  100% 100%
HSE ......... N/A N/A NA NA NA NA 4/4 4/4 4/4 N/A 4/4 4/4 N/A 4
— — — — — — 100%  100%  100% o 100% 100%  — 100%
Total Meetings . ... 18/18 9/9 14/14 14714 7 1 13/13 11/11 1919 14/15 1919 1717 16/16
Attendance Rate ... 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 10% 100% 100%  100% 93% 100% 100% 100% 99%

Mandatory Share Ownership

The Board believes that in order to better align the interests of the directors and the executive officers with those
of the Corporation’s shareholders, share ownership by the directors and executive officers is desirable.
Non-management directors are required to acquire and hold Common Shares of the Corporation within five (5) years
from the date of the director’s appointment to the Board equal to a minimum aggregate market value of three times
the annual retainer fee paid to directors. The number of Common Shares held by each Director and their respective
market value as of the date of this Information Circular is reported in the table under “Election of Directors” in this
Information Circular. Each non-management director meets or exceeds the share ownership requirement of the
Corporation.

Directors are required to confirm annually for the Corporation’s Information Circular their Common Share
ownership position and that such position is their beneficial and legal ownership position and has not been hedged or
otherwise sold.

Director Independence

For a director to be independent, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board must
affirmatively determine such independence, taking into account any applicable regulatory requirements and such
other factors as the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and Board may deem appropriate; provided,
however, that there shall be a three (3) year period during which the following individuals shall not be deemed
independent: (i) former employees of the Corporation, or of its independent auditor; (ii) former employees of any
company whose compensation committee includes or included in that time an officer of the Corporation; and, (iii) an
immediate family member of the individuals specified in (i) and (ii) above. In addition, a director whose immediate
family member is or was an executive of the Corporation or a current employee of any company whose compensation



committee includes an officer of the Corporation will not be considered independent. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and the Board review annually the relationship that each director has with the Corporation
(either directly; or, as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the
Corporation). To assist in this process, all Directors are required to complete a questionnaire relative to their
shareholdings in the Corporation and business relationships. Following this review, only those Directors whom the
Board and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee affirmatively determine have no direct or indirect
material relationship with the Corporation taking into account the above mentioned factors, any applicable regulatory
requirements and such other factors as the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and Board may deem
appropriate will be considered independent directors. Seven of the 12 director nominees proposed by management for
election are independent as determined by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board and
pursuant to the independent standards established under National Instrument 58-101 and within the meaning of
section 1.4 of National Instrument 52-110 and the NYSE Listing Standards. Ms. C. M. Best and Messrs. G. A. Filmon,
G. D. Giffin, F J. McKenna, J. S. Palmer, E. R. Smith and D. A. Tuer have all been affirmatively determined to be
independent using the above criteria. Mr. J. S. Palmer is the Chair and a partner of a law firm that from time to time
provides legal services to the Corporation. Mr. J. S. Palmer does not personally provide these services to the
Corporation nor solicit those services and has confirmed that he does not receive any portion or percentage of the fees
paid by the Corporation to the law firm, nor does he participate in the profits of the firm either directly or indirectly.
He has also confirmed that fees paid to the law firm by the Corporation in 2008 were less than 2% of that firm’s gross
revenues and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board has determined that the fees that
have been paid to the law firm in 2008 are not material to either the Corporation or the law firm and therefore do not
impair his ability to act independent of management. Messrs. A. P. Markin, N. M. Edwards, J. G. Langille, S. W. Laut
who, as part of the senior management committee of the Corporation and Mr. K. A. J. MacPhail through a familial
relationship with the Chair of the Board, have been determined by the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Board to be non-independent.

Director Retirement Policy

The Board of Directors established a mandatory retirement policy for Directors. Under the policy, any Director
who has reached the age 75, except for any director who was over the age 75 on March 2, 2007 (the date the
mandatory retirement policy was adopted by the Board), can not stand for election to the Board. The Board in
adopting the retirement policy noted that Mr. J. S. Palmer had reached the age of 75. The Board also recognized the
positive contribution, dedicated service, wise counsel and leadership provided to the Corporation and its shareholders
by Mr. J. S. Palmer since first becoming a Director in 1997. It is the Board’s continued belief that the Corporation and
its shareholders continue to benefit from his valued experience, knowledge, mentoring and input into the stewardship
of the Corporation.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

All of the members of the Corporation’s Audit Committee are financially literate. Ms. C. M. Best who is chair of
the Audit Committee qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” under the rules issued by the SEC pursuant to
the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Ethics Policy

The Corporation has had a long-standing Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct, which includes such
topics as employment standards, conflicts of interest, communication, the treatment of confidential information and
trading in the Corporation’s shares and is designed to ensure that the Corporation’s business is conducted in a
consistently legal and ethical manner. Each Director and all employees including each member of senior management
and more specifically the principal executive officers, the principal financial officer and the principal accounting
officer are required to abide by the Corporation’s Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct. The Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee periodically reviews the Corporation’s Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and
Conduct to ensure it addresses appropriate topics and complies with regulatory requirements and recommends any
changes it deems appropriate to the Board for approval.

Any waivers or changes to the Corporation’s Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct must be approved
by the Board of Directors and appropriately disclosed. No waivers to the Corporation’s Code of Integrity, Business
Ethics and Conduct in whole or in part have been asked for or granted to any Director, senior officer or employee.



Copies of the Code of Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct can be obtained free of charge from SEDAR at
www.sedar.com or by contacting the office of the Corporate Secretary at the address indicated under “Additional
Information”.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors’ Standing Committees

The Audit Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities as stated in its charter include to:

a)

b)

d)

g)
h)

i)

)

ensure that the Corporation’s management implemented a system of internal controls over financial
reporting and monitors its effectiveness;

monitor and oversee the integrity of the Corporation’s financial statements, financial reporting processes and
systems of internal controls regarding financial, accounting and compliance with regulatory and statutory
requirements as they relate to financial statements, taxation matters and disclosure of material facts;

review the Corporation’s financial statements, management discussion and analysis and annual and interim
earnings before the release of this information by press release or distribution to the shareholders;

select and recommend to the Board for appointment by the shareholders, the Corporation’s independent
auditors, pre-approve all audit and non-audit services to be provided to the Corporation or its subsidiary
entities by the Corporation’s independent auditors consistent with all applicable laws, and establish the fees
and other compensation to be paid to the independent auditors and oversee the work of the independent
auditor, including resolution of disagreements with management;

monitor the independence, qualifications and performance of the Corporation’s independent auditors;
oversee the audit of the Corporation’s financial statements;
monitor the performance of the internal audit function;

establish procedures for the receipt, retention, response to and treatment of complaints, including
confidential, anonymous submissions by the Corporation’s employees, regarding accounting, internal
controls or auditing matters;

provide an avenue of communication among the independent auditors, management, the internal audit
function and the Board; and,

review and approve the Corporation’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and
employees of present and former external auditors.

The Corporation’s Annual Information Form contains additional information on the Audit Committee and its
members under the section entitled “Audit Committee Information”.

The Compensation Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities as stated in its charter include to:

a)

b)

d)

€)

review and approve periodically the Corporation’s compensation philosophy and programs for executive
officers and employees of the Corporation that (i) supports the Corporation’s overall business strategy and
objectives; (ii) attracts and retains key executives and employees; (iii) links compensation with business
objectives and organizational performance; and (iv) provides competitive compensation opportunities;

approve and evaluate all compensation of executive officers including salaries, bonuses, and equity
compensation plans;

review the Corporation’s senior management and the steps being taken to assure the succession of qualified
senior management at the Corporation;

review the Corporation’s Amended, Compiled and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan and the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan under which Common Shares may be acquired by directors, executive officers and
employees of the Corporation. The Compensation Committee will also review the administration of all
equity plans the Corporation may establish; and,

review management’s Compensation Discussion & Analysis of executive compensation for inclusion in the
proxy statement of the Corporation.



The Health, Safety and Environmental Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities as stated in its charter
include to:

a) generally ensure that the management of the Corporation has designed and implemented effective health,
safety and environmental risk programs, controls and reporting systems and reporting to the Board in respect
thereof; and,

b) review management’s commitment, overall plans and strategies in the areas of corporate citizenship, ethics,
social responsibility and community affairs to ensure they are in line with the Corporation’s goals and image.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities as stated in its
charter include to:

a) provide assistance to the Board, the Chair of the Board and the Vice-Chair of the Board in the area of review
and consideration of developments in corporate governance practices;

b) recommend to the Board a set of corporate governance principles and procedures applicable to and
employed by the Corporation;

¢) provide assistance to the Board, the Chair of the Board and the Vice-Chair of the Board in the area of
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee selection and rotation practices;

d) provide assistance to the Board, the Chair of the Board and the Vice-Chair of the Board in the area of
evaluation of the overall effectiveness of the Board and management;

e) identify individuals qualified to become Board members with the Chair of the Board and the Vice-Chairs of
the Board and recommend to the Board, director nominees for the next annual meeting of
shareholders; and,

f) review and recommend periodically to the Board, the Corporation’s compensation for directors of the
Corporation.

The Reserves Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities as stated in its charter include to:

a) generally assume responsibility for assisting the Board in respect of annual independent and/or internal
review of the Corporation’s petroleum and natural gas reserves;

b) appoint the independent evaluating engineers and approve their remuneration; and,

¢) report to the Board on the Corporation’s petroleum and natural gas reserves and recommend to the Board
for acceptance and inclusion of the contents of the annual independent report on the Corporation’s
petroleum and natural gas reserves for filing with the regulatory authorities.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Board of Directors Oversight

To oversee the Corporation’s compensation practices, the Board of Directors established a compensation
committee (the “Committee”) comprised solely of independent directors.

During the year ending December 31, 2008, the members of the Board of Directors who served on the
Committee were: James S. Palmer, Catherine M. Best, Norman F. Mclntyre, Frank J. McKenna and Eldon R. Smith.
No changes to the Committee were made in 2008. All members of the Committee are independent members of the
Board and are knowledgeable with respect to compensation programs and compensation levels.

The Committee reviews and approves the Corporation’s compensation philosophy and programs for executive
officers which include the Corporation’s Named Executive Officers and employees of the Corporation to ensure that
the Corporation’s compensation philosophy and programs (a) support the Corporation’s overall business strategy and
objectives; (b) attract and retain key executive officers and employees; (c) link compensation with business objectives
and organizational performance; and, (d) provide competitive compensation opportunities. The Committee approves
the compensation paid to each of the Corporation’s executive officers, the overall compensation paid by the
Corporation to its employees and the granting of stock options to executive officers and employees. The Committee
also reviews the Corporation’s succession planning and implementation. The Committee holds in-camera sessions at
each of its meetings.
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The Corporation does not have a named Chief Executive Officer and the review of factors that would be used to
determine compensation of a Chief Executive Officer are used in determining compensation to members of the
Corporation’s Corporate Management Committee. The Corporation does not have employment agreements with any
of its executive officers.

Compensation Philosophy

The compensation paid is structured to attract, retain and motivate officers and encourage them to focus on
improving corporate performance and to increase value for shareholders and is comprised of both short-term cash
payments and longer term incentive payments. The short-term cash payments are structured to be competitive with
the market place in which the Corporation operates while performance based equity compensation is a significant
component of overall executive officer compensation. The Corporation does not have a pension plan and has chosen
to implement a stock savings plan to complement the Corporation’s Stock Option Plan in place of defined benefit
plans or supplemental compensation or retirement plans that are not necessarily aligned with creation of shareholder
value.

The Committee has had numerous discussions of the relative merits of its compensation practice which embraces
both its non-formulaic approach to executive officer compensation and a formula based approach for a portion of
their bonus payments and has concluded that the current approach is successful and has resulted in an effective,
focused management team. The approach provides the necessary flexibility to appropriately incentivize the
management team in changing market and industry conditions, yet, base a part of their (as for all employees) bonus
payments on meeting specified established targets relating to operations (production volumes, safety and
environmental risk management targets, cost of production and capital efficiency). This methodology is continuously
evaluated to ensure executive compensation is linked with the performance of the Corporation.

In arriving at the compensation levels paid by the Corporation to its executive officers the Committee takes into
account a number of factors, including the expertise and experience of the individual, the length of time the individual
has been in the position, the personal performance of the individual, the overall performance of the Corporation, and,
a subjective evaluation considering peer-company market data from surveys in which the Corporation participates.
The Committee believes that the information they had available and the factors considered in determining executive
compensation was sufficient in helping to determine the appropriate level of executive compensation and that the
services of an independent compensation consultant and associated costs were not warranted.

The Committee uses published data of peer companies to assist in determining reasonable levels of compensation
to the Corporation’s executives. The peer companies which are used as guidelines are:

EnCana Corporation
Husky Energy Inc.
Nexen Inc.
Petro-Canada
Suncor Energy Inc.
Talisman Energy Inc.

Compensation Paid in 2008

The compensation paid in 2008 includes base salary, a discretionary year-end cash bonus based on the individual’s
and the Corporation’s performance, contributions to the Corporation’s Savings Plan, a year-end share bonus based on
the individual’s and the Corporation’s performance and awards of options to acquire the Corporation’s common
shares pursuant to a stock option plan. These forms of compensation are considered both individually and collectively
to determine the compensation levels paid to each of the Corporation’s employees and executive officers.
Compensation levels of the Corporation’s employees and executive officers are reviewed annually following completed
performance reviews.

The Committee believes the Corporation’s methods of compensation provide a balanced program of immediate
and longer-term incentive compensation that is reasonable and able to react to change in economic outlook while at
the same time provide the Corporation’s executive officers and employees with a competitive total compensation
package.
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A. Cash Payments
1. Base Salary

One of the Corporation’s objectives is to position executive base salaries to be competitive with other companies
in the energy sector or the market place in which the Corporation operates. The Corporation uses and consults
available third party compensation surveys conducted on the industry for companies of comparable size. Base salaries
for executive officers were previously set at the median level for similar positions in oil and natural gas companies of
comparable size. In addition, compensation in the form of discretionary yearly cash bonuses was provided to recognize
performance. These cash payments were supplemented with the awarding of additional common stock options. As the
Corporation reached the upper limits of acceptable levels of outstanding stock options, and was restricted in the
amount awarded for any further performance options, some base salaries have been increased beyond the median
level but below third quartile levels and the level of cash bonuses has been increased. The Committee believes this is
appropriate to ensure that overall compensation levels remain competitive to attract and retain quality employees
while also ensuring that overall compensation levels do not become excessive.

Two of the Named Executive Officers, Messrs. A. P. Markin and N. M. Edwards, are directors and significant
shareholders of the Corporation. They are not paid an annual cash salary by the Corporation and accordingly do not
participate in the Corporation’s stock savings plan. However, they have been compensated relative to other Named
Executive Officers with compensation based more on share ownership and options to acquire share ownership.

The Corporation reviews its level of base cash salary in the spring of each year making such adjustments as are
necessary to reflect changes in competitive practices, market and overall economic conditions. The Corporation has
determined that no review of salaries will be carried out in 2009 and therefore no adjustment will be made to current
salary levels reflecting the current uncertainty in commodity pricing and the reduced outlook for worldwide economic
expansion.

2. Cash Bonuses

The Committee believes that incentive or “at risk” compensation motivates individual performance to maximize
shareholder value and aligns executive officer performance with the Corporation’s objectives and shareholder
interests. The discretionary cash bonus awarded is based on the individual’s performance over the year in contributing
to the Corporation meeting its four defined value creation measurements/financial goals. In 2008, cash bonuses
awarded to senior executive officers were generally reduced to reflect the fact that the Corporation did not reach all of
its internal targets.

B. Long Term Incentive Plans
1.  Stock Option Plan

The Corporation believes that, to the extent possible, granting of stock options should be used to augment the
overall compensation package and the Corporation has a long-standing policy of awarding stock options to all of its
executive officers and employees. To remain competitive with its industry peer group the Committee believes it is
important that the Corporation has an option plan available to provide parity with compensation levels within the
industry. The Corporation’s option plan is structured so that the exercise price can not be lower than market value at
the time of granting options, the options are vested over five years commencing one or two years after granting and no
re-pricing of options is allowed. These options provide an incentive for all employees and officers to ensure they are
striving to maximize shareholder value. As option awards are based on performance during the year and awarded
accordingly, previous grants are not one of the factors considered when awarding options for performance. Directors
are not eligible to receive options under the option plan unless they provide ongoing day-to-day management services
to the Corporation. The Board believes this established policy of awarding stock options meets the Corporation’s
business objectives provided the total number of options outstanding at any time is limited to a maximum of 10% of
the Corporation’s outstanding common shares. No one person can hold options pursuant to the option plan of more
than 5% of the outstanding Common Shares nor is it possible for directors and officers, as a group, to hold options
amounting to 10% of the outstanding Common Shares.

During 2003 the Corporation amended its option plan to facilitate holders of options to receive a cash payment of
the difference between the market price of the Common Shares on Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and the exercise
price of the options in lieu of Common Shares. This amendment ratified by the shareholders in 2004 reduces the
amount of dilution in the Corporation as no additional Common Shares are issued if the cash election is made by the
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option holder. Concurrently with this amendment the Corporation adopted the accounting practice of reporting as an
expense the intrinsic cost associated with granting stock options.

In determining reasonable levels of stock options awarded to executive officers and employees, the Corporation
also uses published data of the peer companies as a guideline. The determination is primarily focused on the number
of common shares granted rather than on a hypothetical value based on a formula such as the Black-Scholes model.

2. Stock Savings Plan

The Corporation has established a Stock Savings Plan for all of its salaried full-time employees. Under this plan,
employees may elect to contribute up to 10% of their gross salary and the Corporation contributes one and one-half
times the contributions of the employees. The funds are deposited with a trustee to purchase Common Shares of the
Corporation through TSX. The Corporation’s portion of the contributions vests to the employee who has less than five
years of continuous participation in the plan over a two-year period provided the employee does not leave the
employment of the Corporation for any reason prior to the vesting dates. The Corporation’s portion of the
contributions vests on January 1 of each year to the employee who has five years of continuous participation in the
plan provided the employee does not leave the employment of the Corporation for any reason prior to the vesting
date. As at December 31, 2008 the trustee was holding a total of 4,717,406 Common Shares of the Corporation.

A similar plan to the Stock Savings Plan was also adopted for all permanent U.K. employees, entitled CNR
International (U.K.) Limited Profit Sharing Scheme (the “Scheme”). Effective December 31, 2002, due to changes in
U. K. tax legislation, the Scheme was discontinued and a share incentive plan was adopted for all permanent
U.K. employees entitled “CNR International (U.K.) Limited Share Incentive Plan (the “SIP”). Under the terms of the
SIP, each employee can participate by contributing from £10 to a maximum of £125 per month not to exceed 10% of
the employee’s monthly salary. A matching contribution not to exceed two times the contribution of the employee is
made by CNR International (U.K.) Limited. The funds are deposited with a trustee to purchase Common Shares of
the Corporation through TSX. To benefit fully from U. K. tax legislation governing SIPs, the purchased shares must be
held for a period of 5 years to be eligible for tax relief. As at December 31, 2008 the trustee was holding a total of
387,490 Common Shares of the Corporation.

3. Share Bonus Plan

The Share Bonus Plan provides a form of compensation which combines share ownership in the Corporation by
its employees and executive officers without dilution or the granting of stock options and is a further incentive in the
retention of employees and officers. The amount awarded under this plan is determined in respect of the employee’s
responsibility level and in 2008 is a multiple ranging from 0.375 to 2.09 (down from 2006 multiples of 0.5 to 2.5 and up
from 2007 multiples of 0.25 to 1.67) times the cash bonus paid to the employee based on performance, the position of
the employee within the Corporation and overall performance of the Corporation. This amount awarded is used by a
trustee to acquire Common Shares of the Corporation through TSX. The Common Shares acquired are held by the
trustee pursuant to the terms of the Stock Savings Plan and, provided the employee does not leave the employment of
the Corporation for any reason, the Common Shares vest to that employee equally over a three-year period. If the
employee leaves the employment of the Corporation for any reason, the unvested Common Shares purchased
pursuant to the Share Bonus Plan are forfeited by the employee under the terms of the plan. This plan provides
additional share ownership in the Corporation by its executive officers and employees.

4. Horizon QOil Sands Long Term Incentive Plan

The Corporation has adopted the Horizon Oil Sands Long Term Incentive Plan under which executive officers
and employees can benefit upon the successful completion of Phase 1 of the Horizon Oil Sands Project
(the “Project”), subject to the Corporation, the executive officers and the individual employee meeting established
performance elements. Similar to the Corporation’s other incentive components of its compensation package it was
designed to attract, retain and motivate employees and officers in the construction and commissioning of the Project
in the most timely and cost effective manner possible and to meet the other established targets and to reward such
performance. The Committee reviewed and recommended the approval of the performance elements by the Board
who subsequently approved the performance elements at the time of Project sanction on February 9, 2005. The
individual bonuses paid are on a prorated basis depending on (i) position and level of responsibility of the individual
to the successful completion of Phase 1 of the Project, (ii) meeting the established performance elements comprised of
capital expenditure targets, rate of production, operating costs per barrel of synthetic crude and onsite safety targets,
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and, (iii) the individual employee meeting personal performance objectives. Personal performance objectives are set
for the period the Horizon Long Term Incentive Plan is in effect.
2008 Goals and Corporate Results and Senior Executive Compensation

The overall performance of the Corporation is determined by reviewing the success the Corporation achieved on
an annual basis in meeting its four broadly defined value creation measurements/financial goals:(a) production of
crude oil and natural gas; (b) crude oil and natural gas reserves; (c) cash flow from operations; and (d) net asset value.

The specific goals set by the Corporation and the Board and the 2008 results of those goals are as follows:

Measure Target Range Actual Performance
Financial Results

Cash flow $4.6 - 5.1 Billion $7.0 Billion Outperform
Cash flow per share $8.5 - $9.40 $12.89 Outperform
Debt to book Cap — % 433 41.0 Outperform
Return on Equity 15.6 33.0 Outperform
Return on average capital employed 9.6 19.0 Outperform

(after tax and interest)

Operating Results
Production — oil (mbbl/d)

Canada 221 - 245 244 Perform
International 68 - 86 72 Perform
Horizon mining 27 -35 0 Underperform
Production — natural gas (mmcf/d)

Canada 1,405 - 1,485 1,472 Perform
International 24 - 28 23 Underperform
Production Expense —

$ per unit

Canada — oil $13.75 - 14.25 $14.96 Underperform
Canada — natural gas $0.94 - 1.00 $1.00 Perform
International North Sea — oil $21.25 - 22.25 $26.29 Underperform
International offshore West Africa — oil $10.00 - 11.00 $10.29 Perform
General & Administrative costs (per boe) | $0.94 $0.87 Outperform

Execution of major projects

Horizon Mining Project The project was not completed in the time frame Underperform
budgeted and the costs were higher than budgeted

Primrose East Oil Project The project was completed earlier than expected Outperform
and was within 1% of budgeted costs

Offshore West Africa A rig was secured to re-drill the Baobab Project Perform
and the necessary equipment was secured to
commence the development of the Olowi Field at
Gabon. Both of these projects were under way at
the end of 2008 and will be further evaluated in
2009 after completion.

Note: mbbl/d means one thousand barrels per day; mmcf//d means one million cubic feet per day; and, boe means barrel of oil equivalent.

Cash flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure that represents net earnings adjusted for non-cash items
before working capital adjustments. The non-cash items are depletion, depreciation and amortization, asset retirement
obligation accretion, stock based compensation, unrealized risk management, unrealized foreign exchange, deferred
petroleum revenue tax and future income tax expense. Cash flow from operations may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other companies.
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As a result of these performance measures total bonuses including stock option awards and incentive plan
compensation for the executive officers responsible for only Canadian conventional oil and natural gas operations
remained at similar levels to the prior year while those executive officers with responsibilities including the completion
of the Horizon mining project were at a lower level than the prior year.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following performance graph illustrates, over the five year period ended December 31, 2008, the cumulative
return to shareholders of an investment in the Common Shares of the Corporation compared to the cumulative total
shareholder return on the S&P/TSX Composite Index and the S&P/TSX Oil & Gas Exploration and Production
Index, assuming the reinvestment of dividends, where applicable.

CUMULATIVE VALUE OF A $100 INVESTMENT

—&— Canadian Natural Resources Limited
-0 S&P/TSX Composite Index
~O— S&P/TSX Oil & Gas Exploration & Production Index

500
450
400
350

300 -

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

At December 31 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Canadian Natural Resources Limited . ... ...................... $100 $158 $358 $388 $455 $307
S&P/TSX Composite Index . .. ........ ... ... $100 $114 $142 $167 $183 $123
S&P/TSX Oil & Gas Exploration & Production Index . . . ... ......... $100 $141 $244 $248 $273  $189

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to National Instrument 51-102 the Corporation is required to disclose in its annual information circular
to shareholders all direct and indirect compensation provided directly or indirectly to the CEO, the CFO and certain
other executive officers and directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the Corporation or a
subsidiary of the Corporation. The Corporation does not have a named chief executive officer but has a corporate
management committee which includes four members who are also directors of the Corporation. None of the four
directors who serve on the Corporate Management Committee receive any fees related to serving as a director.
Accordingly, the Corporation has determined that its Named Executive Officers should include the four director
members of the Corporate Management Committee, one of whom is also President and Chief Operating Officer of
the Corporation; the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation; and the next three highest paid members of the
Corporate Management Committee who would meet the requirements to be classified as a Named Executive Officer
as defined in National Instrument 51-102.

The following table sets forth all direct and indirect remuneration for services in all capacities to the Corporation
and its subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 in respect of each Named Executive
Officer.
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The Corporation does not have a share based awards program or pension plan and accordingly those items are

not shown in the table.

Summary Compensation Table

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
Long
Option Annual Term
Option Based Incentive  Incentive All Other Total
Salary Award Awards Plans Plans Compensation  Compensation

Name and Principal Position Year ) #® $)® $@ $® $Ho
Allan P Markin . . ... ... ... 2008 — 200,000 3,538,898 175,000 365,750 7,248 4,086,896
Chairman 2007 — 200,000 4,421,617 150,000 499,500 — 5,071,117

2006 — 175,000 3,235,510 200,000 1,000,000 — 4,435,510
N. Murray Edwards . .. ... .. 2008 — 200,000 3,538,898 375,000 783,750 — 4,697,648
Vice-Chairman 2007 — 400,000 8,843,234 150,000 499,500 — 9,492,734

2006 — 175,000 3,235,510 200,000 1,000,000 — 4,435,510
John G. Langille ... ....... 2008 325,000 50,000 884,725 50,000 104,500 60,180 1,424,405
Vice-Chairman 2007 325,000 66,000 1,459,134 75,000 125,250 50,590 2,034,974

2006 325,000 50,000 924,431 104,875 250,000 48,750 1,653,056
Steve W. Laut . . .......... 2008 550,000 200,000 3,538,898 150,000 313,500 96,295 4,648,693
President and Chief Operating 2007 550,000 200,000 4,421,617 209,750 325,650 77,831 5,684,848
Officer 2006 500,000 175,000 3,235510 266,875 650,000 58,673 4,711,058
Douglas A. Proll .. ........ 2008 361,538 80,000 1,415,559 100,000 209,000 64,281 2,150,378
Chief Financial Officer and 2007 350,000 80,000 1,768,647 124,475 192,050 83,819 2,518,991
Senior Vice-President, Finance 2006 330,000 60,000 1,109,318 129,575 312,500 42,404 1,923,797
Lyle G. Stevens . .. ........ 2008 361,538 80,000 1,415,559 100,000 209,000 61,086 2,147,183
Senior Vice-President, 2007 350,000 80,000 1,768,647 101,825 154,475 48,255 2,423.202
Exploitation 2006 325,000 60,000 1,109,318 104,275 250,000 42,000 1,830,593
TimS. McKay . . .......... 2008 361,538 80,000 1,415,559 100,000 209,000 64,281 2,150,378
Senior Vice-President, Operation 2007 350,000 80,000 1,768,647 101,975 154,475 51,368 2,426,465

2006 330,000 60,000 1,109,318 104,575 250,000 45,000 1,838,893
Réal J.H. Doucet . .. ....... 2008 371,538 70,000 1,238,614 100,000 209,000 111,103 2,030,255
Senior Vice-President 2007 360,000 80,000 1,768,647 115,000 192,050 51,368 2,487,065
Oil Sands 2006 330,000 60,000 1,109,318 125,000 312,500 66,808 1,943,626
Notes:
(1) The valuc in aggregate of perquisites and benefits which is comprised only of health, life insurance premiums and parking for each

(2

3

Named Executive Officer is less than $50,000 and is less or worth less than 10% of total salary for 2008. All Other Compensation is
comprised of the aggregate value of perquisites and benefits and the vested portion in each year of the Corporation’s contribution to the
Corporation’s Stock Savings Plan for each Named Executive Officer who is a participant in the plan. The Corporation’s contribution to
the Corporation’s Stock Savings Plan for each Named Executive Officer who is a participant in the plan vests on January 1 each year.
The unvested portion of the Corporation’s contribution in 2008 as at December 31, 2008 for each Named Executive Officer who is a
participant in the plan and which vested January 1, 2009 is as follows: J. G. Langille, $34,255; S. W. Laut, $57,971; D. A. Proll, $38,099;
L. G. Stevens, $38,099; T. S. McKay, $38,099; and, R. J. H. Doucet, $39,153. Mr. R. J. H. Doucet is also paid a site location allowance
and site premium.

In the aggregate the number of options granted to the Named Executive Officers in 2008 represents 11.4 per cent of total options
awarded to all employees in 2008.The amounts appearing in this column represent number of options awarded and not their dollar
values and therefore are not factored into the Named Executive Officers Total Compensation column.

The grant date fair value is a theoretical value determined using Black-Scholes pricing model of options granted in the year. The options
on date of grant have no intrinsic value as the strike price is the closing price of the Corporation’s Common Shares on TSX on the day
preceding the grant. The Named Executive Officers do not receive any value for these options until options are vested and exercised
under the terms of the options. For financial statement purposes the Corporation calculates quarterly intrinsic value of the options and
records that as an expense in its earnings statement.
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(4) The amount shown as Annual Incentive Plan is the cash bonus award to each of the Named Executive Officer for personal and
corporate performance during the year.

(5) Share Bonus Plan awards are in the form of a cash payment calculated as a multiple of the cash bonus and deposited to the Employee
Stock Savings Plan for the purpose of purchasing Common Shares of the Corporation on TSX, on behalf of the Named Executive
Officer. The Common Shares vest equally over three years each May 1 for Common Shares purchased for 2006 performance, each
October 1 for Common Shares purchased for 2007 performance and each July 1 for Common Shares purchased for 2008 performance.
Any dividends declared payable on the Common Shares by the Corporation are also paid on the unvested shares and dividends paid are
used to purchase additional Common Shares which vest immediately. The number of Common Shares purchased on TSX for each
Named Executive Officer for (i) 2008 performance at an average purchase price of $44.03 is as follows: A. P. Markin, 8,307; N. M.
Edwards, 17,800; J. G. Langille, 2,373; S. W. Laut, 7,120; D. A. Proll, 4,747; L. G. Stevens, 4,747; T S. McKay, 4,747; and, R. J. H.
Doucet 4,747; (ii) 2007 performance at an average purchase price of $73.98 is as follows: A. P Markin, 6,752; N. M. Edwards, 6,752; J.
G. Langille, 1,693; S. W. Laut, 4,402; D. A. Proll, 2,596; L. G. Stevens, 2,088; T. S. McKay, 2,088; and, R. J. H. Doucet 2,596; (iii) 2006
performance at an average purchase price of $54.69 is as follows: A. P. Markin, 18,285; N. M. Edwards, 18,285; J. G. Langille, 4,571; S.
W, Laut, 11,886; D. A. Proll, 5,714; L. G. Stevens, 4,571; T. S. McKay, 4,571; and, R. J. H. Doucet 5,714. If the Named Executive Officer
leaves the employment of the Corporation for any reason, the unvested Common Shares purchased pursuant to the Share Bonus Plan
are forfeited by the Named Executive Officer under the terms of the plan.

INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS

The following table lists the number of securities underlying unexercised options granted to each of the Named
Executive Officers and the net benefit of the in-the-money options as at December 31, 2008. The number of securities
underlying unexercised options listed in the table below includes unvested options. The value of those unvested
options could not be realized by the Named Executive Officer as at December 31, 2008. The Corporation does not
have a share-based award program.

Option Based Awards Share-based Awards
Market or
Value of Number of  Payout Value
Number of Unexercised Shares or of Share-
Securities In-the-money Units of based
Underlying Option Options or Shares that  Awards that
Unexercised  Exercise Similar have not have not
Options Price Option Expiration Instruments Vested Vested
Name #) t)] Date $w #) ®
Allan M. Markin. . ... ....... 16,000  17.80? March 12, 2009 495,200 — —

80,000  33.383 April 11, 2010 1,229,600 — —
137,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —
175,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 — — —
200,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 — — —
200,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 558,000 — —

N. Murray Edwards . . . ... .... 80,000®  17.80@ March 12, 2009 2,476,000 — —
200,000  33.38% April 11, 2010 3,074,000 —_— —
150,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —
175,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 — — —
400,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 —
200,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 558,000 — —

John G. Langille . . ... ....... 80,000®  17.80® March 12, 2009 2,476,000 — —
60,000®)  33.380) April 11, 2010 922,200 — —
35,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —
50,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 — —_ —_
66,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 — — —
50,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 139,500 — —
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Option Based Awards Share-based Awards

Market or
Value of Number of  Payout Value
Number of Unexercised Shares or of Share-
Securities In-the-money Units of based
Underlying Option Options or Shares that  Awards that
Unexercised Exercise Similar have not have not
Options Price Option Expiration Instruments Vested Vested
Name (#) $) Date (B (#) (&)

Steve W.Laut.............. 80,0000  16.89®» March 12, 2009 2,549,000 — —
200,000®)  33.38® April 11, 2010 3,074,000 — —
150,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —
175,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 —_— — —
200,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 — — —
200,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 558,000 — —

Douglas A. Proll . .. ... ...... 60,000@  16.89@ March 12, 2009 1,911,750 — —
50,0009 26.26®) February 25, 2010 1,124,500 — —
35,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —_
60,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 — —_
80,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 — — —
80,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 223,200 — —

Lyle G. Stevens . . . .......... 60,000  16.89@ March 12, 2009 1,911,750 — —
50,0000  26.26® February 25, 2010 1,124,500 — —
35,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —
60,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 — — —
80,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 — — —
80,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 223,200 — —_

TimS. McKay ............. 45,0000  16.89® March 12, 2009 1,433,813 — —
30,0009 26,26®) February 25, 2010 674,700 — —
35,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —
60,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 — — —
80,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 —
80,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 223,200 — —

Réal JH. Doucet ........... 45,000@  16.89® March 12, 2009 1,433,813 — —
50,000  26.26®) February 25, 2010 1,124,500 — —
35,000 59.85 February 6, 2011 — — —
60,000 61.18 January 11, 2012 — — —
80,000 70.44 January 14, 2013 —_ — —
70,000 45.96 January 15, 2014 195,300 — o

(1) The closing price of the Corporation’s Common Shares on TSX on December 31, 2008 was $48.75.
(2) Adjusted for the 2004 and 2005 two-for-one stock splits.
(3) Adjusted for the 2005 two-for-one stock split.
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Incentive plan awards — value vested or earned during the year

Option based Share-based Non-equity plan

Awards — Value  Awards — Value  compensation —
vested during vested during Value earned

the year the year during the year

Name $ $?® %

Allan P Markin ... .. .. ... ... 2,839,160 — 1,303,466
N. Murray Edwards . ............. ... ..o, 2,839,160 — 1,303,466
John G. Langille. . ............ .. ... i 1,428,460 — 325,966
Steve W. Laut. .. ......... .. i, 2,707,360 — 816,691
Douglas A. Proll. .. ........ .. o i 1,023,090 — 386,728
Lyle G.Stevens . ......... ... 1,023,090 — 335,578
TimS.McKay ........... . . i 1,023,090 — 335,578
RéalJH. Doucet . ......... ... 0. 1,023,090 — 380,536

(1) Outlines the net benefit the Named Executive Officer would have received had the Named Executive Officer exercised on date of
vesting.

(2) The Corporation does not have a share-based award program.

(3) This is the aggregate benefit to the Named Executive Officer based on the closing price of the common shares on TSX on the day prior
to vesting of the share bonus awards during 2008. Share Bonus Plan awards are in the form of a cash payment deposited to the
Employee Stock Savings Plan for the purpose of purchasing Common Shares of the Corporation on TSX, on behalf of the Named
Executive Officer. The Common Shares vest equally over three years each May 1 for Common Shares purchased for 2006 performance,
each October 1 for Common Shares purchased for 2007 performance and each July 1 for Common Shares purchased for 2008
performance.

COMMON SHARES HELD BY NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Board adopted Common Share ownership guidelines for officers of the Corporation including management
directors. The guidelines require Common Share ownership proportionate to the individual’s compensation and
position which are:

Chair, Vice-Chair, and, President and Chief Operating Officer . ............ 4 times base salary
Senior Vice-President . .. ... ... ... ... 2 times base salary
All other officers ... ... ... . i i e 1 times base salary

Under the guidelines, the individual has 3 years from the effective date of the adoption of these guidelines
(March 15, 2007) or from date of hire or appointment as an officer, whichever is the later, to acquire and hold the
required level of Common Share ownership. Common Share ownership includes Common Shares of the Corporation
purchased and held within the Corporation’s stock savings plan and any other personal holdings of the individual. As
of the date of this Information Circular, each officer meets or exceeds the share ownership requirement of the
Corporation.

Officers are required to confirm annually their Common Share ownership position and that such position is their
beneficial and legal ownership position and has not been hedged or otherwise sold.
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The following table sets forth, as of March 18, 2009, the beneficial ownership and market value of the common
shares of the Corporation held by the Named Executive Officers:

Name

Allan P. Markin. . ......
N. Murray Edwards
John G. Langille . . .....
Steve W. Laut . .. ......
Douglas A. Proll . ... ...
Lyle G. Stevens . . . . .. ..
Tim S. McKay.........

Réal J. H. Doucet

Common Meets Required

Shares Market Value Share Ownership Share Ownership
(#) (£)] Requirements Levels
............. 7,191,072 352,722,081 4 times base salary Yes
.................. 10,924,622 535,852,709 4 times base salary Yes
............. 876,454 42,990,069 4 times base salary Yes
............. 758,447 37,201,825 4 times base salary Yes
............. 274,398 13,459,222 2 times base salary Yes
............. 236,836 11,616,806 2 times base salary Yes
............. 486,247 23,850,415 2 times base salary Yes
............. 151,646 7,438,236 2 times base salary Yes

(1) The closing price of the Corporation’s Common Shares on TSX on March 18, 2009 was $49.05.

PENSION PLAN BENEFITS

The Corporation does not have an employee pension plan.

TERMINATION AND CHANGE OF CONTROL BENEFITS

The Corporation has not entered into any employment service contracts with the Named Executive Officers.
Depending on the conditions of termination, salary and benefit programs are affected as follows:

Resignation —

Retirement —

Death —

All salary and benefit programs cease as at effective date of resignation.
Annual cash and share bonuses are no longer paid.

Unvested options outstanding as at effective date of resignation are
cancelled.

Vested options outstanding as at effective date of resignation must be
exercised within 30 days from effective date of resignation.

Unvested portion of shares in the savings plan as at effective date of
resignation is forfeited.

All salary and benefit programs cease as at effective date of retirement.
Annual cash and share bonuses are no longer paid.

Unvested options outstanding as at effective date of retirement are
cancelled.

Vested options outstanding as at effective date of retirement must be
exercised within 30 days from effective date of retirement.

Unvested portion of shares in the savings plan vest if Normal Retirement
Date is reached, otherwise forfeited.

All salary and benefit programs cease as at date of death except for
payout of any applicable insurance benefits.

Annual cash and share bonuses are not paid.

Unvested options outstanding at date of death are cancelled.

Vested options outstanding as at date of death must be exercised within
three to twelve months from date of death.

Unvested portion of shares in savings plan vest at date of death.
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Termination without cause — All salary and benefit programs cease on effective date of termination.
Annual cash and share bonuses are no longer paid.
Unvested options outstanding on Notice Date of termination are
cancelled.
Vested options outstanding on Notice Date of termination must be
exercised within 30 days from Notice Date as defined in the SOP.
Unvested portion of shares in savings plan is forfeited.
Severance provided on an individual basis reflecting service, experience
and salary level.

Termination for cause — All salary and benefit programs cease on effective date of termination.
Annual cash and share bonuses are no longer paid.
Unvested options outstanding as at Notice Date of termination are
cancelled.
Vested options outstanding as at Notice Date of termination must be
exercised within 30 days from effective date of Notice Date.
Unvested portion of shares in savings plan is forfeited.

The Corporation has not entered into Change of Control Agreements with any of its employees. Pursuant to the
terms of the Amended and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan and the Employee Stock Savings Plan, all unvested
options and all unvested shares upon change of control of the Corporation immediately vest whether or not the
employee is terminated upon change of control. The following table outlines the estimated incremental payments the
Named Executive Officers would have received had a change of control, as defined in the respective plan, occurred
effective December 31, 2008.

Accelerated Acclerated Share
Cash bonus® option vesting Bonus vesting

Name Base Salary $ Share bonus

Allan P Markin ................ — 299,400 — 2,567,600 516,555
N. Murray Edwards ............. — 299,400 — 7,305,600 516,604
John G. Langille. . .............. — 100,040 — 3,937,860 129,285
Steve W.Laut.................. — 284,800 — 7,320,200 333,304
Douglas A. Proll . . . ............. — — — 3,259,450 177,206
Lyle G. Stevens . ............... — — — 3,259,450 142,106
TimS. McKay ................. — — — 2,331,713 142,106
RéalJ.H. Doucet............... — — — 2,753,613 177,211

(1) The closing price of the Corporation’s Common Shares on TSX on December 31, 2008 was $48.75

(2) As part of the compensation program of the Corporation, annual stock option grants are awarded to employees and to directors who
provide ongoing management services to the Corporation. These awards are typically granted simultaneously to all levels of employees
including those directors who provide management services, resulting in the exercise price of the option being consistent for all. Pending
a further review of their compensation, Messrs. A. P. Markin, N. M. Edwards and J. G. Langille were not included in the annual grant of
February 12, 2004 bearing an option strike price of $16.89 but were awarded options on February 27, 2004 at an option strike price of
$17.80. Similarly, pending review of their compensation, Messrs. A. P. Markin, N. M. Edwards, J. G. Langille and S. W. Laut, were not
included in the annual grant of January 25, 2005 with a strike price of $26.26 but were awarded options on March 11, 2005 at a strike
price of $33.38. Consequently, the Board of Directors in consultation with the Compensation Committee determined that in both
instances the difference in the strike price of the options granted to Messrs. A. P. Markin, N. M. Edwards, J. G. Langille and S. W. Laut
and the strike price of the option granted to all other employees was an unintended result of the delay in reviewing their compensation
and that Messrs. A. P. Markin, N. M. Edwards, J. G. Langille and S. W. Laut should not be disadvantaged by the delay in granting their
options. Therefore the Corporation determined that upon exercise of the options with a strike price of $17.80 or $33.38 the Corporation
would pay to the respective option holder at time they exercise the options with a strike price of either $17.80 or $33.38 a cash bonus
equivalent to the difference between the strike price of $17.80 and $16.89 or the difference between the strike price of $33.38 and $26.26
depending on the options exercised. This cash bonus is paid only if the option holder exercises those options granted at a strike price of
$17.80 or $33.38.
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REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Compensation Committee comprised of all independent directors is appointed by the Board of Directors to
oversee the compensation programs for executives and employees of the Corporation, compensation paid to executive
officers and to review the Corporation’s senior management and the steps being taken to assure the succession of
qualified senior management at the Corporation.

During 2008 the Committee held six meetings and held five executive sessions without management present. The
activities of the Committee in 2008 included:

* Reviewed and approved the Corporation’s 2008 base salary component of the Corporation’s compensation
program.

* Reviewed and approved the change in the base salary to employees and executives.

* Reviewed and approved the grant of options to new hires that joined the Corporation during the course
of 2008.

* Reviewed and approved the Corporation’s retention and incentive program designed to attract and retain
employees to reside in Fort McMurray for the Corporation’s Horizon oil sands project

* Reviewed and approved the 2008 bonus program and bonuses awarded to employees and executives in
December 2008. In considering the bonus paid to employees and executives the Committee reviewed the year
over year performance of the Corporation based on the Corporation’s performance matrix, the mid and long
term compensation components of the Corporation’s overall compensation program, and, peer company
compensation levels.

The Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the disclosure in this Information Circular relating to
compensation matters.

There have been no changes to the membership of the Committee in 2008 and there were no Compensation
Committee interlocks during 2008.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee
James S. Palmer

Catherine M. Best

Norman E Mclntyre

Frank J. McKenna

Eldon R. Smith

DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION

The Corporation pays compensation comprised of cash and common shares of the Corporation (“Common
Shares”) to its non-management directors in their capacity as directors. The compensation for 2008 was a cash annual
retainer of $20,000 plus 2,000 Common Shares purchased on TSX and $1,500 for each regular and special Board of
Director’s meeting attended in person or by telephone and each meeting of a committee of the Board attended in
person or by telephone. Each Chair of a committee of the Board receives an annual retainer of $7,500. Non-Chair
members of a committee receive an annual retainer fee of $4,500. Directors whose principal residence are out of
province and attend Board or committee meetings in person receive a time and travel fee of $4,000 per round trip. No
fees are paid for the time required preparing for board or committee meetings. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee reviews the fees paid to the directors to ensure the Corporation’s fees are reasonable and
competitive. The cash portion of the director fees have remained at their current level since January 1, 2003. At a
Board of Directors meeting held on November 3, 2008 after receiving a recommendation from management, the
Directors approved an increase in the annual retainer paid to directors to $40,000 effective January 1, 2009 and
approved an increase in the annual retainer paid to the Chair of the Audit Committee to $15,000 to make the retainer
fees comparable with annual retainer fees paid by companies of similar size and complexity. In 2004 and 2005 the
Corporation split its shares on a 2 for 1 basis in each of those years and the equity portion of the annual fees was
adjusted accordingly. There are no vesting or hold restrictions on the shares purchased as part of director’s fees except
to the extent required to be in compliance with the share ownership threshold for directors under the share ownership
guidelines of the Corporation. In 2008 the Board commissioned Messrs. G. D. Giffin and D. A. Tuer to review certain
board and committee processes and report to the Board in due course. The Board approved a fee of $50,000 for each
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of Messrs. G. D. Giffin and D. A. Tuer for the work and time that may be required, with such fee

subject to periodic

review by the Board. Each of them received $25,000 in 2008, which is included in the fees paid to them in the

table below.

The Compensation Committee, as one of its primary responsibilities, reviews and approves compensation to
directors who provide ongoing day-to-day management services to the Corporation. No annual retainer or meeting

fees are paid to such directors. The compensation paid to Messrs. A. P. Markin, N. M. Edwards,
S. W. Laut is reported in the Summary Compensation Table for Named Executive Officers.

Fees paid to non-management directors for 2008 are reported in the table below.

Share Option  Common
Fees Based Based Share Al

J. G. Langille and

I Other

Earned Awards Awards Retainer Pension Compensation Total
Name ® ($) ($) $® Value $)® )
C.MBest ..................... 59,000 — — 145,760 — — 204,760
N.MEdwards .................. — — — — — — —
G.A . Fimon ................... 50,000 — — 145,760 — 12,000 207,760
G.D.Giffin ............. ... ... 78,000 — — 145,760 — 12,000 235,760
J.G.Langille ................... — — — — — e —
SSW.Laut ..................... — — — — — — —
K. AJ MacPhail .. ............... 48,500 — — 145,760 — — 194,260
A.PMarkin.................... — — — — — — —
N.E MclIntyre .................. 62,000 — — 145,760 — — 207,760
FJ McKenna................... 50,000 — — 145,760 —_ 8,000 203,760
J.S.Palmer ................. ... 65,000 — — 145,760 — — 210,760
E.R.Smith .................... 57,500 — — 145,760 — — 203,260
D.A Tuer ......... .. .. 85,500 — — 145,760 — — 231,260

(1) The amount shown represents the cost of 2,000 common shares purchased on TSX as the equity portion
to directors.

of the 2008 fees paid

(2) The amount shown was paid to the director whose principal place of residence is out of province and attended meetings in person

in 2008.
EQUITY COMPENSATON PLAN INFORMATION
Number of
Securities
to be Issued Securities Remaining
Upon Exercise of available Total Number of
Outstanding For Future Issuance Securities Issuable
Options at Weighted-average Under Equity Upon Exercise
December 31, Exercise Price of  Compensation Plans of Options
2008 Outstanding at December 31, 2008 at December 31,
Plan Category #) Options #) 2008
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders. . ........... 30,961,922 $51.94 5,618,232 36,580,154
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders ... .. — — — —
Total ....... .. ... ... i 30,961,922 $51.94 5,618,232 36,580,154
Percent of Outstanding Shares . . . ... 5.7% 1.1% 6.8%

The Corporation has a long-standing policy of awarding stock options to its service providers under the Amended

Compiled and Restated Stock Option Plan (the “SOP”). The options are considered a part
compensation package to provide parity with compensation levels within the industry. Directors

of the employee’s
are not eligible to

receive options under the SOP unless they provide ongoing day-to-day management services to the Corporation. The
Board believes this established policy of awarding stock options meets the Corporation’s business objectives provided
the total number of options outstanding at any time is limited to a maximum of 10% of the Corporation’s outstanding
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common shares. The Corporation believes it is in its best interests to continue to award stock options to new
employees as part of their compensation package to remain competitive with the Corporation’s peer group. The
aggregate number of Common Shares that may be available for issuance from time to time under the Plan as approved
by shareholders shall not exceed 25,850,000 Common Shares prior to adjustment for the May 2004 two-for-one stock
split and the May 2005 two-for-one stock split.

The options issued pursuant to the SOP are non-assignable, have an expiry term not to exceed six years and are
exercisable at 20% per year commencing one or two years after the date of grant. The exercise price of the options is
determined as the closing market price on TSX the day prior to the granting of the options. The Corporation does not
provide any form of financial assistance to facilitate the purchase of securities pursuant to the SOP. Options are
exercisable only during the term of employment with the Corporation and the option holder is not subject to a
collective agreement as defined in the SOP text. No one person can hold options pursuant to the SOP of more than
5% of the outstanding Common Shares nor is it possible for directors and officers, as a group, to hold options
amounting to 10% or more of the outstanding Common Shares and the aggregate number of Common Shares issuable
to Insiders under all share based compensation plans of the Corporation including Options at any time and in any one
year period cannot exceed 10% of the outstanding Common Shares of the Corporation.

If an Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider to the Corporation for any reason, all unvested options granted to
such Optionee shall immediately terminate and be of no further force and effect and all vested options granted to such
Optionee and not exercised within 30 days of the Optionee ceasing to be a Service Provider for any reason other than
death shall terminate. If an Optionee shall die while being a Service Provider to the Corporation, any Option which
has vested at the date of death shall be exercisable for six months after the date of death and if not exercised, shall
terminate at the end of six months from date of death.

Shareholders at their meeting held May 3, 2007 authorized management to make certain amendments to the SOP
without requiring further shareholder approval. Pursuant to terms of the SOP, the Board may amend, modify or
terminate the SOP if and when it is advisable at the discretion of the Board without disinterested shareholder approval
except for those amendments specifically requiring disinterested shareholder approval as mandated by TSX. No
amendment as it may relate to U.K. Approved Options under the terms of the SOP shall take effect unless and until
the approval of the Board of Inland Revenue has been obtained for such amendment. Since the last shareholders
meeting held on May 8, 2008 the Board of Directors approved amendments to the SOP which were administrative in
nature and did not result in an increase in the number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the SOP.
The following is a description of the amendments made to the SOP and approved by the Board of Directors since the
shareholders meeting of May 8, 2008:

* The Corporation has a policy where from time to time the Corporation imposes trading bans on trading in the
Corporation’s securities including the exercise of stock options on its employees, officers and directors. This
ban is commonly called a “blackout period”. Reference to “blackout” is made in the SOP and therefore a
definition of “Blackout” was added for clarity.

* The Board of Directors has the authority to postpone vesting of the options and this authority is exercised from
time to time. The amendment clarified under what circumstances the Board would postpone vesting and that if
such postponement went beyond the Option Period, the option would be forfeited.

* The Corporation had changed the administrative procedure through which optionees could exercise options.
This change was reflected as an amendment in the SOP.

* The SOP outlines the disposition of unvested options in the event an optionee ceases to be a service provider as
defined in the SOP. Amendments were made to remove any ambiguity that might have existed as to the
disposition of those unvested options.

As at March 18, 2009, the number of Common Shares issuable pursuant to the SOP approved by the shareholders is:

Percent of
Number of Outstanding
Securities Common Shares
To be issued upon exercise of outstanding options .. .................... 28,827,539 5.3%
Available for future issuance . . .. ... ... 6,843,607 1.3%
Total number of securities issuable . ........... ... 35,671,146 6.6%
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INDEBTEDNESS OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The Corporation does not as a general practice extend loans to its directors, executive officers or any of their
associates or affiliates. No directors and executive officers or any of their associates or affiliates is indebted to the
Corporation or its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

Effective February 17, 2009 the Corporation entered into a contract of liability insurance in the amount of
US $100,000,000 per policy year for the benefit of the directors and officers of the Corporation against liability
incurred by them in their capacity as a director or officer of the Corporation or of a subsidiary in the event the
Corporation cannot or is unable to indemnify them. A one year policy for a premium of US $560,975 was purchased.
The premium for the prior year was US $667,000. There is no deductible for this coverage.

INTERESTS OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

The management of the Corporation is not aware of any material interest, direct or indirect, of any director, any
proposed nominee for director or officer of the Corporation or its subsidiaries, any person beneficially owning, or
controlling or directing directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the Corporation’s voting securities, or any associate or
affiliate of any such person in any transaction since the commencement of the last completed financial year of the
Corporation or in any proposed transaction which in either case has materially affected or will materially affect the
Corporation or its subsidiaries.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Financial information is provided in the Corporation’s annual and quarterly financial statements and annual and
quarterly management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”). The Corporation is a reporting issuer under the securities
acts of all provinces of Canada and a reporting “foreign private issuer” under the Securities Act of 1933 in the
United States (“US”) and complies with the requirement to file annual and quarterly financial statements, annual and
quarterly management’s discussion and analysis, as well as its management information circular and annual
information form (“AIF”) with the various securities commissions in such provinces and with the SEC in the US. The
Corporation’s most recent AIF, audited financial statements, MD&A, quarterly financial statements and quarterly
MD&A subsequent to the audited financial statements and management information circular may be viewed on the
Corporation’s website at www.cnrl.com and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com under the name Canadian Natural
Resources Limited. The Corporation’s filings with the SEC including its annual financial statements, annual MD&A
and AIF on Form 40-F can also be accessed on EDGAR at www.sec.gov.

Paper copies of the Corporation’s financial statements and MD&A, AIF, Form 40-F, management information
circular, corporate governance guidelines, committee charters or ethics policy can also be obtained from the
Corporation free of charge by contacting:

Corporate Secretary of the Corporation at:
2500, 855 - 2"¢ Street S. W.
Calgary, Alberta T2P 4J8
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II. INFORMATION ON ITEMS TO BE ACTED UPON

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

This Information Circular (the “Circular”) is furnished in connection with THE SOLICITATION OF PROXIES
BY THE MANAGEMENT OF CANADIAN NATURAL RESOURCES LIMITED (the “Corporation”) for use at the
Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Corporation to be held at the Metropolitan Centre,
333 - 4™ Avenue S. W. in the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, Canada, on Thursday May 7, 2009 at
3:00 o’clock in the afternoon (MDT) (the “Meeting”) and at any adjournments thereof, for the purposes set forth in
the accompanying Notice of Meeting. The solicitation of proxies will be primarily by mail, but may also be by
telephone, telegraph or oral communications by the directors, officers and regular employees of the Corporation, at
no additional compensation. The costs of preparation and mailing of the Notice of Meeting, Instrument of Proxy and
this Information Circular as well as any such solicitation referred to above will be paid by the Corporation. Except as
otherwise stated, the information contained herein is given as of March 18, 2009.

APPOINTMENT OF PROXY AND DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY

A SHAREHOLDER HAS THE RIGHT TO DESIGNATE A PERSON OR COMPANY (WHO NEED NOT BE A
SHAREHOLDER OF THE CORPORATION) OTHER THAN ALLAN P. MARKIN AND JOHN G. LANGILLE, THE
MANAGEMENT DESIGNEES, TO ATTEND AND ACT FOR HIM AT THE MEETING. SUCH RIGHT MAY BE
EXERCISED BY INSERTING IN THE BLANK SPACE PROVIDED THE NAME OF THE PERSON OR COMPANY
TO BE DESIGNATED AND DELETING THEREFROM THE NAMES OF THE MANAGEMENT DESIGNEES OR
BY COMPLETING ANOTHER PROPER INSTRUMENT OF PROXY and, in either case, depositing the resulting
instrument of proxy at Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 9" Floor, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada M5J 2Y1 at least 24 hours before the Meeting for which it is to be used. The instrument appointing a proxy
shall be in writing and shall be executed by the shareholder or his attorney authorized in writing or, if the shareholder
is a corporation, under its corporate seal or by an officer or attorney thereof duly authorized.

ALL SHARES REPRESENTED AT THE MEETING BY PROPERLY EXECUTED PROXIES WILL BE VOTED
OR WITHHELD FROM VOTING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS ON
ANY BALLOT THAT MAY BE CALLED FOR AND WHERE A CHOICE WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTER TO BE
ACTED UPON HAS BEEN SPECIFIED IN THE INSTRUMENT OF PROXY, THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY
THE PROXY WILL BE VOTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUCH SPECIFICATION. IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY
SUCH SPECIFICATIONS, THE MANAGEMENT DESIGNEES, IF NAMED AS PROXY, WILL VOTE IN FAVOUR
OF ALL THE MATTERS SET OUT THEREIN. IF A SHAREHOLDER APPOINTS A PERSON DESIGNATED IN
THE FORM OF PROXY OR NOMINEE AND WHERE A CHOICE WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTERS TO BE
ACTED UPON HAS NOT BEEN SPECIFIED, THE PROXY WILL BE VOTED IN FAVOUR OF ALL THE MATTERS
SET OUT THEREIN.

THE ENCLOSED FORM OF PROXY, WHEN PROPERLY SIGNED, ALSO CONFERS DISCRETIONARY
AUTHORITY UPON THE PERSONS NAMED THEREIN WITH RESPECT TO AMENDMENTS OR VARIATIONS
TO MATTERS IDENTIFIED IN THE NOTICE OF MEETING AND WITH RESPECT TO OTHER MATTERS
WHICH MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING, OR AT ANY ADJOURNMENT THEREOF. THE
MANAGEMENT OF THE CORPORATION DOES NOT KNOW OF ANY MATTERS WHICH MAY BE PRESENTED
AT THE MEETING, OTHER THAN THE MATTERS SET FORTH IN THE NOTICE BUT IF THE OTHER
MATTERS OR AMENDMENTS OR VARIATIONS DO PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING, IT IS THE
INTENTION OF THE PERSONS NAMED IN THE ENCLOSED FORM OF PROXY TO VOTE SUCH PROXY
ACCORDING TO THEIR BEST JUDGEMENT.

REVOCATION OF PROXIES

A shareholder or intermediary who has given a proxy, or his attorney authorized in writing, may revoke it as to any
matter upon which a vote has not already been cast pursuant to the authority conferred by the proxy, by instrument in
writing executed by the shareholder or his attorney authorized in writing, or, if the shareholder is a corporation, under
its corporate seal or by an officer or attorney thereof duly authorized in writing, and deposited either at the registered
office of the Corporation or the office of Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 9" Floor, 100 University Avenue,
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 2Y1 at any time up to and including the last business day preceding the day of the
Meeting or any adjournment thereof at which the proxy is to be used, or deposited with the Chair of such Meeting on
the day of the Meeting or adjournment thereof, or by executing a proxy bearing a later date and depositing the new
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proxy at the office of Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 9" Floor, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada M5J 2Y1 at any time up to and including the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting or any
adjournment thereof at which the proxy is to be used, or with the Chair of such Meeting on the day of the Meeting or
any adjournment thereof. In addition, a proxy may be revoked by the shareholder personally attending at the Meeting
and voting his shares.

BENEFICIAL HOLDER OF SHARES

The information set forth in this section is of significant importance to many shareholders of the Corporation, as a
substantial number of the shareholders do not hold Common Shares in their own name. Shareholders who do not hold
their Common Shares in their own name (referred to in this Information Circular as “Beneficial Shareholders”)
should note that only proxies deposited by shareholders whose names appear on the records of the Corporation as the
registered holders of Common Shares can be recognized and acted upon at the Meeting. If Common Shares are listed in
an account statement provided to a shareholder by a broker, then in almost all cases those Common Shares will more
likely be registered under the name of the broker or an agent of a broker. In Canada, the vast majority of such shares
are registered under the name of CDS & Co., (the registration name for The Canadian Depositary for Securities, which
acts as nominee for many Canadian brokerage firms). Common Shares held by brokers or their nominees can only be
voted upon the instructions of the Beneficial Shareholders. Without specific instructions, brokers/nominees are
prohibited from voting Common Shares for their clients. The Corporation does not know for whose benefit the Common
Shares registered in the name of CDS & Co. are held. Therefore, Beneficial Shareholders cannot be recognized at the
Meeting for purposes of voting the Common Shares in person or by way of proxy, except as set out below.

Applicable regulatory policy requires intermediaries/brokers to seek voting instructions from Beneficial
Shareholders in advance of meetings. Every intermediary/broker has its own mailing procedures and provides its own
return instructions, which should be carefully followed by Beneficial Shareholders in order to ensure that the Common
Shares are voted at the Meeting. Often, the form of proxy supplied to a Beneficial Shareholder by its broker is identical
to that provided to registered shareholders. However, its purpose is limited to instructing the registered shareholder
how to vote on behalf of the Beneficial Shareholder. The majority of brokers now delegate responsibility for obtaining
instructions from clients to Broadridge. Broadridge typically mails a scannable Voting Instruction Form in lieu of the
form of proxy. The Beneficial Shareholder is asked to complete and return the Voting Instruction Form to them by mail
or facsimile. Alternatively, the Beneficial Shareholder can call a toll-free number to vote the Shares held by the
Beneficial Shareholder. Broadridge then tabulates the results of all instructions received and provides appropriate
instructions respecting the voting of Common Shares to be represented at the Meeting. A Beneficial Shareholder
receiving a Voting Instruction Form cannot use that Voting Instruction Form to vote Common Shares directly at the
Meeting as the Voting Instruction Form must be returned as directed by Broadridge well in advance of the Meeting in
order to have the Common Shares voted.

If you are a Beneficial Shareholder and wish to vote in person at the Meeting, please contact your broker or agent
well in advance of the Meeting to determine how you can do so.

VOTING SHARES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF

March 18, 2009 is the record date for determination of Common Shares of the Corporation entitled to notice of
and to vote at the Meeting, provided that to the extent a shareholder transfers the ownership of any of his shares after
the record date and the transferee of those shares establishes that he owns such shares and requests not later than
5 days before the Meeting that his name be included on the shareholders’ list, such transferee is entitled to vote such
shares at the Meeting.

As at March 18, 2009 the Corporation has 541,900,326 voting securities outstanding as fully paid and
non-assessable Common Shares without par value, each share carrying the right to one vote.

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Corporation no person or company beneficially owns, or
controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all
voting securities of the Corporation.
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The affairs of the Corporation are managed by a Board of Directors who are elected annually at each Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders and hold office until the next Annual General Meeting, or until their successors are
duly elected or appointed or until a director vacates the office or is replaced in accordance with the Articles and
By-laws of the Corporation. The Corporation has an Audit Committee, which is comprised of Ms. C. M. Best as Chair,
Messrs. G. D. Giffin, G. A. Filmon and D. A. Tuer. The Corporation does not have an Executive Committee.

The following table sets forth the name of each of the persons proposed to be nominated for election as a
director (the “Nominee”); the Nominee’s principal occupation at present and within the preceding five (5) years; all
positions and offices in the Corporation held by the Nominee; other directorships held by the Nominee; the date the
Nominee was first elected, or appointed a director; and the number and market value of the Common Shares of the
Corporation that the Nominee has advised are beneficially owned or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by
the Nominee as of March 18, 2009 and in the case of director nominees who are members of management, the number
of stock options that have been granted to them and have not been exercised. In accordance with the Corporation’s
majority voting policy, any Nominee in an uncontested election who receives a greater number of shares withheld than
shares voted in favour of their appointment must tender their resignation to the Board for Board consideration and to
take effect upon acceptance of the resignation by the Board.

Catherine M. Best, FCA Ms. C.M. Best has been Interim Chief Financial Officer of Alberta Health
(age 55) Services since 2008 when the Alberta government consolidated all of the health
Calgary, Alberta regions of the province under one board. Prior to that Ms. C.M. Best was
Canada Executive Vice-President, Risk Management and Chief Financial Officer of
Director since November 2003 | Calgary Health Region from 2000. The Calgary Health Region was one of the
Independent largest fully integrated, publicly-funded health care systems in Canada and

serves a region of over 1.2 million people with integrated health care services
including hospital care, community health, mental health, public health, and
long-term health. Prior to 2000 she was with Ernst & Young, a firm of chartered
accountants where she served as a staff member and manager from 1980 to
1991, and was Corporate Audit Partner from 1991 to 2000.

She holds a Bachelor of Interior Design degree from the University of
Manitoba. Ms. C.M. Best is a Chartered Accountant and was awarded her FCA
designation in 2005.

Ms. C.M. Best currently serves on the board of directors of Enbridge Income
Fund and Superior Plus Income Fund and is a volunteer member of the Audit
Committee of the Calgary Exhibition and Stampede.

Committee Memberships Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Audit (Chair) Common Shares —

Compensation 8,744/$428,893
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N. Murray Edwards

(age 49)

Calgary/Banff, Alberta
Canada

Vice-Chairman of the Board
Director since September 1988
Non-independent
(Management)

Mr. N.M. Edwards is owner and President, Edco Financial Holdings Ltd. a
private management and consulting company. He has been a major contributor
to the success and growth of the Corporation since becoming a Director and
significant shareholder in 1988. Prior thereto he was a partner of the law
firm Burnet, Duckworth and Palmer in Calgary. He holds a Bachelor of
Commerce degree (Great Distinction) from the University of Saskatchewan
and a Bachelor of Laws degree (Honours) from the University of Toronto.

Mr. N.M. Edwards is a member of the Canadian Council of Chief Executives
and is on the Board of Directors of the Banff Centre, the Canada West
Foundation and the C. D. Howe Institute and is Chairman of and serving on the
board of directors of both Ensign Energy Services Inc. and Magellan Aerospace
Corporation, both publicly traded companies.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Common Shares —
10,924,622/$535,852,709
Stock Options — 1,125,000

Reserves

Honourable Gary A. Filmon
PC., O.M. (age 66)
Winnipeg, Manitoba

Canada

Director since February 2006
Independent

The Honourable G.A. Filmon is a consultant with The Exchange Group since
2000, the largest business consulting firm in Manitoba and based in Winnipeg,
offering business solutions and services such as accounting, taxation,
management consulting and risk management. Prior thereto he was a consulting
engineer for five years and President of Success/Angus Commercial College for
eleven years. He served in public office for over 20 years becoming Premier of
Manitoba in 1988 until 1999; retiring from public office in 2000. He has
received numerous community achievement awards. Mr. G.A. Filmon holds
both a Masters and Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering from the
University of Manitoba.

Mr. G.A. Filmon currently serves on the board of directors of MTS
Allstream Inc., Arctic Glacier Income Trust, Exchange Industrial Income Fund,
Wellington West Capital Inc. and, FWS Construction Inc. and serves as Chair of
Canada’s Security and Intelligence Review Committee.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Common Shares —
7,000/$343,350

Audit
Nominating and Corporate Governance

Ambassador Gordon D. Giffin
(age 59)

Atlanta, Georgia

USA.

Director since May 2002
Independent

Ambassador G.D. Giffin has been a Senior Partner with McKenna Long &
Aldridge LLP a law firm based in Atlanta, Georgia with offices in Washington,
D.C. since 2001. Prior thereto he was the United States Ambassador to Canada
from 1997 to 2001 after a career spanning 20 years engaged in the private
practice of business and regulatory law. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
from Duke University and a J.D. from Emory University School of Law.

Ambassador G.D. Giffin is currently serving on the board of directors of
Canadian National Railway Company; Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce;
Ontario Energy Savings Corp. and Transalta Corporation.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Audit Common Shares —
Nominating and Corporate Governance | 17,428/$854,843
(Chair)
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John G. Langille

(age 63)

Calgary, Alberta

Canada

Vice-Chairman of the Board
Director since June 1982
Non-independent
(Management)

Mr. J.G. Langille has been Vice-Chairman of the Corporation since 2005. He
joined the Corporation in 1976 as Treasurer and became Vice-President of
Finance of the Corporation in 1978 until 1985 when he was appointed President
of the Corporation, a position he held until 2005. As a long term employee
of the Corporation he also has been a major contributor to the success and
growth of the Corporation. Mr. J.G. Langille is a Chartered Accountant and
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Calgary.

Mr. J.G. Langille is a director of the Calgary Olympic Development Association
but does not hold any other public company board memberships.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

None held Common Shares —
876,454/$42,990,069

Stock Options — 261,000

Steve W. Laut

(age 51)

Calgary, Alberta

Canada

President and Chief Operating
Officer

Director since August 2006
Non-independent
(Management)

Mr. SW. Laut has been President and Chief Operating Officer of the
Corporation since 2005. Prior thereto, he joined the Corporation as Senior
Exploitation Engineer in 1991 and was appointed Vice-President, Operations in
1996. He was appointed Executive Vice-President, Operations in 2001 and most
recently as Chief Operating Officer in 2003. He has been instrumental in
contributing to the Corporation’s growth and success during his tenure.
Mr. S.W. Laut holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering
from the University of Calgary and is a member of the Association of
Professional Engineers, Geologists and Geophysicists of Alberta (“APEGGA”).

Mr. S.W. Laut does not hold any other public company board memberships.

Securities heid/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Common Shares —
758,447/$37,201,825
Stock Options — 925,000

None held

Keith A.J. MacPhail

(age 52)

Calgary, Alberta

Canada

Director since October 1993
Non-independent
(Brother-in-law to Chairman of
the Board)

Mr. K.A.J. MacPhail has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Bonavista Energy Trust since 1997 and Chairman of NuVista Energy Ltd. a
crude oil and natural gas exploration, development and production company in
Canada since 2003. Prior thereto he was Executive Vice-President and Chief
Operating Officer of the Corporation until 1997 when he left to create
Bonavista Petroleum Limited, a publicly traded oil and natural gas exploration
company that later was converted into an income trust under the name
Bonavista Energy Trust. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum
Engineering from the Montana College of Mineral Science and a Diploma in
Petroleum Engineering Technology from the Southern Alberta Institute of
Technology and is a member of the Association of Professional Engineers,
Geologists and Geophysicists of Alberta (“APEGGA”).

Mr. K.A.J. MacPhail is currently serving on the board of directors of Bonavista
Energy Trust and NuVista Energy Ltd.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Common Shares —
187,794/$9,211,296

Health, Safety and Environmental
Reserves
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Allan P. Markin O.C.

(age 63)

Calgary, Alberta

Canada

Chairman of the Board
Director since January 1989
Non-independent
(Management)

Mr. A.P. Markin has been Chairman of the Board of the Corporation since
1989. In that time he has made a substantial contribution to the growth and
success of the Corporation as a Director and significant shareholder.
Mr. Markin has nearly forty years of experience in the oil and gas industry
acquired with such companies as Amoco Petroleum, Merland Exploration Ltd.
and Poco Petroleum Limited, where he served as President and Chief Executive
Officer. During his distinguished career, Mr. A.P. Markin has been the recipient
of honorary degrees of Doctor of Law from the University of Alberta, the
University of Calgary, and the University of Lethbridge and received the Order
of Canada in 2008. He is one of the founders, as well as the first Honorary
Fellow, of St. Mary’s University College, Calgary as well as the recipient of the
Calgary Citizen of the Year Award and the Alberta Centennial Award.
Mr. A.P. Markin holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering
from the University of Alberta.

Mr. A.P. Markin does not hold any other public company board memberships.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Common Shares —
7,191,072/$352,722,081
Stock Options — 792,000

Health, Safety and Environmental

Honourable Frank J.
McKenna,

PC, O.C, O.N.B, Q.C.
(age 61)

Cap Pelé, New Brunswick
Canada

Director since August 2006
Independent

Mr. EJ. McKenna is the Deputy Chair of TD Bank Financial Group. Prior to
this, he served as Canadian Ambassador to the United States from 2005 to
2006, Counsel to Atlantic Canada law firm McInnes Cooper from 1998 to 2005,
and Premier of New Brunswick from 1987 to 1997. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from St. Francis Xavier University and a Bachelor of Laws degree from
the University of New Brunswick. He received the Order of Canada in 2008.

Mr. EJ. McKenna is currently serving on the board of directors of Brookfield
Asset Management Inc.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Common Shares —
8,000/$392,400

Compensation
Nominating and Corporate Governance

James S. Palmer, C.M.,
A.OE, QC.

(age 80)

Calgary, Alberta
Canada

Director since May 1997
Independent

Mr. J.S. Palmer is Chairman and a Partner of Burnet, Duckworth &
Palmer LLP a Canadian law firm with offices in Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
Mr. J.S. Palmer has led a very distinguished legal career and is still active in the
practice of law. He has been the recipient of several Doctor of Laws
honorariums and numerous awards for service in the community receiving the
Alberta Order of Excellence in 2003 and became a Member of the Order of
Canada in 1998. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from McGill University
and a Bachelor of Laws degree from Dalhousie University.

Mr. 1.S. Palmer is currently serving on the board of directors of Magellan
Aerospace Corporation and is a Director Emeritus of Frontier Oil Corporation.
He has held a number of other directorships in the past and is a former
Chairman of Telus Corporation.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Common Shares —
168,808/$8,280,032

Compensation (Chair)
Health, Safety and Environmental
Reserves
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(age 69)

Calgary, Alberta
Canada

Director since May 1997
Independent

Eldon R. Smith, O.C., M.D.

Dr. E.R. Smith has been President of Eldon R. Smith & Associates Ltd. since
2001, a healthcare consulting company providing consulting services to the
health industry, governments, regional health authorities, hospitals and faculties
of medicine in Canada and internationally. Prior thereto he was Professor of
Medicine and Former Dean, Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary from
1980 until his retirement in 2004. He is a Fellow in several health professional
organizations including the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of
Canada; the American Heart Associations; the Canadian Academy of Health
Sciences, the International Academy of Cardiovascular Sciences and is a Life
Member of the Canadian and Alberta Medical Associations. Dr. E.R. Smith is
also an Officer of the Order of Canada and holds a Doctor of Medicine degree
from Dalhousie University.

Dr. E.R. Smith is currently serving on the board of directors of Vasogen Inc,;
Aston Hill Financial; and Ventripoint Diagnostics Inc.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Compensation Common Shares —
Health Safety and Environmental 38,952/$1,910,596
(Chair)

David A. Tuer

(age 59)

Calgary, Alberta
Canada

Director since May 2002
Independent

Mr. D.A. Tuer is Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Marble Point
Energy Ltd. a private oil and gas exploration company. He was Chairman of the
Calgary Health Region, a position he held from 2001 to 2008 when the Alberta
government consolidated all of the provincial health regions under one
authority, Alberta Health Services. He was Executive Vice-Chairman, BA
Energy Inc. from 2005 until 2008 when it was acquired by its parent company
Value Creations Inc. through a Plan of Arrangement and which until recently
was engaged in the development, building and operations of a merchant heavy
oil upgrader in Northern Alberta for the purpose of upgrading bitumen and
heavy oil feedstock into high-quality crude oils. Prior thereto he was President
and Chief Executive Officer of PanCanadian Petroleum Inc. from 1994 to 2001
and President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of Hawker Resources Inc.
from 2003 to 2005. Mr. D.A. Tuer holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of Calgary.

Mr. D.A. Tuer currently serves on the board of directors of Daylight Resources
Trust; Xtreme Coil Drilling Corp.; Canadian Phoenix Resources and, Altalink
Management LLP, a private limited partnership.

Securities held/market value of
Common Shares

Committee Memberships

Audit Common Shares —
Nominating and Corporate Governance | 22,754/$1,116,084
Reserves (Chair)

Mr. N.M. Edwards previously was a director of Imperial Metals Limited, a corporation engaged in both oil and
gas and mining operations, in the year prior to that corporation implementing a plan of arrangement under the
Company Act (British Columbia) and under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) which resulted in the
separation of its two businesses. The reorganization resulted in the creation of two public corporations, Imperial
Metals Corporation and IEI Energy Inc. (which became Rider Resources Ltd. and which in 2008 merged with NuVista
Energy Ltd.) all of which traded or trades on TSX. Mr. FJ. McKenna was a director of Alphanet Telecom Inc. which
was assigned into bankruptcy February 8, 1999. Dr. E.R. Smith was a director of BioMax Technologies Inc. which was
subject to a cease trade order for failure to file financial statements. Subsequent to the resignation of Dr. E.R. Smith
from the Board of Biomax, the company was delisted but continues as a solvent private company.
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APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

The Board of Directors of the Corporation upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors has selected the firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) to be nominated at the Meeting for
re-appointment as the Corporation’s independent auditors for the ensuing year at remuneration to be fixed by the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Before PwC was recommended for appointment the Audit Committee
met with management and PwC to review and discuss the proposed fiscal year 2009 audit and non-audit services to be
rendered, the relationship of PwC with the Audit Committee, and, the independence of PwC. The Corporation’s
independent auditor since its inception has been PwC. The Corporation has been advised by PwC that it is the policy
of PwC to rotate the senior audit partner for the Corporation at least once every five years. The current senior audit
partner for the Corporation has been the senior audit partner for the Corporation for two years.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors in 2008 approved specified audit and non-audit services to be
performed by PwC. The services provided include: (i) the annual audit of the Corporation’s December 31, 2008
consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Information Form and Form 40-F, reviews of the
Corporation’s quarterly unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements, audits of certain of the Corporation’s
subsidiary companies’ annual financial statements as well as other audit services provided in connection with statutory
and regulatory filings; (ii) audit related services related to debt covenant compliance, Crown Royalty Statements and
services related to internal control reviews and assistance with section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, relating
to internal control reporting requirements; (iii) tax related services related to expatriate personal tax and compliance
as well as other corporate tax return matters; and (iv) non-audit services related to accessing resource materials
through PwC’s accounting literature library.

Fees Accrued to Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Services Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007
AUIt . o o e e e e e e $2,685,800 $2,729,315
Audit Related . . .. .o e e e e e e e e e e e 156,300 164,000
Tax Related . . . . . o o e e e e e e e e 91,500 154,459
(@ 1+ 7= o 9,500 9,440
Total Accrued Fees . ..o ittt i it i it et e it e e e e e $2,943,100 $3,057,214

Additional disclosure regarding the Audit Committee and its members is contained in the Corporation’s Annual
Information Form under Audit Committee Information.

OTHER MATTERS

Management is not aware of any matters to come before the Meeting other than those set forth in the Notice of
Meeting. If other matters properly come before the Meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the form of
proxy to vote the same in accordance with their best judgement in such matters.

APPROVAL OF CIRCULAR

The contents and sending of this Information Circular has been approved in substance by the Board of Directors
of the Corporation.

DATED at Calgary, Alberta, this 18™ day of March 2009.
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SCHEDULE “A” TO INFORMATION CIRCULAR DATED MARCH 18, 2009

CANADIAN NATURAL RESOURCES LIMITED
(the “Corporation”)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Corporation has adopted the following Corporate Governance
Guidelines (the “Guidelines™) to assist the Board in meeting its responsibilities. These Guidelines reflect the Board’s
commitment to monitor the effectiveness of policy and decision making both at the Board and management level, with
a view to enhancing long-term shareholder value. The Board requires the directors, officers and employees of the
Corporation to comply with all legal and regulatory requirements and encourages them to adhere to the highest
ethical standards in the performance of their duties.

Directors must perform their duties, keeping in mind their fiduciary duty to the shareholders and the
Corporation. That duty includes the obligation to ensure that the Corporation’s disclosures contain accurate
information that fairly presents the Corporation and its operations to shareholders and the public in conformity with
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the stewardship of the Corporation and overseeing the business and affairs of the
Corporation. In executing this role, the Board shall oversee the conduct, direction and results of the business. In turn,
management is mandated to conduct the day-to-day business and affairs of the Corporation and is responsible for
implementing the Board’s strategies, goals and directions. The Board and its members shall at all times act in the best
interest of the Corporation and its actions shall reflect its responsibility of establishing proper business practices and
high ethical standards expected of the Corporation.

In discharging the Board’s stewardship obligations, the Board assumes responsibility for the following matters:

1. adoption of a strategic planning process and approval of a strategic plan which takes into account, among
other things, the opportunities and risks of the business;

2. the identification of the principal risks of the Corporation’s business and ensuring the implementation of
appropriate systems to manage these risks;

3. succession planning; including appointing, training and monitoring senior management;
4. a communication and disclosure policy for the Corporation; and,
5. the integrity of the Corporation’s internal control and management information systems.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
Criteria for Board of Directors

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, comprised entirely of Directors who qualify as
independent directors under the requirements of the regulatory bodies to which the Corporation is subject to
(“Independent Directors”), is responsible for identifying, screening and recommending director nominations for
appointment as members of the Board. The Board, however, will ultimately be responsible for nominating for
appointment new directors and for the selection of its Chair.

The Board requires that a majority of the Board qualify as Independent Directors. Nominees for director are
selected on the basis of, among other things, broad perspective, integrity, independence of judgment, experience,
expertise, diversity, ability to make independent analytical inquiries, understanding of the Corporation’s business
environment and willingness to devote adequate time and effort to Board responsibilities.

Election of Directors by Shareholders

Election of director nominees by shareholders in an uncontested election shall be by majority vote. A director
nominee who receives less than 50% of the votes cast in favour of the election of the director nominee shall forthwith
submit to the Board, his or her resignation, to take effect upon acceptance by the Board. The Board shall exercise
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discretion in considering the resignation of the director nominee and if it is deemed to be in the best interests of the
Corporation and the shareholders and, absent any extenuating circumstances deemed by the Board to exist, the Board
shall accept such resignation within 90 days of having received the resignation of the director nominee.

Independence

As stated previously, the Board shall be comprised of a majority of Independent Directors. For a director to be
independent, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board must affirmatively determine that
an individual is independent, taking into account any applicable regulatory requirements and such other factors as the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and Board may deem appropriate; provided, however, that there
shall be a three (3) year period during which they shall not be deemed independent, for the following individuals;
(i) former employees of the Corporation, or of its independent auditor; (ii) former employees of any company whose
compensation committee includes an officer of the Corporation; and (iii) immediate family members of the
individuals specified in (i) and (ii) above. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board will
review annually the relationship that each director has with the Corporation (either directly; or as a partner,
shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Corporation). Following this review, only
those Directors who the Board and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee affirmatively determine
meet any applicable regulatory independence requirements and have no material relationship with the Corporation
will be considered Independent Directors. The basis for any determination that a relationship is not material will be
published in the Corporation’s annual proxy information circular.

Directors have an obligation to inform the Board of any material changes in their circumstances or relationships
that may impact their designation by the Board as “independent”.

Size of the Board

The Articles of the Corporation provide that the Board will have not less than three (3) or more than fifteen
(15) members. The Board will fix the exact number of directors at any time after considering the recommendation of
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The size of the Board should enable its members to
effectively and responsibly discharge their responsibilities to the Corporation.

Other Company Directorships

The Corporation does not have a policy limiting the number of other company boards of directors upon which a
Director may sit. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall consider the number of other company
boards or comparable governing bodies on which a prospective nominee is a member.

Directors are expected to advise the Chair of the Board and the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee in advance of accepting any other company directorships or any assignment to the audit
committee or compensation committee of the Board of Directors of any other company.

Term Limits

The Board does not favour the concept of mandatory term limits. The Board believes term limits have the
disadvantage of losing the contribution of Directors who have been able to develop, over a period of time, increasing
insight into the Corporation and its operations and therefore provide an increasing contribution to the Board as
a whole.

Retirement Policy

Under the Board’s retirement policy Directors will not stand for re-election after reaching the age of 75, subject
to grandfathering any current directors, currently over the age 75 on March 2, 2007, that being the date this retirement
policy was adopted by the Board. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has the responsibility to
evaluate annually the qualifications of each Director.

35



DIRECTOR RESPONSIBILITIES

Each Director shall have the responsibility to exercise his or her business judgment in good faith and in a manner
that he or she reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Corporation. A Director is expected to spend the
time and effort necessary to properly discharge such Director’s responsibilities. Accordingly, a Director is expected to
regularly attend meetings of the Board and committees on which such Director sits (with the understanding that on
occasion a Director may be unable to attend a meeting) and to review in advance the meeting materials.

DIRECTOR ORIENTATION

New members of the Board shall be provided an orientation, which includes background information about the
Corporation’s business, current issues, corporate strategies, general information about the Board and Committees and
Director’s duties and responsibilities and meetings with key operations personnel. Each Director is expected to
participate in continuing educational programs in order to maintain the necessary level of expertise to perform his or
her responsibilities as a Director.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board has four (4) regularly scheduled meetings each year appropriately scheduled for the Board to meet its
responsibilities. In addition, unscheduled Board meetings may be called upon proper notice being given at any time to
address specific needs of the Corporation. One half (or where one half of the Directors is not a whole number, the
whole number which is closest to and less than one half) of the Directors then in office constitutes a quorum for Board
of Directors meetings.

The Chair of the Board and the Vice-Chair will establish the agenda for each Board meeting. Any member of the
Board may request that an item be included on the agenda and at any Board meeting raise subjects that are not on the
agenda for that meeting.

At the invitation of the Board, members of senior management and independent advisors recommended by the
Chair a Vice-Chair or the President and Chief Operating Officer attend Board meetings or portions thereof for the
purpose of participating in discussions thereby providing certain expertise and/or insight into items that may be open
for discussion. The Corporate Secretary attends all Board meetings except where there is a specific reason for the
Corporate Secretary to be excluded.

Materials for the review, discussion, and/or action of the Board are, to the extent practicable, to be distributed
sufficiently in advance of meetings, thereby allowing time for review prior to the meeting. It is recognized that in
certain circumstances written materials may not be available in advance of the meeting.

At every Board meeting, immediately following the termination of each regularly scheduled Board meeting, the
Independent Directors shall meet in executive session without the presence of management to discuss whatever topics
it believes are appropriate. These meetings will be chaired by the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee. Additional executive sessions may be scheduled from time to time as determined by a majority of the
Independent Directors in consultation with the Chair of the Board and Chair of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has five (5) standing committees:

Audit Committee;
Compensation Committee;

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee;

Reserves Committee; and

A A A

Health, Safety and Environmental Committee

The purpose and responsibilities for each of these committees are outlined in committee charters adopted by
the Board.
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The Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee shall each be comprised entirely of Independent Directors. The Reserves Committee and the Health,
Safety and Environmental Committee shall be comprised of a majority of Independent Directors. The Chair of each of
the Reserves Committee and the Health, Safety and Environmental Committee shall be an Independent Director.

Appointment of directors to standing committees shall be the responsibility of the Board, having received the
recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, based upon consultations with the
members of the Board and the Chair.

The Board may constitute additional standing committees or special committees with special mandates as may be
required or appropriate from time to time.

The Chair of each committee will determine the agenda, frequency and length of the committee meetings
consistent with any requirements set forth in the committee’s charter.

BOARD EVALUATION

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will sponsor an annual self-assessment of the Board’s
performance as well as the performance of each committee of the Board, the results of which will be discussed with
the full Board and each committee. In preparing these assessments, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee, circulates to each Director a questionnaire through which each Director can provide input. The
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will also utilize the results of this self-evaluation process in
assessing and determining the characteristics and critical skills required of prospective candidates for appointment to
the Board and making recommendations to the Board with respect to assignments of Board members to various
committees.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Senior management of the Corporation shall report periodically to the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee on the status of the Corporation’s Director compensation practices in relation to the other companies of
comparable size and within the industry. The Corporation believes in a mix of both cash and stock based
compensation. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will recommend any changes in Director
compensation to the Board for approval.

Director’s fees are the only compensation an Audit Committee member may receive from the Corporation.

SHARE OWNERSHIP

Directors are required to acquire and hold Common Shares of the Corporation with a minimum aggregate
market value of three times the annual retainer fee paid to directors within five (5) years from the date of their
appointment as a director of the Corporation.

Directors are required to confirm annually for the Corporation’s Information Circular their share ownership
position and that such position is their beneficial and legal ownership position and has not been hedged or
otherwise sold.

EVALUATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior management is responsible for the day to day operation of the Corporation. Operations are to be
conducted in a manner, which reflects the standards established by the Board, and with the goal of implementing and
fulfilling the policies, strategies and goals established by the Board. The Board shall determine the specific or general
terms and levels of authority for senior management as it may consider advisable from time to time.

The Corporation does not have a CEO designation. This role is delegated by the Board to the senior
management of the Corporation including the Chair of the Board, the Vice-Chair of the Board, the President and the
Chief Operating Officer. The Board establishes annual corporate objectives which senior management is responsible
for meeting and assesses senior management’s performance annually. This evaluation is based upon objective criteria
previously authorized by the Board including consideration of the performance of the business of the Corporation,
accomplishment of short and long term strategic objectives, material business accomplishments and development of
management. The evaluation is used by the Compensation Committee, as part of a formal process of considering
compensation of senior management with reference to the performance in meeting the corporate objectives.
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The President and Chief Operating Officer reports to the Compensation Committee annually with respect to
senior management succession issues and the status of the Corporation’s on-going program for management
development.

DIRECTOR ACCESS TO MANAGEMENT, EMPLOYEES AND ADVISORS

Each Director may consult with any manager or employee of the Corporation or with any independent advisor to
the Corporation at any time.

In appropriate circumstances, the committees of the Board are authorized to engage independent advisors as may
be necessary in the circumstances.

In discharging his or her obligations, an individual director may engage outside advisors, at the expense of the
Corporation, in appropriate circumstances.

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS

Management speaks for the Corporation and is responsible for communications with the press, analysts,
regulators, and other constituencies. From time to time members of the Board may be requested to communicate with
one or more of those constituencies. It is anticipated that such communication will be coordinated with the
Corporation’s management committee.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE BOARD

The Chair speaks on behalf of the Board. However, any shareholder or interested party who wishes to
communicate with the Board or any specific director, may contact the Board or such specific director at the head
office at the following address:

Canadian Natural Resources Limited
C/O Corporate Secretary

#2500, 855 - 27 St. S. W,

Calgary, Alberta

T2P 4)8

Depending on the subject matter, the Corporate Secretary will:
* Forward the communication to the director to whom it is addressed;

* Refer the inquiry to the appropriate corporate department if it is a matter that does not appear to require
direct attention by the Board or an individual director; or

* Not forward the communication if it is primarily commercial in nature or if it relates to an improper or
irrelevant topic.
CODE OF INTEGRITY, BUSINESS ETHICS AND CONDUCT

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will periodically assesses the Corporation’s Code of
Integrity, Business Ethics and Conduct policies to ensure it addresses appropriate topics and complies with the
appropriate regulatory bodies regulations and recommend any appropriate changes to the Board for approval. The
Board must approve any waiver of the code for any member of senior management or Directors. Any waiver must be
disclosed in accordance with relevant regulatory requirements.

MODIFICATIONS TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will annually review these Corporate Governance
Guidelines and recommend any appropriate changes to the Board for approval.
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